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Forward looking information 

All references made in the three reports to forward 
looking information and targets including capital 
investments, volumes, operational efficiencies, human 
capital as well as safety, health and environment have 
been extracted from the Board of Directors approved 
2012/13 Corporate plan.



Approval of the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Directors’ responsibilities
The Board of Directors (Board or the Directors) is required, by the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 of South 
Africa (Companies Act), and the Public Finance Management Act No 1, 1999, of South Africa (PFMA), to 
prepare annual financial statements which fairly present the state of affairs of Transnet SOC Ltd (Transnet or 
the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at the end of the year, the profit or loss and cash flows of the 
Company and the Group for the year then ended.

In preparing these annual financial statements, the Directors are required to:

 
presume that the Company and/or the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the maintenance of adequate accounting records, 
maintenance of appropriate systems of internal control as well as the preparation and integrity of the annual 
financial statements and related information. The annual financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the Companies Act and the PFMA.

Directors’ statements
The Audit Committee has evaluated the Group’s annual financial statements and has recommended  
their approval to the Board. In preparing the Company and Group annual financial statements, the Company  
and the Group have complied with IFRS and the Companies Act. In addition, the Group has complied with the 
reporting requirements of the PFMA, except as set out in the Report of Directors on page 22.

 
and estimates. Judgements and estimates made in the application of IFRS, that have a significant impact  
on the annual financial statements are disclosed in the accounting policies on page 40.

The Directors have every reason to believe that the Company and Group have adequate resources and  
facilities in place to be able to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. Therefore, the Directors are 

 
the annual financial statements.

The external auditors, Deloitte & Touche, are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the 
financial statements in conformity with International Standards of Auditing. Their unmodified audit report on 
the annual financial statements, prepared in terms of the Companies Act and the PFMA, appears on page 4.

Plan is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee annually. Transnet Internal Audit has executed the 
Internal Audit Plan during the year and has provided assurance to the Board as to the state of the internal 
controls of the Company.

Their assessment of the internal controls of the Company is included in the Audit Committee Report. The Audit 
Committee has reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and considers the systems 
appropriate for the effective operation of the Company.



The Directors are of the opinion that the Company and the Group have complied with applicable laws and 
regulations except as disclosed in the Report of the Directors as set out on page 22.

The Directors are of the opinion that these annual financial statements fairly present the financial position of 
the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2012, and the results of their operations and cash flow information 
for the year then ended.

The annual financial statements have been prepared under the supervision of the Group Chief Executive.

ME Mkwanazi  B Molefe A Singh
Chairman  Group Chief Executive Acting Chief Financial Officer

12 June 2012  12 June 2012 12 June 2012
Johannesburg  Johannesburg Johannesburg

Group Company Secretary certificate

the Company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns for the year ended 31 March 2012  
as are required of a public company in terms of this Act, and that all such returns are true, correct and up  
to date.

ANC Ceba
Group Company Secretary

12 June 2012
Johannesburg



Independent auditors’ report to Parliament on Transnet SOC Ltd
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Report on the consolidated financial statements 
Introduction

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Transnet SOC Ltd and its subsidiaries as 
set out on pages 14 to 155, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 
31 March 2012, and the consolidated and separate income statements, consolidated and separate statements of 
comprehensive income, consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and consolidated and 
separate statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising of summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information, the Report of the Directors and the Audit Committee 
Report.
The Accounting authority’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, Act No 1 of 
1999 (PFMA) and the Companies Act of South Africa, Act No 71 of 2008 (Companies Act) and for such internal 
control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 
separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, Act No 25 of 2004 (PAA), 
the General Notice in terms thereof and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from material misstatements.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our  
audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Transnet SOC Ltd and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2012, and their financial performance 
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the PFMA and the Companies Act.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
Public Audit Act Of South Africa (PAA) Requirements

In accordance with the PAA and the General Notice issued in terms thereof, we report the following findings 

internal control, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion.
Predetermined objectives

We performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the information included in 
the Shareholder’s Compact – Performance Criteria (Performance Information) in the Report of the Directors of 
Transnet SOC Ltd as set out on pages 24 to 28�of the annual financial statements. 

usefulness and reliability. The usefulness of information in the Performance Information relates to whether it is 
presented in accordance with the South African National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the 



whether indicators and targets are measurable (ie well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable and time bound) 
and relevant as required by the National Treasury Framework for Managing Programme Performance Information.

adequately reflects the facts (ie whether it is valid, accurate and complete).
There were no material findings from the audit of the Shareholder’s Compact – Performance Criteria (Performance 
Information) in the Report of the Directors concerning the usefulness and reliability of the information.
Compliance with laws and regulations

We performed procedures to obtain evidence that the entity has complied with applicable laws and regulations 

General Notice issued in 
terms of the PAA are as follows:

Expenditure management

51(1) (b) (ii) of the PFMA in respect of the following:

 –  Irregular expenditure of R40 million relates to amounts paid to employees for the Gain Share Incentive 

 –  A contract of R35 million awarded for security services without the approval of the required delegated 

without going through a tender process as per the requirements of section 51(a) of the PFMA of a 

 –  Irregular expenditure of R45 million relating to a contract for the supply of gas was condoned during the 

effective.

Internal control
We considered internal control relevant to our audit of the financial statements of Transnet SOC Ltd and 
compliance with laws and regulations. The matters reported below under the fundamentals of internal control  
are limited to the deficiencies that resulted in the findings on compliance with laws and regulations included in 
this report. 
Financial and performance management

The matters identified and reported under the ‘Compliance with laws and regulations’ section above, have arisen 

processes. The controls over these areas have been significantly strengthened since these matters occurred.

Deloitte & Touche

Per Thega Marriday
Partner

Registered Auditor

Deloitte Place, The Woodlands
20 Woodlands Drive, Woodmead
Johannesburg

12 June 2012

National Executive: LL Bam (Chief Executive), AE Swiegers (Chief Operating Officer), GM Pinnock (Audit), DL Kennedy (Risk Advisory),  
NB Kader (Tax), L Geeringh (Consulting & Clients & Industries), JK Mazzocco (Talent & Transformation), CR Beukman (Finance),  
M Jordan (Strategy), S Gwala (Black Business Initiative), TJ Brown (Chairman of the Board), MJ Comber (Deputy Chairman of the Board).

A full list of partners and directors are available on request.

B-BBEE rating: Level 2 contributor in terms of the Chartered Accountancy Profession Sector Code.

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.



Audit Committee report

This Audit Committee report is prepared as recommended by the King Code of Governance for South Africa  
and its Code of Governance Principles (King III) and Regulation 27 of the Treasury Regulations. The Audit 
Committee performs its duties in accordance with section 94(7) of the Companies Act and the PFMA.  
The terms of reference are set out in the Audit Committee mandate, which is approved by the Board and  
is continuously reviewed and updated for changes in legislation, business circumstances and corporate 
governance practices. The Audit Committee has conducted its affairs in accordance with the mandate and  
has discharged its responsibilities accordingly. 

The role of the Committee is: 

systems, control and reporting processes, and the preparation of accurate reporting and financial 

of the Committee or any other member of the Committee as is required in relation to any matter falling 

legislative requirements, including the statutory audit committee functions required for subsidiary 

the Board to ensure that the Committee operates at maximum effectiveness.

Composition of the Audit Committee 



alignment between these functions.

The Audit Committee held four scheduled meetings for the year ended 31 March 2012 and member attendance 
at these meetings is reflected in the Corporate Governance report on page 171. The Committee had four 

has a standing invitation to attend these meetings and representatives from his offices attended three 
meetings during the year. 

The Group Chief Executive, the Group Executive: Corporate Services, the Chief Financial Officer, the Head: 
Enterprise Information Management Services (EIMS), the Chief Audit Executive and other representatives from 
the Transnet Internal Audit function together with the external auditors are required to attend the meetings. 

The Internal auditors and the External auditors, are also afforded separate sessions with the Audit Committee 
without the presence of Management. 

Audit Committee governance structure 
The Audit Committee relies on a strong and well functioning governance structure to support its activities as 
depicted in the table overleaf. The Operating divisions have established governance structures to manage their 

considered to be significant by either management, the Internal auditors or External auditors are reported at 
various levels within the Company. 

This structure requires the appropriate ‘Tone at the Top’ to establish and reinforce the values and ethical 
standards of the Company. In addition, management has introduced numerous programmes to significantly 
improve the organisational culture as well as the maturity of the internal control environment and standard 

organisational performance in a sustainable manner.



An Operating division ICSC is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the financial and operational controls and 
facilitating the enhancement of Transnet’s control environment and for PFMA reporting. Attendees include: Operating 
division Chief Financial Officer, Group Head: Internal Control, members of Operating division Management and Transnet 
Internal Audit. Frequency: Monthly.

as set out in the corporate plan and to ensure effective and efficient execution of investigation, prevention and detection 
activities. Attendees include: Operating division executive committee members, Legal, Compliance, relevant Process 
Owners, Group Forensic Manager and Transnet Internal Audit. Frequency: Monthly.

 
the Group. Attendees: Chief Financial Officer, All Operating 
divisions’ Chief Financial Officers and members of Group 
Finance. Frequency: Monthly.

These Committees are constituted to assist the Group 
Audit Committee in discharging its duties relating to the 
safeguarding of assets and the evaluation of internal 

and to recommend the Operating division financial 
results to the Group Executive Committee. Attendees: 
Group Executive Committee members, Chief Financial 
Officer, Members of Group Finance, Transnet Internal 
Audit, External audit and Operating division executive 
committee members. Frequency: Biannually

The PFMA Forum reviews all items reported in terms 
of section 55 (2)b of the PFMA and provides guidance 
on any PFMA related items. Attendees include: 
Representatives from Group Finance, Legal, Compliance 
and Group Procurement. Frequency: Quarterly.

GICC is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of 
the financial and operational controls and facilitating 
the enhancement of Transnet’s control environment. 
Attendees: Chief Financial Officer, Members of Group 
Finance and Transnet Internal Audit. Frequency: Monthly.

Audit Committee

Group Executive Committee

Group Finance Committee (Finco) Operating division  
Audit sub-Committee

Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) Forum Group Internal Control Committee (GICC)

Operating division Internal Control Steering Committee (ICSC)

Operating division Forensic Working Group (FWG)

Audit Committee report (continued)



Summary of the main activities undertaken by the Audit Committee during the year

activities during the year: 

External audit 

 

 
1 April 2012.

Internal audit

functions, records, property and personnel.



General

 
and other assets and the adequacy of provisions including environmental provisions and decommissioning 

year included:

 –  the disclosure of sustainability issues in the Integrated report.

considered ICT as it relates to audit coverage and efficiency, financial reporting and the going concern of the 

Defined Benefit Pension Funds, and recommended the appropriate accounting treatment and disclosure in 
the 2011 Integrated report for adoption by the Board.

King III recommendations 
The Audit Committee’s corporate governance practices comply with the requirements of King III with  
respect to: 

In addition, the Board has delegated its responsibility for ICT governance to the Audit Committee to assist it in 
carrying out its responsibilities.

Audit Committee report (continued)



Internal control environment 
The financial control environment has remained effective during 
the period under review. 

The graph alongside depicts the improvement in financial process 
controls over the last five years. This is indicated by the 
increasing number of financial processes that were rated as 
satisfactory by Transnet Internal Audit after testing the 
operating effectiveness of financial controls. 

The increase in the number of findings that requires improvement 
compared to the prior year is due to the implementation of the 
new SAP HCM module (payroll), certain property, plant and 
equipment and inventory related findings.

The issues have received significant management attention since 
reported and sustainable solutions have been developed and are 
being implemented. Findings relating to items of property, plant 
and equipment will be mitigated by the implementation of the 

assessment.

The number of ineffective critical financial reporting controls,  
as depicted below has also improved over the period and the 

misstatement of reported financial information, fraud and error. 
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These ineffective controls are from a total population tested quarterly of approximately 
693 CFRCs across the Company.

These improvements have enabled the external auditors to adopt a control reliance 
approach across the Company, unless it was considered more efficient to perform 

Internal Audit. 



Based on the reviews executed by Transnet Internal Audit, their overall assessment of the effectiveness of the 

Risk and control component Process Assessment
Governance Financial Satisfactory

Operational Requires improvement
People Financial Satisfactory

Operational Requires improvement
Method and practices Financial Satisfactory

Operational Requires improvement

Although there has been an improvement in the effectiveness of operational controls, Management will 
continue to focus on this area in order to further improve these controls.

In the opinion of the Audit Committee, the internal controls of the Company are considered appropriate in 
terms of: 

Focus areas for the 2013 financial year
Going forward, in support of the MDS, emphasis will remain on operational internal controls, while continuing to 
improve the financial internal control environment.

The figure above depicts that enhanced focus will be required in the areas of control automation, compliance 

deterioration of the control environment, due to the increase in the volumes, complexity of transactions and the 
change management effort required to execute MDS.

Audit Committee report (continued)

Operational internal controls

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t i

n
 c

on
tr

ol
s

Time
2006 2012 2019

Aggressive automation of controls.
Strong culture of compliance.
Control awareness training.

Transaction volumes. 
Transaction complexity.
Number of resources.

Steady increase in control effectiveness from 2006 – 2012.
Anticipated control effectiveness resulting from increased focus.
Anticipated control effectiveness without increased focus.

control environment.



Appropriate processes will be critical for the success of MDS. In this regard, the focus of internal control  
will be on:

the securing of customer contracts on a timely basis), maintenance activities as well as capital efficiency and 

Assessment of the financial function and competence of the Acting Group Chief Financial 
Officer 
As required by King III, the Audit Committee is required to assess the Company’s financial function as well as 
the competency of the Chief Financial Officer. The Audit Committee has performed this assessment and 
accordingly the Audit Committee is satisfied with: 

responsibilities commensurate with the position.

Integrated report 
The Audit Committee has evaluated the Integrated Report for the year ended 31 March 2012 and has 
recommended its adoption to the Board of Directors.

Annual financial statements 
The Audit Committee has evaluated the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 and 
considers that it complies, in all material respects, with the requirements of the Companies Act, the PFMA, 

appropriate. 

The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the annual financial statements fairly present the financial position 
of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2012, and the results of their operations and cash flow 
information for the year then ended and has, therefore, recommended the adoption of these annual financial 
statements to the Board of Directors.

MP Moyo 
Chairman 

12 June 2012 
Johannesburg



Report of the Directors
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Introduction
The Board is pleased to present its annual financial statements, in both printed and electronic formats for the 
year ended 31 March 2012.

Ownership and Shareholder’s expectations
Transnet SOC Ltd is a public company, wholly owned by the Government of the Republic of South Africa and is 
the custodian of rail, ports and pipelines. The Company is responsible for enabling the competitiveness, growth 
and development of the South African economy through delivering reliable freight transport and handling 
services that satisfy customer demand. 

The mandate of Transnet is to assist in lowering the cost of doing business in South Africa, enabling economic 
growth and ensuring security of supply through providing appropriate port, rail and pipeline infrastructure in a 

Transnet has refined its vision and mission to completely align with the Shareholder’s mandate, Government’s 
New Growth Path (NGP) and the Statement of Strategic Intent issued by the Minister of Public Enterprises.

It is for this reason, and under the guidance of the Shareholder Minister, that the strategic focus areas for the 
Company include the following: 

 

regulatory certainty and stability as soon as possible. 

Board of Directors
The composition of the Board, together with summary curricula vitae of each Director is set out in the 
Corporate Governance report on page 156.

Mr MP Malungani resigned from the Board with effect from 1 April 2012.

 
to the Shareholder Minister as to a suitable candidate. The Board is awaiting Shareholder Minister approval.  
The acting position has not negatively impacted the effective financial management of the Company. As 
required by King III, the Audit Committee is required to assess the competency of the Chief Financial Officer. 
The Audit Committee has performed this assessment and accordingly, the Audit Committee is satisfied that 
the expertise and experience of the Acting Chief Financial Officer is appropriate to meet the responsibilities 
commensurate with the position. 

The remuneration of the Directors and Group Executive Committee Members are set out on page 33.



Strategy overview
Transnet’s Quantum Leap Strategy was informed by the policy context of South Africa’s NGP and the 

SOCs) as drivers of 

development, preferential procurement and enterprise development as well as regional integration.

Transnet posted an impressive 20,9% increase in revenue to R45,9 billion despite a year characterised by many 
challenges, and met most of the Group targets agreed with the Shareholder. This was driven by a growth in 

element of the Company’s strategy. 

amortisation (EBITDA) or profit from operations increased by 19,8% to R18,9 billion. 

This performance was underpinned by strong growth in volumes from all Operating divisions, led by Freight  
Rail, which surpassed 201,0 million tons (mt) of freight moved in a single year, a first in the history of the 
Company and its predecessors.

It is pleasing to report that Transnet’s capital investment for the year ended 31 March 2012 (excluding 
capitalised borrowing costs) amounted to R22,3 billion compared to R21,5 billion in the prior year. An amount 
of R11,6 billion was invested in expanding the current infrastructure and equipment, while R10,7 billion was 
invested in maintaining the existing capacity and operations.

This performance demonstrates that the Company is well on its way to delivering on its commitment to its 

expected. Together, these achievements have led to the transformation of Transnet’s positive image and 

platform for future growth. 

Summary of performance

March 2012 March 2011 % change

Revenue (R million) 45 900 37 952 20,9

EBITDA (R million) 18 882 15 763 19,8

EBITDA margin (%) 41,1 41,5 (0,4)

Equity attributable to the equity holder (R million) 79 421 73 666 7,8

Gearing (%) 42,1 41,1 1,0

22 712 18 266 24,3

Cash interest cover (times) 4,2 3,9 7,7

Significant progress has been made in improving the Company’s safety performance during the year with a 

improvement, 2012 saw seven employee fatalities on duty. The Board extends its heartfelt condolences to the 
families, friends and colleagues of the deceased. The year’s painful events have shown that the Company must 
remain ever vigilant to ensure the safety of its people and to strive unremittingly toward the goal of zero 
fatalities.



Report of the Directors (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

meant that economic growth has been constrained, particularly in respect of the demand for the transportation 
of mining products. 

The successful implementation of the Turnaround and Quantum Leap Strategies have resulted in a significantly 
strengthened financial position of the Company and as a consequence, the Company is in a position to have a 

The shortfall in capacity needed to satisfy demand has had a negative impact on South Africa in terms of 

validated demand for rail services exceeds supply by approximately 50,0mt per annum.

prudent planning and bold action in an increasingly volatile economic environment. Accordingly, the Company 

from 1 April 2012 onwards, to ensure that Transnet serves as a proactive enabler of economic growth. 

The announcement of Transnet’s MDS by His Excellency, President JG Zuma, in his State of the Nation Address 
on 9 February 2012, placed the Company at the centre of Government’s drive to boost future economic growth 

In addition to being the centrepiece of Government’s growth strategy through infrastructure development, the 

enabling economic growth. Underpinning the MDS is a commitment to sustainability in everything we do, to 
ensure that we indeed create lasting economic, social and environmental value for the present and future 
generations. 

 

expand South Africa’s rail, port and pipelines infrastructure, of which Transnet is the custodian. This will 

headcount set to increase by 25,0% over the seven years, the Company will, in present day terms, become one 
of the largest employers in South Africa. Transnet will also become one of the top five global freight railways 
and one of the top five companies in South Africa in terms of revenue. 

Significant highlights include:

the growth in volumes to 170,2mt.

 
by 2019. 



years, from R45,9 billion to R127,7 billion, driven by strong volume growth.

respectively.

 
To enable the successful execution of the strategy, Transnet is in the process of developing a robust 
implementation plan. 

plans are being developed as part of the MDS implementation plan.  

Execution risks
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Capital investment:

– Cost overrun.
– Schedule delays.

Commercial:

– Demand volume delays.
– Demand does not exist.

Operations:

– Operational inefficiencies 
limit growth from capital 
investment.

Economic factors:

– Recession slows volume 
growth or causes decline.

– Inflationary pressures.

Regulation:

– Regulators place cap on tariffs 
which reduce capital recovery.

strategy. The focus of the implementation plan will be optimising capital investments and enhancing capital 

 



MDS implementation plan

OPTIMISING 
CAPITAL 
INVESTMENTS

GROWING  
VOLUMES AND 
MARKET SHARE

IMPROVING 
OPERATIONAL 
EFFICIENCIES

FINANCE AND 
FUNDING

REGULATORY 
AND KEY  
STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT

SHEQ, RISK AND 
SUSTAINABILITY

Optimise the 
capital portfolio. 
Achieve 'gold 
standard' 
management and 
execution.
Practice efficient, 

procurement. 
Achieve 
localisation and 
empowerment 

Expand 
integrated 
customer 
planning. 

stable customer 
relationships.

account 
management 
capabilities.
Align tariffs to 
recover full 
economic cost 
from customers.

pay contracts. 

Become a 'gold 
standard' 
operator. 
Improve quality 
of infrastructure. 
Drive continuous 
improvement to 
enhance 
operational 
efficiency and 
productivity. 

Maintain 
financial 
sustainability 
throughout the 
capital 
investment 
programme. 
Pursue Private 
Sector 
Participation 
(PSP)
opportunities.
Enhance 

management. 

Alignment on 
tariff 
methodology 
and regulatory 
policy. 
Engage with 

view on 
transport 
industry 
structure. 
Actively 
engage with 
internal and 
external 

support MDS.

Enhance  
performance 
management 
approaches.
Optimise the reward 
and incentive model. 

Establish high 
performance 
programmes.
Safeguard corporate 
governance and ensure 
statutory compliance. 

Enhance identification, 
assessment and 
mitigation capacity  

management to  

Improve, standardise 
and integrate EIMS to 
support delivery on 
business 
requirements. 

Ensure integrated, 
holistic approach to 

reporting.

Significant financial, social, economic and environmental impact for  
South Africa and the region through:

Embed a safety 
culture. 
Accelerate 
initiatives to 
address 
environmental 
challenges. 
Actively monitor 
and improve 

impact. 

GOVERNANCE, BUILDING ORGANISATIONAL  
READINESS AND HIGH PERFORMANCE CULTURE

HUMAN CAPITAL

Report of the Directors (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Fill critical vacancies 
whilst achieving 
employment equity 
targets.  

Implement enhanced 
talent management 
strategy.  
  

Increase contribution 

within South Africa. 

Embed core values of 
dignity and respect. 
Continued focus on 
employee wellness.

Embed union engagement 
model.



Accounting policies

The accounting policies used in the preparation of the annual financial statements for the year ended  
31 March 2012 are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and consistent  
with those applied in the prior year.

Critical judgements and estimations made in applying the accounting policies
Judgements made by management and supported by the Board in the application of IFRS that have a significant 
impact on the annual financial statements are disclosed in the accounting policies on page 40. 

Share capital
There has been no change in the authorised or issued share capital of the Company during the year. The issued 
share capital of the Company is 12 660 986 310 ordinary shares of R1 each. 

Further details pertaining to the Company’s share capital are contained in note 21 of the annual financial 
statements.

Divisions, subsidiaries and associate companies
The Company intends to ultimately sell its shares in America Latina Logistica S.A., an investment held through 
its wholly owned subsidiary Spoornet do Brasil Ltda (SdbL), after which it will liquidate its interest in SdbL. 

A detailed list of subsidiaries and associate companies are contained in annexure D to the annual financial 
statements.

The Blue Train luxury passenger rail service has not been classified as a discontinued operation in terms of  
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations due to mutual agreement between the 
Passenger Rail Agency of South Africa (PRASA) and Transnet, whereby Transnet will retain ownership of the 
business for the foreseeable future.

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment – port facilities and pipeline networks
The accounting policies of the Company require port infrastructure assets, port operating assets and pipeline 

intervening years.

Port facilities

Based on the valuation methodology, as determined by independent experts using the depreciated optimised 

at 31 March 2012, a revaluation of R2,4 billion (2011: R8,1 billion). The quantum of the revaluation is 

recovery from the recession. An amount of R300 million (2011: R74 million) was recorded as a revaluation  
for port operating assets. 

Pipeline networks

Based on the index valuation, as determined by independent experts using the modern equivalent asset 

31 March 2012.

Borrowings and cash flows
As at 31 March 2012, the Company’s borrowings amounted to R58,1 billion (2011: R60,0 billion), a decrease of 
R1,9 billion compared to the prior year. This decrease can be attributed mainly to the redemption of the  
T018 bonds. In line with expectations, the gearing ratio increased to 42,1% from 41,1% as at 31 March 2011, 
which is well below the Company’s target range of 50%, reflecting the significant capacity available to fund 
future capital expenditure. The gearing ratio is not expected to exceed the target ratio going forward.



Report of the Directors (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

years and the detailed funding strategy, as noted in the 2012 Integrated report, will enable it to successfully 
raise the required funds to continue with the execution of the capital investment programme.

The funding requirement for 2013 is R14,1 billion. The Company is confident that it will be able to access  
 

to address the funding requirements for the year ahead include:

2013
R million

Commercial paper 2,2 
Domestic bonds 4,0
DFIs/ECAs/GMTN 5,8 

2,1 
Total 14,1 

In addition, it is expected that the Company will maintain its investment grade credit rating of BBB+ and A3 as 
the gearing and cash interest cover ratios will be within target levels of 50,0% and three times respectively.

Cash generated from operations amounted to R20,6 billion (2011: R16,2 billion), an increase of 27,6% 
compared to the prior year, demonstrating the ability of the Company to generate strong sustainable cash  

The cash interest cover ratio remains strong at 4,2 times (2011: 3,9 times) despite an increase in net finance 
costs, as a consequence of increased borrowings to fund the capital investment programme and is significantly 
above the target of 3,0 times. It is expected that the cash interest cover ratio will not fall below the target 
going forward. 

Post-retirement benefit obligations
Benefit funds

the Transport Pension Fund (TTPF) and the Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund (TSDBF), are fully funded 
with actuarial surpluses of R1,7 billion (March 2011: R2,0 billion) and R2,9 billion (March 2011: R3,2 billion) 
respectively. Transnet has not recognised any portion of the surplus on these funds, as the fund rules at present 
do not allow for the distribution of a surplus to the Company.

Following the discussions at Parliament’s Portfolio Committee on Public Enterprises, the TSDBF and Transnet 
decided to pay R538 million in ad hoc bonuses to the TSDBF beneficiaries in the current financial year. This 
translated into five months’ pensions for beneficiaries since November 2010. The cumulative value of ad hoc 
bonuses paid by the TSDBF to its beneficiaries over the last three years amount to R1,4 billion, allowing the 

2,0% increase per annum contained in the rules of the TSDBF.

In addition, the rule providing for the payment of ad hoc bonuses by the TTPF was gazetted in December 2011, 
allowing the TTPF and Transnet to approve the payment of ad hoc bonuses to the beneficiaries of the TTPF 
amounting to R89 million in December 2011.

Transnet has also provided R150 million for an ex gratia payment to the poorest of its pensioners in the TSDBF 

relatively low pensions.



SATS pensioners’ post-retirement medical benefit obligations

 
31 March 2012. 

benefits to SATS pensioners and their dependants. 

Capital expenditure and commitments
Capital expenditure commitments for the Company over the next seven years amount to R300,1 billion 
(excluding the capitalisation of borrowing costs). The Company has spent R22,3 billion (excluding capitalisation 
of borrowing costs) during the current year (2011: R21,5 billion) and anticipates spending a further  
R31,2 billion in the year ahead (excluding capitalisation of borrowing costs).

Further details regarding capital expenditure and commitments are contained in note 30.1 of the annual 
financial statements.

Dividends
No dividends were declared in the current year. The dividend policy is reviewed annually and approved by the 
Shareholder Representative in the annual general meeting. The policy provides that dividends will be declared 

where retaining cash does not create Shareholder value and provided that appropriate gearing and cash 
interest cover ratios are maintained.

Safety, health and environment (SHE)
The nature and scope of Transnet’s operations necessitates a proactive and concerted effort in maintaining the 
highest standards of safety, health and environmental governance. SHE performance targets are included in 

create an organisational culture in which trained and competent employees strive towards excellence in service 
delivery through ‘zero harm to self, colleagues and the environment’. Further, by instilling sound SHE 
governance principles among employees, it is hoped that these principles will filter outwards into wider 
communities.
The significant focus placed on SHE performance has resulted in a reduction in the number and severity of loss 
incidents during the year, with incidents reducing from 1 652 in the prior year to 1 060, reflecting an 
improvement of 35,8%. The total estimated cost of these incidents for the year was R432 million, compared to  

contributor to this reduction (unaudited). 

rate’ (DIFR). The Company recorded an improvement in the DIFR from 0,82 in the prior year to 0,65 at  
31 March 2012. 

fatalities were as a result of motor vehicle accidents.

Running line derailments have declined from 125 in 2011 to 87 in 2012. Shunting derailments declined  
 

the same period. 

Notwithstanding the improvement noted, the Board wishes to reiterate its continued commitment to the 
safety of employees and the public as a vital and integrated component of operations across the Company.  
The Board extends its condolences to the families, friends and colleagues of those who lost their lives whilst  
on duty.  
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Climate change and other focus areas (unaudited)

As a first step in embedding a climate change response strategy into the Company’s business, Transnet 
completed its carbon footprint study in 2011. Transnet accounted for 4,3mt C02 equivalent. This is 
approximately 1,0% of South Africa’s total transport sector emissions and approximately 10,0% of South 
Africa’s total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in 2012.

Transnet’s indirect (Scope 2) carbon emissions (electricity usage) account for 85,0% of Transnet’s total 
emissions. Altogether 75,0% of these Scope 2 emissions are accounted for by Freight Rail. Freight Rail is also 
the largest emitter of Transnet’s direct (Scope 1) emissions (largely diesel) and other indirect (Scope 3) 

updated regularly for public information.

In the year ahead, Transnet will use this GHG emissions inventory to design specific mitigation and adaptation 
plans and initiatives with measurable targets. 

Compliance and legislation

respects, with all legislation and regulations applicable to it, except as noted below.

PFMA compliance 

Transnet has implemented and maintained sound governance structures and processes in compliance with the 

monitors. This monitoring function is achieved through an approved PFMA policy, guidelines and a materiality 

cascaded throughout the Company.

Sections 51 and 55 of the PFMA impose certain obligations on the Company relating to the prevention, 

As set out in the Shareholder’s Compact with the Shareholder Representative, Transnet obtained specific 
exemptions from section 54 of the PFMA, which pertains to amongst others, the acquisition and disposal of 

disposal and acquisition of assets, Transnet needs to apply for PFMA approval if the value of the asset exceeds 
1,0% of the total assets. In respect of the other defined areas, a materiality level of R100 million has been set.

The Shareholder Representative has determined that the materiality limit for reporting in terms of sections 
55(2) (b) (i), (ii) and (iii) of the PFMA is R25 million per transaction.



Irregular expenditure

Appointment of a service provider for the provision of security services

A contract to a security service provider was awarded without the necessary delegated authority and without 
following the Transnet procurement process. A total of R35 million was paid to the supplier. The manager 

Company.

Capital project expenditure in excess of the approved budget without the necessary approval

as the contract related to the acquisition of security cameras.

Payment of gain-share bonuses to Transnet employees

delegated authority. The total payments made to employees as a result of this agreement amounted to  
R40 million. The head of the human resource department at the Operating division has been dismissed.

Appointment of a service provider for the supply of gas
Irregular expenditure of R45 million relating to a contract for the supply of gas was condoned during the year 

Amounts classified as fruitless and wasteful and irregular expenditure as well as losses through criminal 
conduct, below the materiality limit are reported internally to the Group Executive Committee and the Board  

Category of reportable items R million
Number of 

incidents

Number of
 finalised 

disciplinaries/
criminal cases

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 89,6 186 62/0

Losses through criminal conduct 76,9 35 2/173

Total irregular expenditure 195,5 27 10/0

Less: Irregular expenditure condoned 46,0 4 1/0

Remaining irregular expenditure 149,5 23 9/0

including the number of finalised disciplinary cases instituted against employees. However, it must also be 
noted that there are numerous other cases that are still pending finalisation, which will be reported in the 
annual financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2013. 

173 criminal cases have also been lodged with SAPS, as it relates to losses through criminal conduct.
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Control improvements and disciplinary action resulting from identified PFMA contraventions

Management against individuals who do not comply with the requirements of the PFMA as can be seen from the 
table above.

Complaint from the office of the Public Protector

In December 2010, a complaint was received from the office of the Public Protector relating to allegations of 

These complaints related to some of the Company’s contracts, its human resource management processes and 
the procedures followed in appointing certain consultants.  

findings. The Board reviewed the findings and as required by law responded appropriately to the Public 
Protector on the allegations for them to be in a position to finalise their obligations.

audit have assessed the improvements as adequate. Where appropriate, and necessary corrective disciplinary 

Shareholder’s Compact – performance criteria
In compliance with the requirements of the PFMA, the Board concludes an annual Shareholder’s Compact with 
the Shareholder Representative, the Department of Public Enterprises. The Shareholder’s Compact contains 

 
and ensures that the Board and the Shareholder Representative are aligned in their understanding and 

to the Shareholder Representative quarterly. This continuous engagement with the Shareholder Representative 
ensures strategic alignment.
Performance information and other criteria comparing actual 2012 results to the targets, as required by 
section 55(2) (a) of the PFMA, have been outlined overleaf in terms of the Shareholder’s Compact. The 

Transnet Group

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2012  

Target

2012 

 Actual

Financial value creation

Operating expenditure as a % of revenue % �60 58,9

Return on average total assets % �8,0 6,8

Cash interest cover times �3,2 4,2

Gearing % �46,8 42,1

Human capital Training spend % of personnel costs �3,5 3,9 

Engineering trainees Number of learners 60 60

Technician trainees Number of learners 180 181

Artisan trainees Number of learners 500 854

Number of learners 1 500 2 506

Safety
DIFR* Weighted average �0,80 0,65 

Employee fatalities Number of fatalities 0 7

Employment creation �2 562 3 159

�33 331 27 964

*  The Group DIFR has been calculated by aggregating the disabling injuries (DI) and man-hours worked by all Operating divisions over the past financial year. The 
standard NOSA formula (DIFR = (DI x 200,000) ÷ Rolling 12-month man-hours worked) had been applied. The DIFR was previously derived as an average of the 
actual DIFR of the Operating divisions. This resulted in the prior year DIFR of 0,98 being restated to 0,82.

#  As determined by the Transnet macroeconomic model.



Transnet Freight Rail (Freight Rail)

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2012  

Target

2012

 Actual
– Total volume(a) mt �206,0 201,0

– Export coal mt �70,0 67,7

–  Export iron ore mt �51,6 52,3

–  Export 
manganese 

mt
�5,5 5,5

(b) mt �10,2 8,5

coal mt �6,4 5,7

–  Domestic coal 
(other) mt �8,2 8,2

–  Domestic iron ore mt �8,0 7,8

– Containers(a) ‘000 TEUs �785,7 762,7

– Automotive ‘000 units �240,4 144,7

– Cement mt �5,1 4,5

– Chrome mt �2,65 1,9

– Agriculture mt �4,69 6,1

l �3,3 2,8

Average revenue per unit 
increases (revenue/mt)  – GFB(a) % �CPI +2 10,5%
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Transnet Freight Rail (continued)

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2012  

Target

2012

 Actual

Service reliability

(c)

– Export coal

Average deviation 
from scheduled 
times (minutes)

�142 209

– Export iron ore �89 67

– GFB �175 284

(d)

– Export coal �282 375

– Export iron ore �152 133

– GFB �227 357

Loco utilisation

– Export coal
GTK/loco/m

(000)

�24 700 23 845

– Export iron ore �45 600 43 110

– GFB(e) �5 400 5 167

Wagon utilisation index
Wagon cycle time

– Export coal
Hours

�58 66

– Export iron ore �76 93

Wagon turnaround – GFB Days �11,0 11,5

Safety Safety index �0,88 0,90

(a)   In 2012, the weight and number of empty containers transported are included in general freight volumes as well as the 
calculation of average revenue per unit increases.

(b) 2012 target was subject to the Eskom ramp-up.
(c)  A leniency departure window of 90 minutes for GFB and 94 minutes for the export coal and iron ore line are included in the 

2012 actual figures.
(d)  A leniency arrival window of 180 minutes for GFB and 160 minutes for the export coal and iron ore line are included in the 

2012 actual figures.
(e)  2012 target and actual figures exclude B-fleet, shunting locomotives and general freight locomotives operating on the 

export coal line.

Transnet Rail Engineering (Rail Engineering)

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure
2012

Target
2012

Actual

Service reliability

Loco availability (weighted) % �89,8 90,5

Loco reliability (weighted) �27 25

Wagon availability (weighted) % �94,6  94,8 

Wagon reliability (weighted) �0,34 0,30

Safety Safety index �0,80  0,73 



Transnet National Ports Authority (National Ports Authority)

Key performance 
area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2012 
Target

2012
 Actual

Productivity

Containers

TEUs per STAT hour

– Durban �40 45

– Cape Town �27 46

– Port Elizabeth �36 32

– Ngqura �40 41

Tons per STAT hour– Coal (RBCT) �2 000  2 377 

– Iron ore (Saldanha) �3 078 3 453

Service reliability Shipping delays (average time 
when ship is delayed)

Port of Durban 
(Containers) Hours

Tugs �2,0 0,1

Pilots �1,4 0,0

Safety Safety index �0,80 0,66

Transnet Port Terminals (Port Terminals)

Key performance 
area Key performance indicator Unit of measure

2012  
Target

2012 
Actual

Tariff increases Average tariff increase (all commodities) % �4,7  5,3 

Productivity Gross crane moves  
per hour

DCT Pier 2 (Prime 
berths)

Number of moves

�28 21

DCT Pier 1 �30 27

CTCT �25 28

Ngqura �30 30

Service reliability

DCT

Minutes

�38 44

Pier 1 �35 43

CTCT �35 27

Ngqura �35 32

Terminal berthing delays Container terminals 
(Durban) Hours �16 26

Safety Safety index �0,62  0,62 
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Transnet Pipelines (Pipelines)

Key performance area Key performance indicator Unit of measure
2012 

Target
2012 

Actual

Service reliability Production interruptions – internal Hours �250 236

Safety Safety index �0,80 0,21

Economic regulation and regulatory reform
The tariffs of two Operating divisions, namely that of Pipelines and National Ports Authority are regulated by 
economic regulators. Nersa regulates the tariffs of the petroleum pipeline system, storage facility at Tarlton 
and gas transmission pipeline for Pipelines. The Ports Regulator approves the tariffs charged by National Ports 
Authority.

With approximately 20,7% of Transnet’s revenue and 38,4% of its EBITDA impacted by economic regulation,  
unless the relationships with regulators are managed proactively and strategically their decisions could have  
a significant impact on investment decisions, investor confidence and ultimately on the execution of the MDS.

Transnet believes that understanding regulatory issues in extreme detail is a prerequisite not only for 

transparency, with the economic regulators. Significant progress has been made between Transnet and the 

will be placed on finalising a tariff methodology and pricing strategy, which would achieve the spirit of the 
National Ports Act, No 12 of 2005 whilst at the same time afford National Ports Authority and Transnet the 
ability to deliver on the MDS and maintain financial sustainability.

Pipelines

Petroleum levy and corporatisation of Pipelines
The Minister of Finance announced in his budget speech for the 2010 financial year that the Government has 
imposed a levy of 7,5 cents per litre on both diesel and petrol to help fund the construction of the NMPP. Levy 

On 18 January 2011, the Chairman of the Board requested the Minister of Public Enterprises to confirm if 
corporatisation of Pipelines is still required. On 25 May 2011, the Minister confirmed that corporatisation of 
Pipelines is still required and Transnet must proceed with the corporatisation.

Transnet has referred the pending corporatisation of Pipelines to the Department of Public Enterprises (DPE)/
Transnet bilateral engagements. The DPE has requested further details of the related impact of Pipelines 
corporatisation on Transnet. The outcome of this bilateral engagement will inform the position on the 
corporatisation of Pipelines.

Tariffs
In accordance with the Petroleum Pipelines Act, No 60 of 2003, Nersa is mandated to set petroleum pipeline 
tariffs and approve storage tariffs. 

On 29 July 2011, Pipelines submitted its 2012/13 petroleum pipeline tariff application to Nersa, requesting a 

achieve a cash interest cover of three times. A final decision was announced on 15 March 2012 by Nersa, 
approving a basic revenue increase of 20,0% in pipeline tariffs for 2012/13.



NMPP
Transnet applied for and was granted a licence in terms of section 16 of the Petroleum Pipelines Act, to 

December 2010, Transnet informed Nersa that, at its meeting of 26 November 2010, the Board approved the 

 
31 December 2013. In addition, the Board approved the revised estimate of the cost of the NMPP from  
R15,5 billion in the prior year to R23,4 billion. The NMPP is expected to be completed within the revised 
estimated cost by December 2013.

the outstanding milestones for both the coastal and inland accumulation facilities. Upon completion, these 

National Ports Authority

The potential corporatisation of National Ports Authority
The National Ports Act provides for the corporatisation of National Ports Authority. On 17 June 2008, the 
Government, through the former President of the Republic of South Africa, informed Transnet in writing that it 
would not initiate the corporatisation process and that appropriate amendments to the Ports Act will  
be considered. 

The engagements between Transnet and the Department of Public Enterprises are aimed at ensuring that the 
appropriate amendments to the Ports Act are effected. The potential corporatisation of National Ports 

financially and strategically, and could trigger default clauses in some of Transnet’s funding agreements. 

National Environmental Management: Integrated Coastal Management Act, No 24 of 2008
The Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA) prepared a Presidential Proclamation to bring the Integrated 
Coastal Management Act (ICM Act) into operation on 1 November 2009. This proclamation had the potential 

approximately R46,0 billion of National Ports Authority assets. This posed a material threat to Transnet’s 
business, port operations, loan agreements, capital investments and financial position.

Transnet and the DPE engaged the DEA until agreement was reached to implement the ICM Act in a staggered 
fashion. The ICM Act therefore came into effect with the exception of sections 11, 65, 66, 95, 96 and 98. The 

in the ports from Transnet. Negotiations with the DEA are continuing to formulate proposed amendments to the 
ICM Act, which can be presented to Parliament to ensure that Transnet’s assets are secure in the long term and 
that National Ports Authority is able to fulfil its ports authority functions as determined by the National Ports 
Act, No 12 of 2005.

Tariffs
On 13 March 2012, the Ports Regulator of South Africa awarded National Ports Authority a tariff increase of 

considering Transnet’s R1 billion rebate to identified categories of port users. The rebate serves primarily to 
encourage exports of manufactured goods to create a balance between imports and exports. The Regulator 
approved Transnet’s proposal for the allocation of the rebate.
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Significant progress has been made between Transnet and the Ports Regulator following recent engagements 

and pricing strategy which would achieve the spirit of the National Ports Act, No 12 of 2005 whilst at the  

and maintain financial sustainability.

Port of Ngqura licence
The National Ports Act governs the functioning of National Ports Authority defined in the Act as the Authority. 

landlord functions within ports. Section 11(2) (d) of the Act enables the Authority to “perform such other 

Section 56 (5) of the Act envisages the agreements entered into by the Authority in respect of port operations 

Therefore the Act envisages the Authority acting independently and being seen to act in such a manner.

The Cabinet of the Republic of South Africa decided on 9 November 2011, to direct National Ports Authority to 

Ports Authority beginning a competitive process for the licensing of the Port of Ngqura in accordance with 
section 56 of the Act. 

The Minister of Transport gave effect to the Cabinet decision by issuing a section 79 directive for three years 
to National Ports Authority, in correspondence dated 27 January 2012. The section 79 directive is an interim 
measure, provided to address the current exceptional circumstances and to allow National Ports Authority, as 

. 

Freight Rail

In response to the Department of Transport’s (DoT) initial Rail Reform Green Paper, the DPE developed  
Phase 1 of its position paper on Rail Reform for South Africa in February 2011. The position paper entailed the 

presented its position paper to Transnet and Transnet will continue to monitor developments in this regard.

Judicial proceedings

entered into by Transnet, as either defendant or plaintiff, where the outcome can be assessed with reasonable 

liabilities of the Group have been disclosed in note 31 of the annual financial statements.



Events after the reporting period date
Subsequent to the reporting period date:

 
the former Durban International Airport site from the Airports Company of South Africa (ACSA). The total 
cost of the acquisition is R1,85 billion and an amount of R1,2 billion was paid on 31 March 2012. 

to R200 million.

There have been no other events that have occurred after the reporting period date that would have a material 
impact on reported results.

Going concern
The successful execution of the capital investment programme is critical to Transnet as it forms the basis of 
future growth for the Company and the South African economy. Consequently, the successful execution of the 
borrowing strategy and the ability of the Company to meet its commitments to investors, are of paramount 
importance. The Directors are of the opinion that the Company will be a going concern for the foreseeable 
future. In reaching this opinion, the Directors considered the following factors:

financial obligations in the normal course of business for the foreseeable future.

investment plan without breaching the set financial parameters.

various conditions, and mitigating initiatives, strategies and controls are in place as reflected in the business 

 

South Africa and application of the Government Related Issuer criteria on SOCs. Based on the current 

funding. This opinion is supported by the fact that Transnet still maintains a foreign currency debt rating of 
BBB+ and A3 respectively, which remains unchanged. 

Given the dynamic management reporting approach to achieve the agreed financial metrics, and to improve 
profitability based on the operating and financial indicators, the Directors are confident that the Company will 
be a going concern for the foreseeable future.

External auditor of Transnet SOC Ltd
During the year, the Audit Committee concluded the process for the appointment of SizweNtsalubaGobodo as 
the Company’s external auditor following a rigorous open tender process. The appointment is significant for 

magnitude.
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Remuneration report 
Introduction

Transnet continues to regard its employees as the most valued asset of the business and the Human Resources 

addressing HR challenges. 

HR strategy and therefore the reward strategies remain focused on entrenching a performance driven culture. 

rewarding employees for their contribution to the success of Transnet.

The remuneration philosophy of the Company is aimed at attracting, securing and motivating people for the 
organisation, aligned to its vision and mission.

During the past few years, Transnet has made giant leaps in respect of reward and succeeded in establishing a 
single grade structure and standardised pay scales for the management group, implementing a new reward 

drivers and artisans.

Transnet further managed to conclude the agreement in respect of the new reward model for all Bargaining Unit 
employees who were not previously covered by the other reward agreements resulting in a standardised grade 
and pay structure across the business. 

culture and environment for superior performance and facilitate employee development and retention of 

Remuneration Committee to ensure that fair remuneration practises are administered throughout the 
Company.

effectiveness of the freight logistics system will encourage economic growth and thus lead to the creation of 

Executive remuneration – guaranteed

employment. They are also responsible for generating returns on large sums of investor money, including 

national resources. 

results achieved. 

SA Guide to Executive 
Remuneration and Reward

The outcome of the current remuneration study by the Presidential Review Committee into the remuneration of 



Executive salary adjustments

 
1 April 2011. 

A differentiated approach was followed in allocating a percentage increase to the guaranteed remuneration of 

performance has exceeded expectations. 

performance scorecards of the Group Executives are directly translated from the Shareholder’s Compact and 
the Corporate Plan. Key performance areas, targets and measures are derived from and aligned with the 
targets as per the Corporate Plan and Shareholder’s Compact. 

Name
Salary

R thousand

Post-
retirement

benefit
fund

 contribu-
tions

R thousand

Other
 contribu-

tions
R thousand

Other
 payments

R thousand

Total 
2012

R thousand

Total 
2011

R thousand
B Molefe**º 5 495 504 – 1 6 000 643

2 545  234 –  1 2 780 2 617
S Gama 4 137  321 –  1 4 459 10 129

2 575  274 –  76 2 925 2 622
– – – – – 2 911

276 366 21 1 664 3 567
CA Möller 2 704  237  51  1 2 993 2 852
T Morwe 3 297  241  6  592 4 136 3 507
M Moses 3 261  166  23  1 3 451 3 451
KC Phihlela 3 060  223 –  1 3 284 3 320
A Singh** 2 073  190 –  1 2 264 2 152

3 318  330 –  570 4 218 3 306
Z Stephen< 2 838 261 – 3 841 6 940 754

3 263  281 –  1  3 545  3 344
636 58 – 1 695 –

CF Wells> – – – – – 4 596
39 478 3 686 101 5 089 48 354 49 771

** Group Executive who is a member of the Board.
º Employed during prior year, remuneration pro rated in the prior year. 
# Appointed during the year.
+ Resigned during the current year. 
++ Resigned in the prior year.
>  Resigned from the Board on 15 December 2010, but remained with the Company until 31 March 2011.
<  Resigned from the Company with effect from 1 April 2012.
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The following Executives received an acting allowance during the year in addition to their guaranteed 
remuneration. 

Name

Total 
2012

R thousand

Total 
2011

R thousand
–  376
– 833

T Morwe* –  500
A Singh 1 689  1 544

–  461
CF Wells** – 608

1 689 4 322
* Confirmed into their positions during the year and acting allowances were terminated.
** Acted as Group Chief Executive during the prior financial year.
***  The Board delegated the powers, duties and authority of the Group Chief Executive to the Chairman of the Board, with effect from 16 December 

2010, until 2 March 2011.

Executive remuneration – non-guaranteed
Short-Term Incentive Scheme (STI)

The following principles apply to the STI:

modifiers for Transnet’s performance.

performance indicators as stated in the Shareholder’s Compact and Corporate Plan.

 – Alignment of measures from the strategy down to individual performance areas.



Group and Senior Executives
 

the Shareholder Representative, have been achieved. Incentive eligibility percentages have been extensively 

performance ratings for 2012 is as follows:

Qualifying percentage*
Employment category Grade On target Maximum

Group Executive Committee A 50% 100%

Extended Executive Committee B 40% 80%

* Excluding individual performance assessment rating adjustments.

Management employees 

bonus percentages are further modified with individual performance assessment ratings.

Bargaining Unit employees 

potential earnings in respect of the scheme set out as follows:

secondary measure targets. Employees have the opportunity to gain up to a maximum of 16% per annum 

 
per year. 

Generation of the bonus pool 
The bonus pool is generated through the achievement of set EBITDA targets and determines the amount 
available to fund payments in terms of the incentive scheme. 

During the 2012 financial year, a productivity measure was introduced to modify the bonus pool. This measure 

The introduction of the Transnet weighted volume modifier as a productivity measure could modify the bonus 
pool by up to 40% at Transnet Group level and again by 40% at the Operating division level in the event of  

The bonus pool is further modified with the actual safety performance per Operating division where the 
measure relates to the DIFR. Failure to achieve the DIFR target can reduce the bonus pool with a further 10%.
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Long-Term Incentive Scheme (LTI)

reward performance above target.

an LTI payable on the third anniversary of the STI payment.

the LTI. It further impacts on the vesting of the conditional award.

are used as the Group LTI modifier. Targets are set on an annual basis and are included in the Transnet  
Corporate Plan.

on the levels below Extended Executive Committee. Certain employees not eligible for participation are 
specifically excluded as a result of individual performance, the talent management process and the plotted 



Incentive payments

The STI payment for the 2012 financial year was based on the financial (EBITDA), volume and safety 
performance of the Group. The vesting of the 2009 conditional award in respect of the LTI payments was based 

Name
LTI 2012

R thousand
LTI 2011

R thousand
STI 2012

R thousand
STI 2011

R thousand

B Molefe** – – 6 473 –

2 303  2 546 2 799 1 415

S Gama 3 386 2 510 4 919 –

1 954  2 033 2 938 1 720

–  4 244 – 2 073

CA Möller 2 207  3 217 2 944 1 656

T Morwe 2 045 3 791 3 570 1 597

M Moses 4 348 – 3 392 1 305

KC Phihlela 2 530 3 167 3 229 1 936

A Singh** 1 691  2 171 4 266 2 324

2 737 3 898 3 938 2 209

Z Stephen+ 2 789 1 984 1 860 396

3 015 4 105 3 826 1 789

–  8 900 – 2 771

29 005  42 566 44 154 21 191

**  Group Executive who is a member of the Board.
+  Resigned from the Company with effect from 1 April 2012.
#  Resigned during the current year.
##  Resigned during the prior year.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration

requirements at a given point in time.
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directives issued in respect of Directors’ fees by the Shareholder Representative.

Name of Board members  
(Current Board of Directors)

Salary
R thousand

Other 
payments

R thousand

Total
 2012

R thousand

Total 
2011

R thousand

999 1 1 000 302
NBP Gcaba 633 – 633  517
MP Moyo  645 – 645 413
NR Ntshingila  450 – 450  394

225 – 225 –
MA Fanucchi 450 – 450 138

263 – 263 –
HD Gazendam 550 – 550 138

488 – 488 138
MP Malungani+ 450 – 450 138

525 – 525 156
600 – 600 156

N Moola 450 – 450 138
IB Sharma 450 – 450 138
E Tshabalala 488 – 488 156
DLJ Tshepe 450 – 450 138

8 116 1 8 117 3 060

#  Appointed during the year.
****  Director’s fees paid to Kapela Investment Holdings (Pty) Limited.
+ Resigned with effect from 1 April 2012.

Name of Board members  
(Previous Board of Directors)

Salary
R thousand

Other
payments

R thousand

Total 
2012

R thousand

Total 
2011

R thousand

GK Everingham (Acting Chairman)+ – – –  731
– – – 338

ND Haste OBE+ – – – 338
PG Joubert+ – – – 450
NNA Matyumza+ – – – 414
KC Ramon>+ – – – 394
Prof J Schrempp+ – – – 50

– – – 2 715

+ Resigned during the prior year.
>  Director’s fees paid to Sasol Limited.

Impact of MDS on remuneration
In closing, the MDS has resulted in a drive to review remuneration policies and practices across the Company. In 

the incentive schemes to create alignment with the MDS while ensuring consistency across all Operating divisions.



Registration details
The registration number of the Company is 1990/000900/30. 
The registered name and address of the Company are as follows:

Transnet SOC Ltd
47th Floor, Carlton Centre
150 Commissioner Street
Johannesburg
2001

Company Secretary
Ms ANC Ceba

Business address:
47th Floor, Carlton Centre
150 Commissioner Street
Johannesburg
2001

Auditors
At the annual general meeting, held on 24 June 2011, Deloitte & Touche was reappointed as the Company’s 

Deloitte & Touche has its business address at:

Deloitte Place
The Woodlands
20 Woodlands Drive
Woodmead
Johannesburg

and SizweNtsalubaGobodo has its business address at:

20 Morris Street East
Woodmead
Johannesburg

52 Corlett Drive
Illovo
Johannesburg



Accounting policies 
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Transnet SOC Ltd (the ‘Company’) is a company domiciled in South Africa.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 comprise the Company and its 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board on 12 June 2012.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), interpretations of those standards 
issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee, applicable legislation and the Company’s Act of South Africa.

Critical judgements and estimates made in applying the accounting policies

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of equity, assets and 
liabilities, revenue and expenses.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience, independent experts’ advice and 
inputs and various other factors that are considered to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements and estimates made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the 
financial statements are discussed below:

Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment

Ports Authority) are carried at revalued amounts. Formal revaluations are performed every three years by 
independent experts for these asset classes. 

Appropriate indices, as determined by independent experts, are applied in the intervening periods to ensure that 
the assets are carried at fair value at the reporting date. Judgement is applied in the selection of such indices. 

techniques such as depreciated optimised replacement cost or modern equivalent asset valuation methods, 
which are dependent on the asset class being revalued.

The useful life of each asset group has been determined by independent experts based on the build quality, 

During the current year, an index valuation was applied to port operating assets, port infrastructure assets and 

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets requires that the carrying amount of assets should not exceed the amount recoverable 

tested against a discounted cash flow model to ensure that their carrying amounts are recoverable. 

made in order to derive the fair value of future cash flows. The more critical assumptions made were:

 



As with all discounted cash flow (DCF) models, various assumptions were made in order to derive the net 
present value of future cash flows relating to the port infrastructure assets. These assumptions were arrived 

The more critical assumptions referred to above, relates to the use of WACC and a terminal growth rate in the 
DCF model. A change in these assumptions by 0,1% would result in the following sensitivities:

Port infrastructure assets
R million

Carrying value of assets 46 627
(264)
672
353

(252)
#  Increasing/decreasing WACC or the terminal growth rate by 0,1% will result in the carrying value of assets being adjusted by these values, 

provided all other assumptions remain consistent.

Clawback provisions

The National Energy Regulator of South Africa and the Ports Regulator of South Africa set the revenue for 
Pipelines and National Ports Authority respectively based on the allowable revenue approach.

The tariff methodology is based on estimates of revenue activity made before the commencement of the relevant 
tariff period. As a result, differences between the estimated and actual revenues will result in either under or 

Additional details are disclosed in note 16 to the annual financial statements.

Excessive tariff increase margin credit (ETIMC)

excessive annual tariff increase that could impact negatively on the industry, it will utilise the ETIMC credit in 

Ports Authority, which in turn affects the valuation of port facilities based on the discounted cash flow model.
In the current year, the port infrastructure assets were revalued upwards by R2,4 billion. Depending on when the 

–  
–  
–  

Impairment – Cash-generating units

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets requires an entity to assess at each reporting date whether or not there is 
an indication that an asset may be impaired. If there are any such indicators, the entity shall estimate the 
recoverable amount of the asset.
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The Group conducted an assessment of potential indicators of impairment for all its Operating divisions (as 
Impairment of 

Assets, the Group assessed additional issues and factors that could result in the impairment of assets for the 
year ended 31 March 2012. The additional issues and factors considered include:

The Group concluded that no indicators of impairment existed for the Group or its Operating divisions (as single 

Residual values and useful lives

Residual values are reviewed at every reporting date. The following factors are considered when assessing an 
asset’s residual value:

Useful lives of all property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with a finite useful life are also reviewed 
at each reporting date. The following factors are considered when assessing an asset’s useful life:

Capitalisation rules

Rail infrastructure 
During the year, a significant revision to the rail infrastructure capital operating expenditure (COPEX) rules was 
implemented, mostly related to the thresholds of rails and sleepers to better align the policy with the Group’s 
capital maintenance plans and activities. The rail capitalisation threshold has been lowered for the iron ore and 
coal lines such that provided a minimum of 240 metres of rail is replaced, the expenditure would be of a capital 
nature. In addition, the sleeper threshold has been reduced from 1 500 sleepers to 500 sleepers qualifying for 
capitalisation. In the current year, this resulted in an additional R96 million being capitalised to the assets. 

Componentisation

and review, define asset components more accurately and assign useful lives to the various components. In the 

outs of an enduring nature being capitalised to the assets. 

Rolling stock and permanent way assets

resulted in a R81 million decrease in the depreciation expense for the year.



Locomotives
In the current year, useful lives were reset in line with the locomotive fleet plan approved in the 2012 financial 
year. The fleet plan states that many locomotive structures/parts (such as frame structures and the bogies) are 
now expected to last longer than the original estimates. In addition, a review of the capitalisation rules 
highlighted that the useful life review process could be refined by splitting the main component of the asset 

 
R783 million in the current year.

Wagons

conversions from one wagon type to another, refurbishments and repair from derailments are considered to 
have had their useful life extended. Thus, if an old asset receives a large subsequent spend, this would lead to a 
significant change in its useful life whereas a newer asset with a smaller subsequent spend will have minor 
changes in its useful life. In the current year, this resulted in a reduction in the depreciation expense by  
R65 million for the year.

Infrastructure
During the current year, an exercise was carried out on the componentisation of the permanent way 
infrastructure assets to ensure the componentisation was been done to the correct level of granularity and also 
to ensure the correct application of the revised useful lives as stated above. This resulted in an overall 
reduction of R18 million in the depreciation expense for the year.

Investment properties

In terms of IAS 40 Investment Property

time of acquisition of the asset, as well as the current and future intention. 

future development. Until the future strategic purpose of these properties is formalised through the relevant 
governance structures, they shall be held for capital appreciation.

The Group has areas where multiple buildings are on a single erf or multiple erfs defined as one area called 
a precinct. Certain buildings may be owner occupied and others rented to third parties or vacant. For 
classification purposes, a precinct, station or intermodal hub is assessed in its entirety and is classified as 
investment property if the relevant criteria in IAS 40 are met.

of port properties are used as the basis to determine the fair value of these properties using the normalised 
income method of valuation which entails the capitalisation of the normalised net annual income from the 
property. The income streams are discounted to present value and capitalised at rates between 10% and 15%. 

specific attributes. 

Properties which were acquired for administrative purposes but are currently vacant or occupied by a third 

there may be no plans to dispose of the assets. If the lease term is less than five years, the asset is not classified 
as investment property. If the criteria in IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations 
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Inventory provisions

The provision for inventory obsolescence is based on a physical count and inspection of inventory items which is 

Allowance for trade and other receivables

even though the decrease cannot yet be identified with individual debtors in the portfolio. These include 
adverse changes in payment status of debtors and changes in the national or local economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults in the debtors portfolio.

Decommissioning liabilities

Provisions raised for the dismantling and removal of an asset as a result of the requirement to restore the site 
on which the asset is located are computed by discounting estimated future cash flows required to restore the 

the liability. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the cost to rehabilitate the site and 

of money.

Additional details are disclosed in note 25 to the annual financial statements.

Environmental liabilities

The estimation of the future cost of environmental obligations relating to rehabilitation is particularly complex 

are dependent on a number of factors including assumptions around environmental legislation, extent of 

costs for the historical contamination caused by asbestos, ferromanganese, manganese, mixed soil (including 
chrome, sulphur and manganese), fuel and rubble. These obligations arise from environmental legislation 
requiring the Group to remove waste material and remediate the land. The Group has engaged external 

rehabilitation obligation. A number of factors were considered in determining the obligation, which included: 

Additional details are disclosed in note 25 to the annual financial statements. 



Post-retirements benefit obligations

retirements benefit obligations.

Basis for determining the fair value of financial instruments

Bonds
The fair value of bonds is determined by applying the Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE) and Bond 
Exchange South Africa (BESA) closing rates with the SA Bond formula. This is in respect of bonds held for 
trading and bonds designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition.

Other non-derivative financial assets and liabilities

values of all future cash flows, discounted at the prevailing interest rate curves for the different currencies at 
the reporting date. 

Derivatives
The fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities are determined based on the net present values 
of all future cash flows, discounted at the prevailing interest rate curves for the different currencies at the 

Short-term financial assets and liabilities 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of six months or less are assumed to 
approximate fair value.

Legal claims

Judgement is based on legal opinion as to whether the claim is possible and/or probable. 

Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group (‘financial statements’) are presented in South African Rand, 
rounded to the nearest million. The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the 
following assets and liabilities that are stated at fair value: unlisted investments, derivative financial instruments, 

and investment properties. Certain classes of property, plant and equipment are carried at revalued amounts.

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

Except as otherwise disclosed, these accounting policies are consistent with those applied in previous years and 
are consistently applied throughout the Group.

Changes in accounting policy
There were no material changes to the Group accounting policies in the current financial period.
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Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries (including special purpose entities, such as trusts) are entities controlled by the Group. Control 
exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. Typically, this will be where the Group has more than 50,0% 
of the voting power. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or convertible 

subsidiaries, from the effective dates of acquisition to the effective dates of disposal.

The acquisition method of accounting in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations is applied in accounting 
for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the sum of:

in the acquiree. 

Acquisition related costs such as advisory, legal and accounting fees are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they are incurred and the services received.

Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 

measured in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations at the 
lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value 
of the Group’s share in the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognised as goodwill and 
accounted for in terms of the accounting policy on intangible assets and goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is 
less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a gain 

fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the identifiable assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by 
the Group.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability 
will be recognised in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement either in 
profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as 
equity, it is not remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

 
deficit balance. 

Where there is a change in the interest in a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, the difference 

Where there is a change in the interest in a subsidiary that results in loss of control, the Group:



or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Special purpose entities are consolidated when the substance of the relationship between the Group and the 
special purpose entity indicates that it is controlled by the Group.

eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 

consolidation.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
of the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses in the Company financial 
statements. 

Equity accounted investments

acquisition reserves less any accumulated impairment losses.

financial statements until the investment is written down to a nominal value. Thereafter, losses are accounted 
for only to the extent that the Group is committed to providing financial support to the investee. The carrying 
amount of the investments is reduced to recognise any decline in value. 

net assets is recognised as goodwill and is included in the carrying value of the investment. If the cost of acquisition 
is less than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Investments in associates

the financial and operating policies of the entity. Significant influence is presumed in instances where the Group 

Investments in associates are equity accounted in the consolidated financial statements for the period in which 

it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations. 

investment in the associates.

Investments in joint ventures
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Joint venture agreements that involve the establishment of a separate entity in which each venturer has an 

for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Foreign currency
Functional and presentation currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated 
financial statements are prepared in South African Rand, which is the Company and Group’s functional and 
presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency are defined as foreign currency 
transactions. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at exchange rates 
ruling on transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into the functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.

are carried at fair value denominated in the foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the 
exchange rate ruling when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

operation and are initially recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve and subsequently 
recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the net investment.

Financial statements of foreign entities

The financial statements of foreign entities are translated into South African Rand as follows:

transactions or appropriate average rates.

of the foreign entity and translated at the rates of foreign exchange ruling at the reporting date.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations 
and of related hedges where hedge accounting is applied are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
presented as a separate component of equity. 

On disposal, such translation differences are recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 



Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from the sale of goods and 
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value added taxation, returns, 

Where extended payment terms are granted by the Group, whether explicitly or implicitly, the effect of the time 

cash selling prices of the goods and services.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s 

type of customer, the type of transaction and the specific circumstances of each arrangement.

Transportation and other related services

Revenue from transportation and other related services is recognised in profit or loss by reference to the 
stage of completion of transactions at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to 

regarding recovery of the consideration due and associated costs.

Rental income

term of the lease in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements. Lease incentives granted are 
recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.

Construction contracts

As soon as the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and expenses are 
recognised in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the contract. Contract revenue includes 

receivable less penalties incurred to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be 
measured reliably.

construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date the Group’s right to receive payments is established, 

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all suspensive conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is 
intended to compensate. 

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to 
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Transactions giving rise to adjustments to revenue/purchases

The Group accounts for cash discounts and rebates received (given) as follows:

deducted from the cost of inventories purchased.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, or revalued amount, less accumulated depreciation where 
appropriate and any accumulated impairment losses.

Recognition and measurement

Revaluations are carried out every three years and appropriate indices are applied in the intervening periods 
to ensure that the assets are carried at fair value at the reporting date. Revaluation surpluses that arise are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and are accumulated in the revaluation reserve in equity, except to 
the extent that they reverse a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, 
in which case the surplus is credited to the profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously recognised. 
A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of an asset is recognised as an expense in profit 
or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the revaluation reserve relating to a previous 
revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable revaluation 
surplus included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset, borrowing costs 

accounting where applicable.

estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which 

proportion of production overheads. 

Where components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items of property, plant and equipment and depreciated separately over their respective  
useful lives.

equipment if they are expected to be used for more than one period. If not, they are classified as inventory. 

property, plant or equipment are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs

The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing 
part of such an item when that cost is incurred and it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied 
within the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of 
the replaced part is derecognised. All other costs are recognised in profit or loss as expenses when incurred.

criteria are met.



Depreciation

of property, plant and equipment. Land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated. All other 

shorter. Depreciation commences when the asset is available for use. Assets are depreciated over the  
following periods:

Asset class Years

Buildings and structures 10 – 50
Buildings and structures components 5 – 25

3 – 95
Aircraft including components 8 – 15

6 – 75
Port infrastructure 12 – 100
Floating craft including components 5 – 40
Port operating equipment including components 3 – 40

30 – 60
25 – 60

Containers 10 – 20
3 – 15

Machinery, equipment and furniture 3 – 50

appropriate. Changes resulting from this review are accounted for prospectively as changes in estimates. 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds (if any) and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to either earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 
properties under construction for such purposes) and are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
Rental income from investment properties is accounted for as described under the revenue accounting policy.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property following a change in 
its use, any difference arising at the date of transfer between the carrying amount of the item immediately 
prior to transfer and its fair value is treated in the same way as a revaluation under IAS 16 Property, Plant 
and Equipment and is recognised in other comprehensive income if it is a gain. Upon disposal of the item the 
gain is transferred to retained earnings. Any loss arising from the transfer is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss unless it is a reversal of a previous revaluation surplus in which case the loss is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and reduces the existing revaluation surplus.

fair value at the date of the reclassification becomes its deemed cost for subsequent accounting purposes. 
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Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion 

occupied). If these portions could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group 
accounts for the different portions separately as either investment property or property, plant and equipment. 
If the portions are not separable, the entire property is only classified as investment property if an insignificant 

Intangible assets and goodwill
Software and licences

Software and licences are recognised and measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Costs associated with researching or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the development of identifiable software products 
controlled by the Group that will probably generate economic benefits beyond one year and for which the costs 
can be measured reliably, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the software development 
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Costs relating to the acquisition of licences 

Research and development

understanding, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. Development 
costs, arising from the application of the research findings to a plan or design for the production of new 
or substantially improved products and processes are recognised as an asset if, and only if the Group can 
demonstrate all of the following:

The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion of overheads. 

Prefeasibility and feasibility study expenses are classified and accounted for as either research or development 
costs in accordance with the above criteria. 

Capitalised development costs are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 

over their useful lives. Development assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for 
impairment at each reporting date.

Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future 
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred.



Amortisation and impairment

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are not amortised 
but are tested for impairment at each reporting date. 

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 

estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in the estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis. The estimated useful lives for 
the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Licences – term of the licence.

Goodwill

measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the net fair value of the Group’s share in 
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill in 
respect of subsidiaries is tested for impairment annually as well as when there is an indication of impairment. 
For the purpose of impairment testing goodwill is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s 

Any impairment losses recognised are not subsequently reversed.

of the investment and is not tested separately for impairment on an annual basis (ie it is assessed for impairment 

the acquisition of subsidiaries is presented separately on the statement of financial position. 

the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured 

Gain from a bargain purchase

A gain from a bargain purchase represents the excess of the net fair value of the Group’s share in the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the cost of the acquisition.

The gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss, but only after a reassessment of whether all assets and 
liabilities of the acquiree have been identified and the fair values of all the assets acquired, liabilities assumed 
and the consideration given up.

Impairment of non-financial assets

whether there is any indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an asset does not generate cash 

generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
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Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent of the balance in the revaluation 

Calculation of recoverable amount

the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment

reversed in subsequent periods.

In respect of other assets, a previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount 
increases as a result of a change in the estimates previously used to determine the recoverable amount, to an 
amount not higher than the carrying amount that would have resulted, net of depreciation or amortisation had 
no impairment loss been recognised. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation increase.

Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, 
dividends on redeemable preference shares, amortisation of discounts on bonds and foreign exchange gains or 
losses, less amounts capitalised to qualifying assets.

Capitalised borrowing costs

The Group capitalises borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of a qualifying asset, as part of the cost of that asset, until such time that the asset is substantially 

more to get ready for its intended use. 

To the extent that funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the Group 
capitalises the actual borrowing costs incurred on that borrowing during the period less any investment income 
on the temporary investment of the borrowed funds.

To the extent that a qualifying asset is funded via general borrowings, the Group determines borrowing costs 
eligible for capitalisation by applying the weighted average cost of borrowings for the period, other than 
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, to the expenditures on that asset. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss under finance costs in the period in which they are 
incurred.



Finance income
Finance income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected 
life of the financial asset to the asset’s net carrying amount. 

Taxation
Income taxation on profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred taxation. Income taxation is 
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity.

Current taxation

The charge for current taxation is the amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for 

taxation rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided using the statement of financial position method on all temporary differences 
arising between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their taxation 
bases. The following temporary differences are not provided for: 

probable they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The amount of deferred taxation provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of  
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and is calculated using taxation rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred taxation is charged or credited in profit or loss, except 
where it relates to items charged or credited to other comprehensive income or recognised directly in equity. 

A deferred taxation asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available to be utilised against the associated unused taxation losses and deductible temporary differences. 
Deferred taxation assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related taxation benefit 
will be realised. 

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with  
 

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that it will not reverse in the  
foreseeable future.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group has the legal right to and intends to settle its current taxation assets and liabilities on a 
net basis.

In terms of the measurement criteria set out in IAS 12 Income Taxes, the Group has assessed its intention at  
the reporting date on recovering an asset or liability to the extent that this intention influences the rate of 
taxation to be applied in calculating deferred taxation. In this regard, the Group has recognised deferred  
taxation as follows:



Accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Land

As land is deemed to be realised through sale, there is no deferred tax effect on the difference between the tax 
base and the original cost of the land. Deferred taxation is calculated on the difference between the carrying 
amount and the capital gains taxation (CGT) base cost at the CGT rate.

Asset in respect of which no taxation allowances are granted

No deferred taxation is raised in the case where neither the accounting nor the taxation profit is affected. 
Where the asset is revalued, deferred taxation is calculated based on the Group’s intention. Where the intention 
is to sell the asset, deferred taxation is raised at the CGT rate on the difference between the CGT base cost and 
the revalued carrying amount. Where the intention is to use the asset, deferred taxation is raised at the usage 
rate on the difference between the taxation base and the revalued carrying amount.

Asset (other than land) carried at cost

Where an asset is carried under the cost model and a taxation allowance is available to be claimed against the 
asset, deferred taxation is calculated on the difference between the carrying amount and the taxation base at 
the usage rate.

Asset (other than land) carried at the revalued amount with the intention to use

As the future benefits are expected to flow from the use of the assets, deferred taxation is calculated at the 
usage rate on the difference between the taxation base and the revalued carrying amount.

Asset (other than land) carried at the revalued amount with the intention to sell

Where the intention is to recover the benefits of the asset through sale, deferred taxation is calculated at usage 
rate on the difference between the taxation base and the original cost, and at the CGT rate on the difference 
between the CGT base cost and the revalued carrying amount. 

Asset (other than land) carried at the revalued amount with the intention to use and sell

Where the intention is to recover the benefits of the asset through both use and sale, deferred taxation is 
calculated to reflect this intention. Deferred taxation is calculated at the usage rate on the difference between 
the taxation base and the original cost, at the CGT rate on the difference between the CGT base cost and the 
future selling price (residual value), and at the usage rate on the difference between the future selling price and 
revalued carrying amount.

Investment property (other than land) carried at fair value 

Deferred taxation on depreciable investment property (ie buildings) carried at fair value is calculated at the 
usage rate on the difference between the taxation base, where taxation allowances are available, and the 
original cost, and at the CGT rate on the difference between the CGT base cost and the fair value. Where the 

of the asset’s economic benefits over the life of the asset, deferred taxation is calculated at the usage rate on 
the difference between the taxation base and fair value.

Secondary taxation on companies (STC)

STC is provided in respect of the expected dividend payments net of STC credits and is recognised as a taxation 
charge in the year in which the dividend is declared. STC credits on dividends received are recognised as 
deferred taxation assets in the period that they arise limited to the reserves available for distribution. The STC 

STC will be replaced by the dividend taxation system, which will be effective from 1 April 2012.



Dividend taxation

Dividend taxation becomes effective from 1 April 2012 and replaces STC. Dividend taxation will be levied on the 
date of a dividend payment, which is deemed to be the date on which the dividend accrues to the shareholder. 
Dividend taxation will be withheld by the company paying the dividend. An exemption from dividend taxation is 
provided for dividends where the beneficial owner is the Government. 

Financial instruments
Recognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group 
has become party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. The Group applies trade date accounting for 
‘regular way’ purchases and sales of financial assets. 

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans 

the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading and financial assets 
specifically designated into this category on initial recognition. 

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short 
term, is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there 

hedging instrument in an effective hedge or is a financial guarantee contract). 

Financial assets or liabilities may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition when:

otherwise arise from measuring financial assets or liabilities, or recognising gains and losses on them on 

resulting from those financial instruments.

The fair value designation, once made, is irrevocable.

Loans and receivables

Group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and cash and cash equivalents in the 
statement of financial position.

Available-for-sale financial assets

assets unless the investment matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12 months of the end of 
the reporting period, in which case they are included in current assets.
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Held-to-maturity financial assets

a fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than assets that 
are included in the other categories above.

Measurement

Financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or a financial 
liability not carried at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price, ie 
the fair value of the consideration given or received, unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by 

Where the transaction price does not provide the best evidence of fair value at initial recognition, the financial 
instrument is initially measured at the transaction price and any difference between this price and the value 
initially obtained from a valuation model is subsequently recognised in profit or loss on the basis of the 
individual facts and circumstances of the transaction but not later than when the valuation is supported wholly 

Subsequent to initial recognition these instruments are measured as set out below.

Investments; including subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates

substantially similar investment or the present value of expected future cash flows of the net asset base for 

associates are carried at cost less a provision for impairment where appropriate.

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. Amortised 

Derivative instruments and hedge accounting 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, which include futures, forward exchange and currency option 
contracts, cross currency and interest rate swaps and interest rate options to hedge its exposures arising from 
operational, financing and investment activities.

instruments for speculative purposes. 

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or non–derivative host contracts are treated as separate 

host contracts are not carried at fair value through profit or loss. The Group assesses whether an embedded 
derivative is required to be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a standalone derivative when 
the Group first becomes a party to the contract. Subsequent reassessment is only performed by the Group if 
there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that otherwise would be 
required under the contract.



Subsequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. The fair value 

in a cash flow hedge, refer below). The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group 

the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. The fair value of the forward exchange contracts is 

The Group applies fair value and cash flow hedge accounting to qualifying hedge relationships in accordance 
with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement by designating certain derivatives as hedges 
of the variability in the fair value of recognised assets, liabilities or unrecognised firm commitments (fair value 

assets, liabilities or highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges). At the inception of the hedge 
relationship, the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item is documented, along with 

inception of the hedge relationship and on an ongoing basis, the Group assesses whether the hedging instrument 
is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised 
in profit or loss immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset, liability or 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges is initially recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow hedge accounting 
reserve in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The amounts initially recognised in other comprehensive income and included in equity are reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss in the period(s) in which the hedged item affects profit or loss and are included in the 
same line as the hedged item. However, where the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition 

expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. 

Long-term loans and advances

discount or premium on settlement.

Trade and other receivables

cost using the effective interest method. Allowances for irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or 

between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The allowance accounts in respect of trade and loan receivables are used to record impairment losses unless 
the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount is possible, in which case the amount is considered 
irrecoverable and is written off against the financial asset directly.

The Group renegotiates terms for financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired in instances 
where the debtor provides evidence of the ability to meet the obligations in terms of the renegotiated terms. 

financial assets.
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Cash and cash equivalents

cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

Financial liabilities

After initial recognition, financial liabilities other than financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and the resultant gains and 

Interest-bearing borrowings

 
and redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest 
rate basis.

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss represent a portion of the Group’s bonds 

the bonds remain attractive to investors. Positions in Group’s bonds are hedged with opposite positions in 
Government or Corporate bonds. These bonds are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value 

Trade payables and accruals

Liabilities for trade and other amounts payable which are settled within normal terms are stated at  
amortised cost.

Impairment of financial assets

asset or group of financial assets may be impaired. If such evidence exists, the estimated recoverable amount 
of the asset (or group of assets) is determined and an impairment loss is recognised for the difference between 
the recoverable amount and the carrying amount as follows:

 For financial assets held at either cost or amortised cost – the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
discounted estimated recoverable amount (present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate), and the resulting loss is recognised in profit or loss for the period. 
Receivables with a short duration are not discounted. Assets that are assessed not to be impaired 

impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an 
increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 30 days, as well 
as observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

the cumulative loss that was previously recognised in other comprehensive income is removed from equity and 
recognised in profit or loss for the period even though the financial asset has not been derecognised.



an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. The impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no 
impairment loss has been recognised.

an event occurring after the impairment loss was originally recognised in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss in respect of an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at fair value because its 

reversed in subsequent periods. 

Offset

Where a legally enforceable right of offset exists for recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and 
there is an intention to settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, or settle on a net basis, all 
related financial effects are offset.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or equity according to their 
substance and the definitions of financial liabilities and equity.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recognised at the fair value of the proceeds received, net 
of direct issue costs.

Gains and losses on financial instruments

Net gains or net losses on:

Available-for-sale financial assets

recognised in profit and loss when the right to receive payment is established. Impairment losses are recognised 
in profit or loss for the period.

Loans and receivables and financial assets held-to-maturity represent impairment losses or reversal of 
impairment losses, interest earned on outstanding balances, as well as gains or losses recognised on derecognition 
of the asset. These gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss for the period under finance costs.

Financial assets and liabilities held-for-trading

the fair value line.

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit and loss

are recognised in profit and loss for the period on the fair value line.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost represent the amortisation of discounts on or premiums given/received, 
interest costs as well as any derecognition gains or losses on these liabilities. Gains or losses on liabilities held 
at amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss for the period under finance costs.
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Derecognition

Financial assets (or a portion thereof) are derecognised when the Group’s rights to the cash flows expire, or 

Group loses control of the financial asset. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the 

equity are included in the consolidated profit or loss.

Financial liabilities (or a portion thereof) are derecognised when the obligations specified in the contract are 
discharged, cancelled or expire. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying value of the financial liability, 
including related unamortised costs, and settlement amounts paid is included in the consolidated profit or loss.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated net realisable value. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less all estimated costs of completion 
and selling.

Cost is determined as follows:

plus direct labour cost and an appropriate portion of related manufacturing overhead cost, based on normal 
capacity.

Write downs to net realisable value and inventory losses are expensed in the period in which the write downs or 
losses occur.

Construction contracts
Construction contract balances represent the gross unbilled amount expected to be collected from customers 

allocation of fixed and variable overheads incurred in the Group’s contract activities based on normal  
operating capacity.

position. Where payments received from customers exceed the income recognised, the difference is presented 
as deferred income in the statement of financial position.

Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale and discontinued operations

principally through a sale transaction rather than continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the 
sale is highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed 
sale within one year from the date of classification.

fair value less costs to sell.

assets were carried at revalued amounts. The same applies to gains and losses on subsequent measurement. 
A gain or subsequent increase in fair value less costs to sell may not exceed the cumulative impairment losses 
previously recognised in terms of IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations or  
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.



business or geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resell.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to  

discontinued operation.

requirement of the standard, and management believes that the delay was caused by events or circumstances 
beyond the Group’s control and there is sufficient evidence that the Group remains committed to its plan to sell 

Share capital
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net 
of taxation, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares for the 
acquisition of a business are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

When share capital is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, is 
deducted from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from 
the total equity until they are cancelled, reissued or disposed of.

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

Employee benefits
The Group operates several defined benefit funds and a defined contribution fund. The assets of each scheme 
are held separately from those of the Group and are administered by the schemes’ trustees. The defined benefit 
funds are actuarially valued for accounting purposes by professional independent consulting actuaries on an 
annual basis.

Defined contribution fund

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution fund are recognised in profit or loss in the period to which 
they relate.

Defined benefit funds

The benefit costs and obligations under the defined benefit funds are determined separately for each fund using 

are recognised in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by the 

until the benefit becomes vested. To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

the fair value of plan assets. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to the unrecognised past service 
cost plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in the future contributions to the plan.

Post-retirement medical benefits

benefit costs are determined through annual actuarial valuations by independent consulting actuaries using the 



Accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Short- and long-term benefits

contributions is recognised in the period in which the employee renders the related service.

retirement medical benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal 
retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  
The Group recognises termination benefits when it has demonstrated its commitment to either terminate the 
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to 
provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

Leases
Group as a lessee

ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leased assets and the related liabilities recognised at the 
commencement of the lease term at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to 
achieve a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. The corresponding rental 

The interest element of the finance lease payment is recognised in profit or loss or capitalised to qualifying 
assets over the lease period if the relevant criteria are met. Any contingent rentals are charged as expenses 
in the period in which they are incurred. Property, plant and equipment acquired under a finance lease are 
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net of any incentives received from the lessor, 

period of the lease.

The Group capitalises all leasehold improvements and depreciates them over their useful life or the remaining 
period of the lease (if shorter). 

Group as a lessor

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the Group derecognises the leased asset and recognises the 
net investment in the lease as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value 
of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is recognised over the term of the 
lease using the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

Assets leased to third parties under operating leases are included under property, plant and equipment (or 
investment property where applicable) in the statement of financial position. They are depreciated over their 
expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar owned property, plant and equipment. Rental income 

Sale and leaseback

carrying value is deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period of the lease.



value, any excess or deficit of the sale proceeds over the carrying values of the assets sold is recognised in 
profit or loss in the year in which it arises. If the deficit is compensated for by future lease payments at below 

which the asset is expected to be used. If the sale price is above fair value, the excess over fair value shall be 
deferred and amortised over the period for which the asset is expected to be used.

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

The Group ensures that the following two requirements are met, in order for an arrangement transacted by the 
Group to be classified as a lease in terms of IAS 17 Leases:

the right to control the use of the underlying asset. This will be the case if any one of the following conditions 
are met:

 –  The purchaser has the ability or right to operate the asset or direct others to operate the asset in a 
manner it determines while obtaining or controlling more than an insignificant amount of the output or 

 –  The purchaser has the ability or right to control physical access to the asset while obtaining or controlling 

insignificant amount of the output or other utility of the asset and the price that the purchaser will pay for 

at the time of delivery. 

The Group’s assessment of whether an arrangement contains a lease is made at the inception of the 
arrangement, with reassessment occurring in the event of limited changes in circumstances as specified by 
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation. Where the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that the reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Warranties

A provision for warranties is recognised when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is based 
on historical warranty data and a weighting of all possible outcomes against their associated probabilities.
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Restructuring

A provision for restructuring costs is recognised when the Group has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring 
and the Group has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting 
to implement that plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. Restructuring provisions only 
include those direct expenditures which are necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with 
the ongoing activities of the Group. Future operating costs are not provided for.

Environmental rehabilitation and environmental obligations

In accordance with the Group’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for environmental 

The provision includes the estimated rehabilitation costs for the historical contamination caused by asbestos as 
well as costs for the rehabilitation caused by ferromanganese, manganese, mixed soil (including chrome, sulphur and 
manganese), fuel and rubble contamination.

Decommissioning liabilities
A provision for the dismantling and removal of an item of property, plant and equipment and restoring the site 
is recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) to decommission the asset and 
restore the site on which the asset is located. 

Decommissioning costs where the obligation arises as a result of either having acquired or constructed the 
asset or as a consequence of having used the asset in the current and/or prior periods for purposes other than 
to produce inventories are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. Where the obligation arises as a result of 
having used the asset to produce inventories, the decommissioning costs are recognised as part of the cost of 
the inventory. The provision is computed by discounting estimated future cash flows required to dismantle and 
remove the item and to restore the site. These estimates are reviewed at least annually. 

The effect of subsequent changes to assumptions in estimating an obligation for which the provision was 

which did not relate to the initial acquisition or construction of a related asset are charged to the income statement.

Environmental liabilities
These obligations arise from environmental legislation which requires the Group to remove waste material 
and remediate land contaminated by asbestos, ferromanganese, manganese, mixed soil (including chrome, 

accounting policies’ for more details on the determination of these liabilities.

These estimates are reviewed at least annually. The effect of subsequent changes to assumptions in estimating 
the obligation is recognised prospectively in the income statement as a change in accounting estimate.

Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the unavoidable costs of meeting the Group’s obligations 
under a contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under the contract.

Other provisions

are recognised when they meet the recognition requirements as per IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets.



Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are (a) possible obligations of the Group that arise from past events whose existence will 

the control of the Group, or (b) present obligations that arise from past events and it is either not probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the amount 
of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in 
the financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements unless the probability of 
occurrence is remote.

Contingent assets

Contingent assets are possible assets of the Group that arise from past events and whose existence will 

within the control of the Group. Contingent assets are not recognised in the financial statements and are only 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Financial guarantees 

original or modified terms of the debt instrument. The Group recognises financial guarantee contracts initially 
at fair value. Subsequently these are recognised at the higher of:

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent  
Assets

with IAS 18 Revenue.

Legal claims

A provision for legal claims is recognised when all the recognition criteria for provisions above are met and is 

Compensation receivable
Compensation receivable from third parties such as insurance companies in respect of assets that are impaired, 
lost or given up or for any other loss incurred is recognised in profit or loss when, and only when, it is virtually 
certain that the payment will be received and the amount can be measured reliably. 

Segment disclosure
For management purposes, the Group is organised into five Operating divisions based on their products and/or 
services, which form the basis of reporting segment information in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments. 
Further information on the operations of the Operating divisions is available in the Operational review report.

segments are identified based on quantitative thresholds of revenue, profit or loss and assets.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis, similar to transactions with third 

segment transactions’ column of the segment report.

Related-party transactions
Transactions with related parties are conducted on an arm’s length basis similar to transactions with  
third parties.
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Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million Notes

2012
R million

2011
R million

Continuing operations

 37 924  45 866 Revenue 2  45 900  37 952 

 (22 178)  (26 983)

Net operating expenses excluding depreciation  
and amortisation 3  (27 018)  (22 189)

 15 746  18 883 

Profit from operations before depreciation, 

amortisation and the items listed below  18 882  15 763 
 (7 294)  (8 355) Depreciation and amortisation 4.1  (8 355)  (7 184)
 8 452  10 528 Profit from operations before the items listed below 4.2  10 527  8 579 

 (536)  (367) Impairment of assets 4.4  (342)  (537)
  26   2 Dividends received 4.5 –  – 

 (155)   31 Post-retirement benefit obligation income/(costs) 4.6 31  (155)
  625  (202) Fair value adjustments 5 (202)   625 

   (Loss)/income from associates and joint ventures 13 (6)   58 
 8 412  9 992 Profit from operations before net finance costs  10 008  8 570 

 (3 441)  (4 254) Finance costs 6  (4 255)  (3 439)
  536   462 Finance income 7   488   561 

 5 507  6 200 Profit before taxation  6 241  5 692 
 (1 510)  (2 110) Taxation 8  (2 122)  (1 508)
 3 997 4 090 Profit for the year from continuing operations 4 119 4 184

Discontinued operations

(74) – Loss from discontinued operations 1 –  (71)
3 923 4 090 Profit for the year 4 119 4 113

Income statements 
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Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million Note

2012
R million

2011
R million

3 923  4 090 Profit for the year  4 119 4 113
Other comprehensive income

–  –   
Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
operations   1  (6)

 8 772  2 942 Gains on revaluations  2 899  8 690 
  65  (61) (Loss)/gain on cash flow hedges  (61)   65 

 (204)  (501) Actuarial loss on post-retirement benefit obligations  (501)  (204)
 8 633  2 380  2 338  8 545 

 (2 360) (713)
Taxation relating to components of other 
comprehensive income 8.1  (702)  (2 339)

 6 273  1 667 
Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of taxation  1 636  6 206 

10 196  5 757 Total comprehensive income for the year  5 755 10 319 

Statements of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 March 2012



Disclosure of components of other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million Notes

2012
R million

2011
R million

 6 373  2 074 Net gains on revaluation reserve  2 042  6 312 
 8 772  2 942 Gains on revaluations  2 899  8 690 

  310   166  – Gain on revaluation of pipeline networks 22   166   310 
 8 210  2 730  – Gain on revaluation of port facilities 22  2 730  8 210 

(12)  (25)
 –  Decommissioning restoration liability 

adjustment 22  (25) (12)

  264   71 
 –  Net gain on revaluation of land, buildings 

and structures 22   71   264 
 –    –   –   Loss on revaluation of other investments 22  (43) (82)

 (2 399)  (868) Taxation effect of revalued items 8.1  (857)  (2 378)
  47  (44) Net (loss)/gain on cash flow hedging reserve  (44)   47 
  65  (61)  – (Loss)/gain on cash flow hedges 22  (61)   65 

 (18)   17 
 –  Taxation effect of cash flow hedge loss/

(gain) 8.1   17 (18)

 –    –   
Net movement on foreign currency translation 
reserve 22   1 (6)

(147) (363)
Net actuarial loss on post-retirement  benefit 
obligations (363) (147)

(204) (501)
Actuarial loss on post-retirement benefit 
obligations 22 (501) (204)

(190) (220)
 –  Actuarial loss on the Transport Pension 

Fund: Transnet Sub-Fund 32.1.2 (220) (190)

(7) (147)
 –  Actuarial loss on the Transnet Second 

Defined Benefit Pension Fund 32.1.3 (147) (7)

  1 (9)
 –  Actuarial (loss)/gain on the Transnet Top 

Management Pension Fund 32.1.4 (9)   1 

(22) (72)
 –  Actuarial loss on the Transnet Workmen's 

Compensation Act pensioners 32.1.4 (72) (22)

  4 (49)

 –  Actuarial (loss)/gain on the Transnet  
SATS Pensioner’s post-retirement  
medical benefits 32.2.1 (49)   4 

  10 (4)
 –  Actuarial (loss)/gain on the Transnet 

employees medical benefits 32.2.2 (4)   10 
  57   138 Taxation effect of net actuarial loss 8.1   138   57 

 6 273  1 667 Other comprehensive income for the year  1 636  6 206 



Company Group

2010
R million

2011
R million

2012
R million Notes

2012
R million

2011
R million

2010
R million

 Assets  
 Non-current assets

 113 689  137 836  155 953 Property, plant and equipment 9  155 953  137 836  113 579 
 6 604  7 368  7 732 Investment properties 10  7 732  7 368  6 604 

  421   464   586 Intangible assets 11   586   464   421 
  246   245   222 Investments in subsidiaries 12

  10   13   12 Investments in associates and joint ventures 13   72   81   21 
  11   15   467 Derivative financial assets 14   467   15   11 
  37   11   2 Long-term loans and advances 15   2   11   37 

  172   468   568 Other investments and long-term financial assets 16   568   468   172 
121 190 146 420 165 542 165 380 146 243 120 845

 Current assets

 2 048  2 257  2 591 Inventories 17  2 591  2 257  2 048 
 5 880  5 501  5 613 Trade and other receivables 18  5 615  5 503  5 859 

 –     306   214 Current taxation asset   209   303  –   
  28   30   35 Derivative financial assets 14   35   30   28 

 1 670  1 566  2 755 Other short-term investments 16  2 755  1 566  1 670 
 7 632  10 606   898 Cash and cash equivalents 19  1 189  10 876  7 918 

 17 258  20 266  12 106 12 394 20 535 17 523
  267   150   132 Assets classified as held-for-sale 20 231 292 517

 17 525  20 416  12 238  12 625  20 827  18 040 
 138 715  166 836  177 780 Total assets 178 005  167 070  138 885 

 Equity and liabilities  
 Capital and reserves

 12 661  12 661  12 661 Issued capital 21  12 661  12 661  12 661 
 50 637  60 833  66 590 Reserves 22  66 760  61 005  50 686 
 63 298  73 494  79 251 Attributable to the equity holder  79 421  73 666  63 347 

 Non-current liabilities

 3 451  3 232  3 322 Employee benefits 23  3 322  3 232  3 451 
 42 732  50 450  52 564 Long-term borrowings 24  52 566  50 452  42 736 

  366   558   82 Derivative financial liabilities 14   82   558   366 
 1 054  1 174  1 626 Long-term provisions 25  1 626  1 174  1 054 

 12 413  15 383  18 029 Deferred taxation liabilities 26  18 050  15 415  12 473 
  99  1 829  4 200 Other non-current liabilities 16  4 200  1 829   99 

 60 115  72 626 79 823 79 846  72 660  60 179 
Current liabilities

 9 493  9 705  11 119 Trade payables and accruals* 28  11 151  9 733  9 533 
 4 698  9 578  5 566 Short-term borrowings 29  5 566  9 578  4 698 

  157  –    –   Current taxation liability  –    –     171 
  183   92   62 Derivative financial liabilities 14   62   92   183 
  694   672   934 Short-term provisions 25   934   672   694 

  65   660  1 025 Other current liabilities* 16  1 025   660   65 
 15 290  20 707  18 706  18 738  20 735  15 344 

  12   9  –   
Liabilities directly associated with assets 
classified as held-for-sale 20  –     9   15 

 15 302  20 716  18 706  18 738  20 744  15 359 
 138 715  166 836  177 780 Total equity and liabilities 178 005  167 070  138 885 

*  Short-term deferred income relating to regulated clawbacks has been reallocated from trade payables and accruals to other current liabilities 
(March 2011: R660 million, March 2010: R65 million for both Company and Group).

Statements of financial position
as at 31 March 2012



Statements of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 March 2012

 Issued
   capital

R million

 Revalua-
tion

 reserve
R million 

 Foreign
 currency

 reserve 
trans-
lation

R million 

 Actuarial 
gains and 

losses 
R million

 Cash
flow 

hedging 
reserve 

R million
 Other

 R million

 Retained
 earnings 
R million

 Total
R million 

Company
Opening balances as at  

1 April 2010  12 661  22 156   –  2 495 (79)   250 25 815 63 298
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  3 923 3 923
Other comprehensive income 
for the year  –  6 373 – (147)   47  – – 6 273
Transfer to retained earnings  – (84)  –  –  –  –   84  – 
–  Gross transfers  – (114)  –  –  –  –   114  – 
–   Taxation effect relating to 

transfers  –   30  –  –  –  – (30)  – 

Balances at 31 March 2011  12 661  28 445 –  2 348 (32)   250  29 822 73 494
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  – 4 090 4 090

Other comprehensive income 
for the year  –  2 074   – (363) (44)  –  – 1 667

Transfer to retained earnings  – (31)  –  –  –  –   31  – 

–  Gross transfers  – (38)  –  –  –  –   38  – 

–   Taxation effect relating to 
transfers  –   7  –  –  –  – (7)  – 

Balances at 31 March 2012  12 661  30 488   –  1 985 (76) 250 33 943 79 251

Group
Opening balances as at  

1 April 2010  12 661  22 319   25  2 495 (79)   249  25 677  63 347 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  4 113  4 113 
Other comprehensive income 
for the year  –  6 312 (6) (147)   47  –  6 206 
Transfer to retained earnings  – (84)  –  –  –  –   84  – 
–  Gross transfers  – (114)  –  –  –  –   114  – 
–    Taxation effect relating to 

transfers  –   30  –  –  –  – (30)  – 

Balances at 31 March 2011  12 661  28 547   19  2 348 (32)   249  29 874  73 666 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  4 119  4 119 

Other comprehensive income 
for the year  –  2 042   1 (363) (44)  –  –  1 636 

Transfer to retained earnings  – (31)  –  –  –  –   31  – 

–  Gross transfers  – (38)  –  –  –  –   38  – 

–    Taxation effect relating to 
transfers  –   7  –  –  –  – (7)  – 

Balances at 31 March 2012  12 661  30 558   20  1 985 (76)   249  34 024  79 421 



Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million Notes

2012
R million

2011
R million

13 176 17 887 Cash flows from operating activities 17 910 13 159
 16 150 20 613 Cash generated from operations 34.1 20 616  16 159 

 1 315  1 315 Security of supply petroleum levy 1 315  1 315 
  827   777 Changes in working capital 34.2   781   792 

 18 292  22 705 

Cash generated from operations after working 

capital changes  22 712  18 266 
 (3 428)  (4 233) Finance costs 34.3  (4 233)  (3 428)

  441   381 Finance income 34.4   407   466 
 (1 363)  (85) Taxation paid 34.5  (95)  (1 379)

 (268)  (270) Settlement of post-retirement benefit obligations  (270)  (268)
 (498)  (611) Derivatives raised and settled  (611)  (498)

(22 993) (24 659) Cash flows utilised in investing activities (24 661) (23 018)
 (10 263)  (11 465) Investment to maintain operations  (11 467)  (10 288)
 (10 101)  (10 331) Replacements to property, plant and equipment  (10 331)  (10 101)

 (21)  (88) Additions to intangible assets  (88)  (21)
 (322)  (36) Borrowing costs capitalised  (36)  (322)

  301   105 

Proceeds on the disposal of property, plant and 
equipment   105   301 

  8   92 Proceeds on the disposal of investment property   92   8 
  1  –   Net proceeds on the disposal of subsidiary 34.6  –     1 

  26   2 Dividend income  –     1 
 ( 3)  (1) Net advances of long-term loans and advances  (1)  (3)

 (152)  (1 208) Increase in other investments  (1 208)  (152)
 (12 730)  (13 194) Investment to expand operations  (13 194)  (12 730)
 (11 292)  (11 585) Expansions – property, plant and equipment  (11 585)  (11 292)

 (1 438)  (1 609) Borrowing costs capitalised  (1 609)  (1 438)
 12 791 (2 936) Cash flows (utilised in)/from financing activities (2 936) 12 791
 18 418  11 110 Borrowings raised  11 110  18 418 

(5 627)  (14 046) Borrowings repaid  (14 046)  (5 627)

 2 974  (9 708) Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (9 687)  2 932 

 7 632  10 606 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the year  10 876  7 944 

 10 606   898 

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end  

of the year 34.7  1 189  10 876 

Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2012



Segmental report 
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Continuing operations#

Freight
Rail

R million

Rail
Engineering

R million

For the year ended 31 March 2012

External revenue* 27 371 1 477

Internal revenue 287 9 789

Total revenue 27 658 11 266

Energy costs (3 252) (198)

Maintenance costs (3 438) (233)

Material costs (459) (4 657)

Personnel costs (7 488) (4 514)

Other costs (2 480) (622)

Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 10 541 1 042

Depreciation and amortisation (5 368) (169)

Impairment of assets (58) 2

Dividends received and loss from associates – –

Fair value adjustments and post-retirement benefit obligations 7 (21)

Finance costs (1 613) (184)

Finance income 44 18

Profit before taxation 3 553 688

Total assets## 65 851 8 400

Total liabilities## 38 712 5 179

Capital expenditure*** 14 792 722

Cash generated from operations after working capital changes 13 056 1 298

EBITDA margin (%) 38,1% 9,2%

Number of employees### 26 850 12 572

For the year ended 31 March 2011

External revenue* 22 310 661
Internal revenue 297 8 665
Total revenue 22 607 9 326
Energy costs (2 533) (146)
Maintenance costs (2 949) (145)
Material costs (436) (3 630)
Personnel costs (6 555) (3 719)
Other costs (1 990) (535)
Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 8 144 1 151
Depreciation and amortisation (4 602) (171)
Impairment of assets (228) 1
Dividends received and income from associates and joint ventures 12
Fair value adjustments and post-retirement benefit obligation costs 47 (13)
Finance costs (1 493) (213)
Finance income 45 29
Profit before taxation 1 925 784
Total assets## 55 466 6 944
Total liabilities## 33 925 3 802
Capital expenditure*** 12 542 532
Cash generated from operations after working capital changes 7 660 1 588
EBITDA margin (%) 36,0 12,3
Number of employees### 23 665 13 001
*   Revenue from segments below the quantitative thresholds is attributable to two operating segments of Transnet. Those segments include 

Transnet Property that manages internal and external leases of commercial and residential property and Transnet Capital Projects.
#   A reconciliation between total reportable segments measure of profit or loss and the Group profit or loss before taxation and discontinued operations is 

included on the face of the income statement.    



National 
Ports

Authority
R million

Port
Terminals

R million
Pipelines
R million

Total for
reportable 

segments
R million

All other
 segments 
and other 

adjustments** 
R million

Elimination of
intersegment
 transactions

R million
Total 

R million

7 423 7 053 2 093 45 417 483 – 45 900

834 2 3 10 915 3 625 (14 540) –

8 257 7 055 2 096 56 332 4 108 (14 540) 45 900

(274) (379) (154) (4 257) (189) – (4 446)

(275) (248) (44) (4 238) (121) 3 928 (431)

(67) (316) (12) (5 511) (368) 3 572 (2 307)

(1 440) (2 519) (266) (16 227) (2 082) 4 246 (14 063)

(448) (1 382) (118) (5 050) (2 562) 1 841 (5 771)

5 753 2 211 1 502 21 049 (1 214) (953) 18 882

(1 248) (1 133) (383) (8 301) (187) 133 (8 355)

(5) (15) 12 (64) (278) – (342)

– – – – (6) – (6)

260 17 1 264 (435) – (171)

(1 433) (362) 148 (3 444) (7 142) 6 331 (4 255)

6 47 2 117 6 702 (6 331) 488

3 333 765 1 282 9 621 (2 560) (820) 6 241

64 313 13 504 24 760 176 828 10 639 (9 693) 177 774

33 598 7 084 14 674 99 247 4 988 (5 651) 98 584

1 749 1 472 4 507 23 242 1 (984) 22 259

7 440 2 506 2 917 27 217 (4 505) n/a 22 712

69,7% 31,3% 71,7% 37,4% n/a n/a 41,1%

3 422 6 211 631 49 686 1 236 n/a 50 922

7 343 6 349 1 128 37 791 161 – 37 952
718 2 1 9 683 2 680 (12 363) –

8 061 6 351 1 129 47 474 2 841 (12 363) 37 952
(215) (273) (56) (3 223) (161) – (3 384)
(254) (208) (40) (3 596) (192) 3 364 (424)

(63) (257) (11) (4 397) (238) 3 059 (1 576)
(1 180) (2 048) (217) (13 719) (1 758) 3 637 (11 840)

(483) (1 377) (108) (4 493) (2 059) 1 587 (4 965)
5 866 2 188 697 18 046 (1 567) (716) 15 763

(997) (998) (330) (7 098) (176) 90 (7 184)
(14) (80) (12) (333) (204) – (537)

– – – 12 54 (8) 58
369 (26) 2 379 91 – 470

(1 236) (417) – (3 359) (6 707) 6 627 (3 439)
2 61 118 255 6 933 (6 627) 561

3 990 728 475 7 902 (1 576) (634) 5 692
60 956 12 856 19 355 155 577 19 314 (8 113) 166 778
29 850 6 637 13 530 87 744 10 684 (5 033) 93 395

2 031 866 6 077 22 048 177 (721) 21 504
6 770 2 424 3 450 21 892 (3 626) n/a 18 266

72,8 34,5 61,7 38,0 n/a n/a 41,5
3 535 5 867 567 46 635 1 128 n/a 47 763

**  Other adjustments include the Corporate Centre functions.
***  Excludes capitalised borrowing costs, includes capitalised finance leases and capitalised decommissioning liabilities.
##  Excludes assets and liabilities held-for-sale.
###  Includes permanent employees only.



Notes to the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million Notes

2012
R million

2011
R million

Continuing operations

 35 593  37 924 Revenue 2  37 952  35 610 

 (21 160)  (22 178)

Net operating expenses excluding depreciation  
and amortisation 3  (22 189)  (21 201)

 14 433  15 746 

Profit from operations before depreciation, 

amortisation and items listed below  15 763  14 409 
 (6 089)  (7 294) Depreciation and amortisation 4.1  (7 184)  (6 089)
 8 344  8 452 Profit from operations before the items listed below 4.2  8 579  8 320 

 (774)  (536) Impairment of assets 4.4  (537)  (778)
  8   26 Dividends received 4.5 – –

 (180)  (155) Post-retirement benefit obligation costs 4.6  (155)  (180)
 (18)   625 Fair value adjustments 5   625  (18)

Income from associates and joint ventures 13   58   5 
 7 380  8 412 Profit from operations before net finance costs  8 570  7 349 

 (3 018)  (3 441) Finance costs 6  (3 439)  (3 014)
  556   536 Finance income 7   561   578 

 4 918  5 507 Profit before taxation 5 692  4 913 
 (1 745)  (1 510) Taxation 8  (1 508)  (1 763)
 3 173  3 997 Profit for the year from continuing operations 4 184  3 150 

Discontinued operations

 (128)  (74) Loss from discontinued operations 1  (71)  (128)
 3 045 3 923 Profit for the year 4 113  3 022 

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

1. Discontinued operations

 

The loss from discontinued operations, including loss on 
disposal of discontinued operations and impairments, 
comprises:  

 (41)  – Loss from discontinued operations (refer below) –  (41)

 (32)  – 

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, net of 

taxation (refer note 4.3) –  (29)
 (1) – Impairments –  (1)

(74) – –  (71)
Loss from discontinued operations

  36  – Revenue (refer note 2)  – 36

 (77)  – 

Net operating expenses excluding depreciation and 
amortisation (refer note 3)  –  (77)

 (41)  – 

Loss from operations before depreciation and 

amortisation and the items listed below  –  (41)
 –  – Depreciation and amortisation  –  – 

 (41)  – Loss from operations before the items listed below  –  (41)
 –  – Reversal of impairment of assets  –  – 
 –  – Fair value adjustments  –  – 

 (41)  – Loss from operations before net finance costs  –  (41)
 –  – Finance costs  –  – 
 –  – Finance income (refer note 7)  –  – 

 (41)  – Loss before taxation  –  (41)
 –  – Taxation  –  – 

 (41)  – Net loss for the year  –  (41)

 
(For details of which entities are discontinued, refer 
annexure C.)  

2. Revenue
 36 463  43 669 Rendering of services  43 703  36 491 

 1 092  1 210 Rental income  1 210  1 092 
  12   20 Finance income from lending activities   20   12 

  393   967 Construction contracts (refer note 27)   967   393 

 37 960  45 866  45 900  37 988 
 (36)  – Discontinued operations  –  (36)

 37 924  45 866 Continuing operations  45 900  37 952 

Notes to the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2012



Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

3. Net operating expenses excluding 
depreciation and amortisation

  229   314 Accommodation and refreshments   314   229 
  431   662 Electronic data costs   662   431 

 3 384  4 446 Energy costs  4 446  3 384 
  259   300 Health and sanitation   300   259 
  216   262 Insurance   262   216 
  424   431 Maintenance costs   431   424 
  740   806 Managerial and technical consulting fees (refer note 4.2)   806   740 

 1 576  2 307 Material costs  2 307  1 576 
 1 482  1 493 Operating leases (refer note 4.2)  1 493  1 482 

 11 840  14 063 Personnel costs  14 063  11 840 
  58 79 Printing and stationery   79   58 

 (33)  (39)

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
(refer note 4.2)  (39)  (33)

  128   167 Promotions and advertising   167   128 
  641   713 Security   713   641 
  202   232 Telecommunications   232   202 

  65   90 Transport   90   65 
  46   71 Research and development costs (refer note 4.2)   71   46 

  567   586 Other costs   621   578 

 22 255  26 983  27 018  22 266 

 (77)  – Discontinued operations  –  (77)

 22 178  26 983 Continuing operations  27 018  22 189 



Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

4.1 Depreciation and amortisation
 Depreciation and derecognition (refer annexure B)

 5 221  6 058 Depreciation – Owned assets at historic cost  6 058 5 161
  22   22 Aircraft   22   22 

 –   108 Floating craft   108 –
  513   602 Land, buildings and structures   602   513 
  500   491 Machinery, equipment and furniture   491   498 
  548   777 Permanent way and works   777   493 

 3 601  4 028 Rolling stock and containers  4 028  3 597 
  37   30 Vehicles   30   38 

 1 818  1 983 Depreciation – Owned assets revalued portion  1 983 1 768
  311   355 Pipeline networks   355 306

 1 507  1 628 Port facilities  1 628 1 462
  95   114 Depreciation – Leased assets at historic cost   114 95
  55   67 Rolling stock and containers   67 55
  14   14 Machinery, equipment and furniture   14 14
  26   33 Permanent way and works   33 26

 7 134  8 155 Continuing operations  8 155 7 024
Amortisation of intangible assets (refer note 11)

  160   200 Software and licences 200 160

  160   200 Continuing operations 200 160
 7 294  8 355 Total depreciation and amortisation 8 355 7 184



Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

4.2 Profit from operations before impairment of 
assets, dividends received, post retirement 
benefit obligation income/(costs), fair value 
adjustments and (loss)/income from 
associates and joint ventures

is stated after taking into account the  
following amounts:
Auditors’ remuneration

Group auditors

  62 67 Audit fees   67 62
  2  – Audit fees – prior year underprovision  – 2

  17   13 Fees for audit related and other services   13 17
  2   1 Expenses   1 2

  83   81 Continuing operations   81 83

Managerial and technical consulting fees

740 806 Continuing operations 806 740

Operating lease charges

  760   879 Land, buildings and structures   879 760
  530   539 Vehicles 539 530

55 55 Rolling stock 55 55
  137   20 Other   20 137

 1 482  1 493 Continuing operations  1 493 1 482

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(33) (39) Continuing operations  (39) (33)

Research and development costs

46 71 Continuing operations 71 46

Directors' and executives' emoluments (full details are 

disclosed in the Report of the Directors)

  27 22 Executive Directors 22 27
  6 8 Non-executive Directors 8 6

  91 101 Senior executives 101 91
  124 131 Continuing operations 131 124



Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

  2012
R million 

2011
R million

4.3 Loss on disposal of discontinued operations, 
net of taxation

38 – Loss on disposal of freightdynamics – 38
(6) – Profit on disposal of other – (9)

32 – Discontinued operations – 29

4.4 Impairment of assets
  291   150 Property, plant and equipment (refer annexure B)   150   291 

 (4)   26 

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of associates and 
subsidiaries   1  (3)

  29   10 Long-term loans and advances (refer note 15)   10   29 
 –  (66) Impairment reversal of assets held-for-sale  (66)  – 

  220   247 Trade and other receivables   247   220 
  536   367 Continuing operations   342   537 

4.5 Dividends received
25 – Dividends from subsidiary

1 2 Dividends from associate
26 2 Continuing operations

4.6 Post-retirement benefit obligation  
(income)/costs

 (172)  (204) Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-Fund  (204)  (172)
 (7)  (147) Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund  (147)  (7)
  7   7 Transnet Top Management Pension Fund   7   7 

  30   32 Transnet Workmen’s Compensation Act pensioners   32   30 

  79   69 

Transnet SATS Pensioners’ post-retirement medical 
benefits   69   79 

  58   62 Transnet employees’ post-retirement medical benefits   62   58 

  160   150 

Other post-retirement and medical benefits  
(refer note 23)   150   160 

155 (31) Continuing operations (31) 155



Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

5. Fair value adjustments
 (100)  27 Derivative fair value adjustments   27  (100)

  637   353 

Fair value adjustment of investment property  
(refer note 10)   353   637 

  88   (59) Fair value adjustment on firm commitments  (59)   88 

 –  (523) Loss on redemption of T018 bond  (523)  – 

  625   (202) Continuing operations  (202)   625 

6. Finance costs
 (19)  (9) Net foreign exchange gains on translation  (8) (21)

  32   30 Discounts on bonds amortised (refer note 24)   30   32 

  22   19 Finance lease obligation   19   22 

 5 166  5 859 Interest cost – Financial liabilities at amortised cost  5 859  5 166 

 5 201  5 899 Gross finance costs  5 900  5 199 

 (1 760)  (1 645) Borrowing costs capitalised*  (1 645)  (1 760)

 3 441  4 254 Continuing operations  4 255  3 439 
*  The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed 

generally is 9,86% per annum (2011: 9,83% per annum).

7. Finance income
  391   310 Interest received – Bank deposits   336   416 

  50   71 Interest received – Loans and receivables   71   50 

  95   81 Interest received – Held-to-maturity   81   95 

  536   462 Continuing operations   488   561 



Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

8. Taxation
South African normal taxation

  900   168 –  Current year   173   898 
– (66) –  Prior year (66) –

Deferred taxation (refer note 26)
  730  1 933 –  Current year  1 933   723 

– 66 –  Prior year 66 –
 (120)  – –  Release of deferred taxation  –  (120)

Capital gains taxation
 –   9 –  Current year   9  – 

Foreign taxation
 –  – –  Current year   7   7 

 1 510  2 110 Continuing operations  2 122  1 508 
% % % %

Reconciliation of taxation rate

 28,00 28,00 Standard rate – South African normal taxation 28,00 28,00
 (0,21) 6,03 Adjustment for differences 6,00 (1,17)
 2,13  2,33 Expenses not included for taxation purposes 2,27 0,97

 (0,13)  (0,03) Exempt local dividends – –
 – 3,73 Capital gains taxation inclusion rate change 3,73 –

 (2,21)  – Release of deferred taxation – (2,14)

27,79 34,03 Effective rate of taxation 34,00 26,83
27,42 34,03 Continuing operations 34,00 26,49

R million R million R million R million

8.1 Taxation recognised in other comprehensive 
income
Arising on the taxation effects of items recognised in 

comprehensive income:

 (84)  (41)

Gains on revaluations of pipeline networks and 
decommisioning restoration liability  (41)  (84)

 (2 300)  (789)

Gains on revaluations of port facilities and 
decommisioning liability  (789)  (2 300)

 (15)  (38) Gains on revaluations of land, buildings and structures  (38)  (15)

 –  – 

Losses on revaluation of investments to market value 
(ALL Group Ltd)   11   21 

 (18)   17 Cash flow hedge losses/(gains)   17  (18)

  57   138 Actuarial losses on post-retirement benefit obligations   138   57 

 (2 360)  (713)

Total taxation recognised in other comprehensive 

income  (702)  (2 339)

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012
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2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

9. Property, plant and equipment  
(refer annexure B)
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical 
cost except for pipeline networks and port facilities, 
which are stated at revalued amounts.

 137 836 155 953 Net book value 155 953  137 836 

 192 157 217 847 Gross carrying value 217 847  192 157 

 (54 321)  (61 894) Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (61 894)  (54 321)

Comprising:

Historical cost

 104 039 112 832 Gross carrying value 112 832  104 039 

  153   153 –  Aircraft   153   153 

 –   2 127 –  Floating craft   2 127  – 

 15 965  18 746 –  Land, buildings and structures  18 746  15 965 

 5 874  6 683 –  Machinery, equipment and furniture 6 683  5 874 

 18 930  23 075 –  Permanent way and works  23 075  18 930 

 39 106  48 136 –  Rolling stock and containers  48 136  39 106 

  809   816 –  Vehicles   816   809 

 23 202  13 096 –  Capital work-in-progress  13 096  23 202 

 (22 817)  (27 367) Accumulated depreciation  (27 367)  (22 817)

 (67)  (89) –  Aircraft  (89)  (67)

 –  (387) –  Floating craft  (387)  – 

 (2 985)  (3 556) –  Land, buildings and structures  (3 556)  (2 985)

 (3 028)  (3 414) –  Machinery, equipment and furniture  (3 414)  (3 028)

 (3 726)  (4 386) –  Permanent way and works  (4 386)  (3 726)

 (12 522)  (15 035) –  Rolling stock and containers  (15 035)  (12 522)

 (489)  (500) –  Vehicles  (500)  (489)

 (617)  (1 287) Accumulated impairment  (1 287)  (617)

 (190)  (159) –  Land, buildings and structures  (159)  (190)

 (53)  (177) –  Machinery, equipment and furniture  (177)  (53)

 (22)  (246) –  Permanent way and works  (246)  (22)

 (274)  (477) –  Rolling stock and containers  (477)  (274)

 (1)  (1) –  Vehicles  (1)  (1)

 (77)  (227) –  Capital work-in-progress  (227)  (77)

80 605 84 178

Net book value of property, plant and equipment stated 

at historical cost 84 178 80 605
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9. Property, plant and equipment  
(refer annexure B) (continued)

Revaluation

 88 181 105 015 Gross carrying value 105 015  88 181 

 13 867  27 846 –  Pipeline networks  27 846  13 867 

 74 314 77 169 –  Port facilities 77 169  74 314 

 (30 144)  (32 429) Accumulated depreciation  (32 429)  (30 144)

 (9 037)  (9 328) –  Pipeline networks  (9 328)  (9 037)

 (21 107)  (23 101) –  Port facilities  (23 101)  (21 107)

 (806)  (811) Accumulated impairment  (811)  (806)

 (217)  (204) –  Pipeline networks  (204)  (217)

 (589)  (607) –  Port facilities  (607)  (589)

 57 231 71 775

Net book value of property, plant and equipment stated 

at revalued amounts 71 775  57 231 

 137 836 155 953 Total net book value 155 953  137 836 
Land, building and structures

A register of land, buildings and structures is available 
for inspection at the registered office of the Company.

During the year, the Group transferred R92 million 
(2011: R143 million) from property, plant and equipment 
to investment properties. The fair values of these 
properties are deemed cost for subsequent accounting 
in accordance with IAS 40. The carrying values of these 
properties were restated to fair value in accordance with 
IAS 16.
Rolling stock

Included in rolling stock are locomotives that were leased 
and leased back. The locomotives are leased to a third 
party, refurbished and then leased to a financier who in 
turn leases the assets back to the Company. This has 
been treated as a structured loan. The loan is secured by 
virtue of the lease agreements and a collateral covering 
bond over the refurbished locomotives. 

1 982 1 805

The book value of the refurbished locomotives which are 
so encumbered amounts to 1 805 1 982

491 520

Included in rolling stock assets are capitalised leased 
assets with a carrying value of 520 491



Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

9. Property, plant and equipment  
(refer annexure B) (continued)

Pipeline networks
The Group’s policy is to perform a revaluation of its pipeline 
networks every three years and apply appropriate valuation 
indices in the intervening years. An external revaluation was 
performed in the prior year, by Arthur D. Little Inc., an 
independent firm of professional valuers on the basis of the 
modern equivalent net asset value. In the current year an 
index revaluation resulted in a net increase of R166 million 
(2011: R310 million) to the carrying value of the Group’s 
pipeline networks, which has been adjusted accordingly.

2 060 1 641 The historic cost carrying values of these assets amount to 1 641 2 060
Port facilities
The Group’s policy is to perform a revaluation of its port 
operating assets and infrastructure every three years and 
apply appropriate valuation indices in the intervening years. 
In the current year, the index revaluation resulted in an 
increase of R2 430 million (2011: R8 136 million) for port 
infrastructure and an increase of R300 million (2011:  
R74 million) for port operating assets.
The estimated replacement cost of port infrastructure 
assets that are subject to revaluation amount to  
R47,3 billion (2011: R45,5 billion) as determined by 
independent valuation experts, however the revaluation 
was limited to the present value of future discounted cash 
flows, amounting to R46,6 billion (2011: R43,4 billion).

18 657 18 305 The historic carrying values of these assets amount to 18 305 18 657
Included in Port facilities are encumbered assets of R1 108 million (2011: R1 222 million) as security for finance leases.
Useful lives and residual values
In terms of IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, the useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment must be 
reviewed at each reporting date. The useful lives are estimated by management based on historic analysis, benchmarking and 
other available information. The residual values are based on the assessment of useful lives and other available information.
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10. Investment properties
 6 604  7 368 Fair value at the beginning of the year  7 368  6 604 

  143   92 

Transferred from property, plant and equipment  
(refer annexure B)   92   143 

  637   353 Recognised in income statement (refer note 5)   353   637 

 –  (5) Disposals  (5)  – 

  1  – Other movements  –   1 

 (17)  (76) Transferred to assets held-for-sale  (76)  (17)

7 368 7 732 Fair value at the end of the year 7 732 7 368

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2012 was arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out at 
that date by Transnet Property valuers.

The valuations, which conform to the Property Valuers Profession Act, No 47 of 2000, were arrived at by capitalising the first 
year’s normalised net operating income at a market derived capitalisation rate.

Various assumptions were made in order to derive the net present value of future cash flows. These assumptions were 
arrived at after wide consultation with subject matter experts.

The more critical assumptions made were:

return rate adjusted to reflect the appropriate risk profile of each individual property.

In limited circumstances where the income capitalisation method was not appropriate, market related information was 
applied to determine the value of the respective investment property.

The gross property rental income earned by the Group from its investment properties, which are leased out under gross 
operating leases, amounted to R1 210 million (2011: R1 092 million). 

Direct operating expenses arising on the investment properties during the year amounted to R325 million  
(2011: R293 million).

No material direct expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising on investment property, that did not generate rental 
income during the period were incurred.
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11. Intangible assets
  464   586 Intangible assets   586   464 

 1 283  1 582 Cost  1 582  1 283 

 (819)  (996) Accumulated amortisation  (996)  (819)

Comprising:

Finite life intangible assets

  464   586 Software and licences: carrying value   586   464 

 1 283  1 582 Cost  1 582  1 283 

 1 083  1 283 Balance at the beginning of the year  1 283  1 145

  21   88 Additions   88   21 

 –   1 Borrowing costs capitalised   1  – 

 (3)  (26) Disposals  (26)  (65)

 –   17 Transferred from assets classified as held-for-sale   17  – 

  182   219 

Transfers in from property, plant and equipment 
(refer annexure B)   219   182 

 (819)  (996) Accumulated amortisation  (996)  (819)

 (662)  (819) Balance at the beginning of the year  (819)  (724)

  3   26 Disposals   26   65 

 (160)  (200) Amortisation  (200)  (160)

 –  (3) Transferred from assets classified as held-for-sale  (3)  – 

  464 586 586   464 
Software and licences are assessed as having a finite 
life and are amortised on a straight-line basis over a 
period of three to five years.

12. Investments in subsidiaries  
(refer annexure D)

  43   262 Shares at carrying value

  603   386 Amounts owing by subsidiaries

  646   648 

 (401)  (426) Provision for impairment and losses 

  245   222 
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13. Investments in associates and joint 
ventures (refer annexure D) 

  13   12   72   81 

  10   13 Balance at the beginning of the year   81   21 

 –  – Equity accounted earnings  (6)   58 

 –  – Dividends received  (2)  (1)

  3 (1) (Impairments)/reversal of impairments  (1)   3 

13 12

Directors' valuation of unlisted investments in 
associates and joint ventures 72 81

(Loss)/income from associates and joint ventures (6) 58

14. Derivative financial assets and liabilities
Both the Company and the Group use approved financial 
instruments, in particular forward exchange contracts, 
cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps to hedge 
the financial risks associated with underlying business 
activities. All derivative financial instruments have been 
measured at fair value with the resulting gain or loss 
taken to the statement of comprehensive income.

  45   502 Derivative financial assets   502   45 

  39   45 Opening balance   45   39 

  78   373 Fair value adjustments   373   78 

 (72) 84 Derivatives raised and settled 84  (72)

  650 144 Derivative financial liabilities   144   650 

  549   650 Opening balance   650   549 

  696   21 Fair value adjustments   21   696 

 (65) –

Recognised in other comprehensive income  
(refer note 22)   –  (65)

  40  – Deferred day one loss  –   40 

 (570)  (527) Derivatives raised and settled  (527)  (570)

 (618)   352 Net fair value adjustments   352  (618)

 (100)   27 Recognised in income statement (refer note 5)   27  (100)

 (356)   (635) Finance costs   (635)  (356)

 (162)   960

Recognised in other comprehensive income  
(refer note 22)   960  (162)
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14. Derivative financial assets and liabilities 
(continued)

Comprise the following financial instruments:

  15   467 Non-current assets   467   15 

  15   15 Forward exchange contracts   15   15 

 –   452 Cross-currency swaps and options   452  – 

  30   35 Current assets   35   30 

  29   35 Forward exchange contracts   35   29 

  1  – Cross-currency swaps and options  –   1 

  558   82 Non-current liabilities   82   558 

  101   82 Forward exchange contracts   82   101 

  457  – Cross-currency swaps and options  –   457 

  92   62 Current liabilities   62   92 

  91   62 Forward exchange contracts   62   91 

  1  – Cross-currency swaps and options  –   1 

Fair value hedges of firm commitments
The Group entered into fair value hedges of the foreign 
exchange risk on firm commitments of the Group to 
import items of equipment (ie locomotives and port 
equipment). The Group is settling the contract price of 
these items by making predetermined progress 
payments (in foreign currency) to the relevant suppliers 
as specified milestones are achieved.

At 31 March 2012, the Group held a series of forward 
exchange contracts as hedging instruments for this 
purpose. These hedges were assessed to be effective. 
The ineffective portion of the hedge has been recorded 
in profit and loss.

The fair values of these forward exchange contracts held 
as hedging instruments at 31 March 2012 are as follows:

 (31) 15 Currency bought forward – Japanese Yen – profit/(loss)   15  (31)

 –  – Currency bought forward – Australian Dollar – loss  –  – 

 (4)  (29) Currency bought forward – United States Dollar – loss  (29)  (4)

 (105)  (94) Currency bought forward – Euro – loss  (94)  (105)
The net fair value gain recognised in profit and loss on 
these fair value hedges during the year was R nil  
(2011: R nil). This net fair value gain comprised a gain  
of R59 million (2011: R78 million) with respect to  
foreign exchange risk on the firm commitments, and a 
loss of R59 million (2011: R78 million) on the forward 
exchange contracts.
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14. Derivative financial assets and 
liabilities (continued)

The nominal values of these forward exchange contracts 
at 31 March 2012 are as follows:

Currency bought forward – Rand equivalent

 1 562   791 Japanese Yen   791  1 562 

  26 –  Australian Dollar  –     26 

  38   914 United States Dollar   914   38 

  577   468 Euro   468   577 

 million million million million

Currency bought forward – foreign currency

 17 046  8 494 Japanese Yen  8 494  17 046 

  4  –   Australian Dollar  –     4 

  5   110 United States Dollar   110   5 

  41   30 Euro   30   41 

Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
On 31 March 2012, the Group was party to cross–currency interest rate swap contracts which are designated as cash flow 
hedges of the foreign exchange rate and interest rate risks associated with foreign currency-denominated borrowings  
listed below.

The borrowings being hedged are; two loans from the Japan Bank for International Cooperation (JBIC) for JPY21,2 billion  
and JPY5,2 billion respectively, the American Family Life Assurance Company of Columbus (AFLAC) Japan Branch for  
JPY15 billion and a US Dollar bond for USD750 million.

Under the hedge for the first tranche of the JBIC loan, the Group pays 11,46% fixed (ZAR) and receives LIBOR +1,48% (JPY). 
Under the hedge for the second tranche of the JBIC loan, the Group pays 9,91% fixed (ZAR) and receives LIBOR +1,48% 
(JPY). Under the hedge for the AFLAC loan, the Group pays 12,22% fixed (ZAR) and receives 2,70% fixed (JPY). Under the 
hedge for the US Dollar bond, the Group pays 10,4% fixed (ZAR) and receives 4,5% fixed (US Dollar).

The terms of the cross-currency interest rate swaps closely match those of the foreign currency-denominated borrowings they 
hedge and they were assessed as highly effective hedges. The amount of ineffectiveness recognised in profit and loss for the 
period with respect to these hedges was a R5 million gain (2011: R7,8 million loss). The amount recycled to profit and loss to  
offset the hedged risks was R1 021 million credit (2011: R227 million debit), included in finance costs.
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14. Derivative financial assets and 
liabilities (continued)

(457) 452

The cash flows are projected to occur semi-annually in 
February and August until February 2021 on the JBIC 
hedge, semi-annually in May and November until 
November 2019 on the AFLAC hedge and semi-annually 
in February and August until February 2016 on the  
US Dollar bond hedge.

The fair values of the cross-currency interest rate 
swaps at 31 March 2012 are as follows:

Cross-currency interest rate swaps: 452 (457)

   

The nominal amounts of the cross-currency interest rate 
swaps at 31 March 2012 are as follows:    

 9 137  8 896 South African Rand  8 896  9 137 

 44 260  41 334 Japanese Yen  41 334  44 260 

750   750 United States Dollar   750 750

Forward exchange contracts

On 31 March 2012, the Group held a series of forward 
exchange contracts as hedges of highly probable forecast 
transactions relating to the acquisition of locomotives, 
spares and tools. The terms of the forward exchange 
contracts exactly match the terms of the highly probable 
forecast transactions and were assessed as highly 
effective hedges. No hedge ineffectiveness was 
recognised in profit and loss for the period (2011: R nil).

The cash flows are projected to occur in the period 
between 16 April 2012 and 18 June 2016.

The fair values of the forward exchange contracts at  
31 March 2012 are as follows:

(8) 14 Currency bought forward – Japanese Yen – profit/(loss) 14 (8)
The nominal values of these forward exchange contracts 
at 31 March 2012 are as follows:

2 085 992 Currency bought forward – Japanese Yen 992 2 085
Refer note 22 for details of the amounts recognised in 
other comprehensive income, amounts recycled to profit 
and loss or included in the initial cost of non-financial 
assets or liabilities with respect to the above hedges.
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15. Long-term loans and advances
  11   2   2   11 

  37   11 Balance at the beginning of the year   11   37 

  4   2 Advances   2   4 

 (1)  (1) Repayments  (1)  (1)

 (29)  (10) Impairment  (10)  (29)

Comprising:

  8  –   Employee housing and other loans  –     8 

  33   8 Balance at the beginning of the year   8   33 

  4   2 Advances   2   4 

 (29)  (10) Impairment  (10)  (29)

  3   2 Other loans and advances   2   3 

  4   3 Balance at the beginning of the year   3   4 

 (1)  (1) Repayments  (1)  (1)

11 2 2 11

16. Other investments, long-term financial 
assets and other liabilities

  468   568 Other financial assets   568   468 

  468   568 

Total long-term investments and long-term financial 

assets   568   468 

 1 566  2 755 Assets held under repurchase agreements  2 755  1 566 
 1 566  2 755 Total short-term investments  2 755  1 566 

  507  697 Long-term deferred income  697   507 

– 900 Provision for excessive tariff increase margin 900 –

 1 315  2 591 Security of supply petroleum levy*  2 591  1 315 

  7   12 Other   12   7 

 1 829  4 200 Total other non-current financial liabilities  4 200  1 829 

  660  1 025 Short-term portion of deferred income  1 025   660 

  660  1 025 Total other current financial liabilities  1 025   660 

*  During the year, the Group received R1,5 billion (2011: R1,5 billion) inclusive of VAT from Government for the security of supply petroleum 
requirement of the New Multi-Product Pipeline. The levy, in terms of the Minister of Finance approval, totals R4,5 billion (VAT inclusive) and is 
receivable over a period of three years which commenced in the 2011 financial year. The levy is administered by the Department of Energy 
and is receivable in quarterly instalments of R375 million (VAT inclusive), subject to progress on the project. In January 2012 the pipeline was 
commissioned which resulted in R5 million (2011: R nil) being recognised in the income statement. In the current year R34 million was 
transferred to current liabilities being the portion that will be recognised as revenue in the 2013 financial year.
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17. Inventories
At weighted average cost

 1 579  1 833 Maintenance material  1 833   1 579 
  259   195 Consumables  195   259 

  36   153 Finished goods  153    36 
  163   118 Work-in-progress*  118   163 
 (339)  (325) Provision for stock obsolescence**  (325)   (339)

 1 698  1 974  1 974   1 698 
At net realisable value   

  556   602 Maintenance material   602   556 
  26   35 Consumables   35   26 

 –   15 Finished goods   15  – 
 (21)  (35) Provision for stock obsolescence  (35)  (21)

  561   617   617   561 
 (2)  – Transferred to assets classified as held-for-sale  –  (2)

 2 257  2 591 2 591 2 257 
*    Included in work-in-progress are costs for construction 

contracts in progress (refer note 27).
**  The decrease in provision for stock obsolescence is due to the 

sale of certain inventory items provided for in prior years. 
No items of inventory have been pledged as security as at  
31 March 2012 (2011: R nil).

18. Trade and other receivables
 4 081  4 211 Trade receivables – net of allowances for credit losses  4 213  4 083 

  236   407 

Amounts due from customers under construction 
contracts (refer note 27)                        407   236 

  11   23 Retention debtors (refer note 27)   23   11 
 1 170 970 Prepayments and other amounts receivable 970  1 170 

  3   2 Short-term portion of loans and advances   2   3 
 5 501  5 613  5 615  5 503 

Risk profile of allowances for credit losses

Low risk

 (207)  (352) Opening balance  (352)  (207)
 (211)  (264) Raised  (264)  (211)

  66   21 Utilised   21   66 
 (352)  (595) Closing balance  (595)  (352)

Medium risk

 (43)  (107) Opening balance  (107)  (43)
 (69)  – Raised  –  (69)

  5  75 Utilised   75   5 
 (107)  (32) Closing balance  (32)  (107)
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18. Trade and other receivables (continued)

High risk

 (206)  (201) Opening balance  (201)  (206)

 (19)  (94) Raised  (111)  (19)

  24  – Utilised   –   24 

(201) (295) Closing balance (312) (201)

Total provisions

 (456)  (660) Opening balance  (660)  (456)

 (299)  (358) Raised  (375)  (299)

 95 96 Utilised 96  95

(660) (922) Closing balance (939) (660)

19. Cash and cash equivalents
 10 606 898 Cash and cash equivalents 1 189 10 876

 10 606 898 1 189 10 876

20. Assets classified as held-for-sale and 
liabilities directly associated with assets 
classified as held-for-sale  
(refer annexure C)
Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale 

  124   126 Property, plant and equipment 126 124

  17   6 Investment property 6 17

 –    –   Other investments 99 142

141  132   231 283

Assets classified as held-for-sale

  76  –   Luxrail – 76

 (67)  –   

Effect of inter-company eliminations and impairment  
of disposal groups – (67)

  9  –   – 9

150 132

Total assets transferred to non-current assets 

classified as held-for-sale 231 292
   Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as 

held-for-sale

9 – Luxrail – 9

9 –

Total liabilities transferred to liabilities directly 

associated with assets classified as held-for-sale – 9
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21. Issued capital 
Authorised

30 000 30 000 30 000 000 000 ordinary par value shares of R1 each 30 000 30 000

Issued

12 661 12 661

12 660 986 310 ordinary par value shares of R1 each 
(2011: 12 660 986 310). 12 661 12 661

The unissued share capital is under the control of the South African Government, the sole shareholder of the Company.

Capital management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence to support future 
growth of the business. Capital efficiency is measured in terms of returns on equity and the asset base, as well as the gearing 
ratio, which is monitored by the Board. The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to the equity holder, 
the South African Government, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in notes 21 and 22. 
Other than loan covenants, Transnet SOC Ltd is not subject to any other externally imposed capital requirements.

Based on the significant capital investment plan of the Company, as well as its revenue generating ability, the target  
debt to equity ratio will remain below the 50% limit that forms part of the Shareholders Compact with the Shareholder 
Representative (2012: 42,1%).

There were no changes to the capital management approach during the year.
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22. Reserves
 28 445  30 488 Revaluation reserve  30 558  28 547 

 3 475  3 612 Revaluation of pipeline networks  3 612  3 475 

 3 179  3 475 Balance at the beginning of the year  3 475  3 179 

  310   166 Revaluation during the year   166   310 

 –  (7) Transfer to retained earnings  (7) –

 (14)  (22) Decommissioning restoration liability adjustment  (22) (14)   

 35 020  37 723 Revaluation of port facilities  37 723  35 020 

 26 922  35 020 Balance at the beginning of the year  35 020  26 922 

 8 210  2 730 Revaluation during the year  2 730  8 210 

 (114)  (24) Transfer to retained earnings  (24)  (114)

  2  (3) Decommissioning restoration liability adjustment  (3)   2 

  817   881 Revaluation of land, buildings and structures   881   817 

  553   817 Balance at the beginning of the year   817   553 

  264   71 Fair value movement during the year   71   264 

 –  (7) Transfer to retained earnings  (7) –

 –  – 

ALL Group Ltd (refer annexure D) – revaluation of 

investment to market value   92   135 

 –  – Balance at the beginning of the year   135   217 

 –  – Fair value movement during the year  (43)  (82)

 (10 867)  (11 728)

Deferred taxation impact of items relating to 

revaluation reserves  (11 750)  (10 900)

– – Foreign currency translation reserve   20   19 

– – Balance at the beginning of the year   19   25 

– – Gains/(losses) arising during the year   1  (6)

 (32)  (76) Cash flow hedging reserve  (76) (32)

 (44)  (105) Cash flow hedging reserve  (105)  (44)

 (109)  (44) Balance at the beginning of the year  (44)  (109)

 (162)   960 Gains/(losses) arising during the year (refer note 14)   960  (162)

  227  (1 021) Transfer income statement  (1 021)   227 

  12   29 

Deferred taxation impact of items relating to cash 

flow hedging reserve   29   12 



Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

22. Reserves (continued)

 2 348  1 985 

Net actuarial gains on post-retirement benefit 

obligations  1 985  2 348 

 3 262  2 761 

Actuarial gains on post-retirement benefit 

obligations  2 761  3 262 

 3 466  3 262 Balance at the beginning of the year  3 262  3 466 

 (204)  (501) Losses arising during the year  (501)  (204)

 (914)  (776) Deferred taxation impact of net actuarial gains (776)  (914)

  250   250 Other reserves   249 249

  5   250 Other transfers   249   4 

  245  – 

Share of pension fund surplus (retained for 
application against pensioners)  –   245 

 29 822  33 943 Retained earnings  34 024  29 874 

 25 815  29 822 Balance at the beginning of the year  29 874  25 677 

  84   31 Transfers into retained earnings   31   84 

3 923  4 090 Profit for the year attributable to equity holder  4 119  4 113 

60 833 66 590 66 760 61 005
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Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

23. Employee benefits 
 1 953  2 003 Post-retirement benefit obligations  2 003  1 953 

 2 022  1 953 Balance at the beginning of the year  1 953  2 022 

 (5)  (181) Income statement credit  (181)  (5)

 (268)  (270) Settlements during the year  (270)  (268)

  204   501 Actuarial loss   501   204 

Comprising:

 –  – 

Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-Fund  
(refer note 32.1.2)  –  – 

 –  – 

Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund  
(refer note 32.1.3)  –  – 

  77   84 

Transnet Top Management Pension Fund  
(refer note 32.1.4)   84   77 

  373   433 

Transnet Workmen's Compensation Act pensioners 
(refer note 32.1.4)   433   373 

  934   881 

Transnet SATS Pensioner’s post-retirement  
medical benefits (refer note 32.2.1)   881   934 

  569   605 

Transnet employees post-retirement medical benefits 
(refer note 32.2.2)   605   569 

 1 953  2 003  2 003  1 953 

Various assumptions have been applied by management 
and actuaries in the calculation of post-retirement 
benefit obligations. 

The assumptions and their sensitivities are disclosed in 
note 32.

  373   330 Other post-retirement and medical benefits   330   373 

  540   579 Balance at the beginning of the year   579   540 

  160   150 Income statement charge   150   160 

 (121)  (196) Utilised during the year  (196)  (121)

  579   533   533   579 

 (206)  (203) Less: Short-term portion classified as current liabilities  (203)  (206)

  505   604 Leave pay   604   505 

 1 139  1 390 Balance at the beginning of the year  1 390  1 139 

  810   992 Accruals made during the year   992   810 

 (559)  (942) Utilised during the year  (942)  (559)

 1 390  1 440  1 440  1 390 

 (885)  (836) Less: Short-term portion classified as current liabilities  (836)  (885)
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R million
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R million
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23. Employee benefits (continued)

  401   385 Incentive bonuses   385   401 

 2 063  1 563 Balance at the beginning of the year  1 563  2 063 

 1 699  2 112 Accruals made during the year  2 112  1 699 

 (2 199)  (1 416) Utilised during the year  (1 416)  (2 199)

 1 563  2 259  2 259  1 563 

 (1 162)  (1 874) Less: Short-term portion classified as current liabilities  (1 874)  (1 162)

 3 232  3 322 Total employee benefits  3 322  3 232 

Various assumptions are applied in arriving at the carrying value of provisions that are recognised in terms of the 
requirements of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Other post-retirement and medical benefits

Included in total employee benefits is an amount of R383 million (2011: R579 million) for the restructuring of the SATS 
pensioners’ medical subsidy and R150 million (2011: R nil) relating to an ex gratia payment to disadvantaged Transnet 
Second Defined Benefit Fund and Transport Pension Fund: Transnet sub-fund pensioners.

Leave pay

Relates to accrual for unutilised leave at year-end. The leave is expected to be taken over the next two financial years and is 
calculated based on employee total cost to Company.

Incentive bonuses

Accrual for incentive bonuses in terms of the incentive bonus scheme. 
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2011
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2012
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24. Long-term borrowings  
(refer annexure A)

 50 450  52 564  52 566  50 452 

 42 732  50 450 Total long-term borrowings at the beginning of the year  50 452  42 736 

 16 390  10 868 Raised  10 868  16 390 

 –  (6 000) Redeemed#  (6 000)  – 

 (158)   980 Foreign exchange movement   980  (158)

  32   30 Amortisation of discount   30   32 

 (8 546)  (3 764)

Current portion of long-term borrowings redeemable 
within one year transferred to short-term borrowings 
(refer note 29)  (3 764)  (8 548)
Unsecured liabilities

 46 165  42 839 Rand denominated  42 839  46 165 

 35 295  33 768 Bonds at nominal value  33 768  35 295 

 (1 224)  (908) Unamortised discounts  (908)  (1 224)

 34 071  32 860 Bonds at carrying value#  32 860  34 071 

 12 094  9 979 Other unsecured liabilities*  9 979  12 094 

 8 854  9 593 Foreign currency denominated†  9 593  8 854 

 5 149  5 762 Bonds at nominal value  5 762  5 149 

 (28)  (26) Unamortised discounts  (26)  (28)

 5 121  5 736 Bonds at carrying value  5 736  5 121 

 3 733  3 857 Other unsecured liabilities  3 857  3 733 

 3 977  3 896 Secured loans** and capitalised finance leases^  3 898 3 981

 3 977  3 896 Rand denominated  3 898 3 981

 58 996  56 328 Total long-term borrowings  56 330 59 000

 (8 546)  (3 764)

Current portion of long-term borrowings redeemable 
within one year transferred to short-term borrowings 
(refer note 29)  (3 764)  (8 548)

50 450  52 564  52 566 50 542

#    The T018 Rand denominated secured local guaranteed bond which was due on 15 July 2014 was early redeemed (repaid R3 billion and swapped 
R3 billion for TN20, TN23 and TN25 bonds) during the current financial year. Rand denominated secured Eurorand bonds bear interest between 
10% and 13,5% and are repayable in 2028 and 2029 (refer annexure A). The Rand denominated unsecured and non-guaranteed bonds are 
redeemable between 14 November 2017 and 14 November 2027 and bear interest at a rate between 8,9% and 10,8%.

†      Foreign currency bond was issued on 10 February 2011. The issuing currency is United States Dollars. This foreign currency bond is redeemable 
on 10 February 2016 and bears interest at a  rate of 4,5%. The foreign exchange and interest rate risks on the bond were hedged with a cross 
currency swap at a fixed interest rate of 10,40%. Foreign currency unsecured loans are denominated in Japanese Yen, bears interest at rates 
between 1,81571% and 2,7%, and is repayable between 15 November 2019 and 20 February 2021. The foreign exchange and interest rate risks 
on the loans were hedged with cross currency swaps at fixed interest rates ranging between 9,91% and 12,22%.

*      Rand denominated unsecured domestic loans bear interest at rates ranging between 6,046% and 10,95%. These liabilities are repayable over 
periods between 28 December 2013 and 30 November 2024.

**   Rand denominated secured loans bear interest at rates ranging between 5,85% and 7,85% with floating rates linked to JIBAR. These liabilities 
are repayable over periods between 15 October 2013 and 20 December 2021. 

^    Rand denominated capitalised finance lease liabilities bear interest at rates ranging between 11,00% and 16,93% with all rates fixed. These 
liabilities are repayable over periods between 2012 and 2027.
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25. Provisions
 1 174 1 626 Comprising  1 626  1 174 

 1 054  1 174 Total provisions at the beginning of the year  1 174  1 054 

 1 377  1 750 

Provisions raised during the year and unwinding of 
discounts  1 750  1 377 

 (1 279)  (1 036) Provisions utilised  (1 036)  (1 279)

  22  (262)

(Increase)/decrease in short-term provisions classified 
as current liabilities  (262)   22 

  174   159 Third-party claims   159   174 

  135   174 Balance at the beginning of the year   174   135 

  215   365 Provisions raised during the year   365   215 

 (176)  (380) Utilised during the year  (380)  (176)

  26   40 Customer claims   40   26 

  26   26 Balance at the beginning of the year   26   26 

 –   17 Provisions raised during the year   17  – 

 –  (3) Utilised during the year  (3)  – 

 –  – Onerous contracts  –  – 

  38  – Balance at the beginning of the year  –   38 

 (38)  – Utilised during the year  –  (38)

 1 267 1 828 Decommissioning and environmental liabilities 1 828  1 267 

 1 087  1 267 Balance at the beginning of the year  1 267  1 087 

  239   681 

Provisions raised during the year and unwinding  
of discounts   681   239 

 (59)  (120) Utilised during the year  (120)  (59)

  30   29 Restructuring   29   30 

  45   30 Balance at the beginning of the year   30   45 

 (15)  (1) Utilised during the year  (1)  (15)

  349   504 Other   504   349 

  417   349 Balance at the beginning of the year   349   417 

  595   687 Provisions raised during the year   687   595 

 (663)  (532) Utilised during the year  (532)  (663)

1 846 2 560 Total provisions 2 560 1 846
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25. Provisions (continued)

  672 934

Less: Short-term provisions classified as current 
liabilities   934   672 

  174   149 Third-party claims   149   174 

  26 40 Customer claims   40   26 

  124   241 Decommissioning and environmental liability   241   124 

  348   504 Other   504   348 

1 174 1 626 Total long-term provisions 1 626 1 174

Various assumptions are applied in arriving at the carrying value of provisions that are recognised in terms of the 
requirements of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

Management further relies on input from the Group’s lawyers in assessing the probability on matters of a contingent nature. 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed in note 31.

Third-party claims

This provision represents the best estimate of known third-party claims together with an allowance for claims incurred but 
not yet reported based on historical experience.

Customer claims

This provision represents claims made by customers arising from non-performance on contracts or damage to goods in 
transit. Settlements of claims are expected in the following year.

Onerous contracts

This provision is raised for the onerous portion of certain lease agreements.

Decommissioning and environmental liabilities

This is a provision for the dismantling and removal of an asset as a result of the requirement to restore the site on which the 
asset is located. The provision has been computed by discounting future cash flows. 

In accordance with the Group’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for environmental 
rehabilitation in respect of clean-up costs is recognised when it meets the recognition requirements for provisions. The 
provision includes the estimated rehabilitation costs for the historical contamination caused by asbestos as well as costs for 
the rehabilitation caused by ferromanganese, manganese, mixed soil (including chrome and sulphur) fuel and rubble 
contamination.

Environmental provisions for the remediation of soil contaminated areas have been raised. These include provisions for the 
removal of asbestos, ferromanganese, manganese, mixed soil (including chrome and sulphur) fuel and rubble. These 
obligations arise from environmental legislation requiring Transnet to remove this waste material and remediate the land. 
Transnet engaged external consultants to perform risk assessments on identified areas of contamination and the Group’s 
related rehabilitation obligation. A number of factors were considered in determining the obligation, which included: 

 The extent of the contamination.
 The cost per ton/square metre/per running line kilometre of removal and disposal of the contamination.
 The costs of rehabilitation of the identified areas of contamination.
 The costs estimated for the removal and replacement of asbestos roof sheeting and cladding on buildings.

Restructuring

Provision for restructuring costs in terms of strategic plans.
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26. Deferred taxation liabilities
 15 383  18 029 Comprising:  18 050  15 415 

 12 413  15 383 Opening balance  15 415  12 473 

  610  1 933 Income statement charge (refer note 8)  1 933   603 

 2 360   713 Raised in other comprehensive income   702  2 339 

Analysis of major categories of temporary differences

 4 079 4 972 Deferred taxation assets  4 951  4 079 

  693   786 Provisions   786   693 

 1 210  1 235 Employee benefit obligations  1 235  1 210 

  766  1 522 Revenue received in advance and deferred income  1 522   766 

 1 262  1 204 Capitalised lease liability  1 204  1 262 

  148   199 Doubtful debts   199   148 

 –   26 Other   5  – 

 19 462  23 001 Deferred taxation liabilities  23 001  19 494 

  150   160 Deferred expenditure   160   150 

 19 251  22 818 Property, plant and equipment  22 818  19 251 

  37   23 Future expenditure allowance   23   37 

  24  – Other  –   56 

15 383 18 029 Net deferred taxation liability 18 050 15 415

No deferred taxation asset has been raised in respect of secondary taxation on companies credits available as they are unlikely 
to be utilised given the capital requirements of the company and the change in regime from secondary taxation on companies to 
a withholding taxation on dividends, from which the Company is exempt.
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27. Construction contracts
Contracts in progress at the balance sheet date:

  662 1 351

Construction costs incurred plus recognised profits less 
losses to date                                       1 351   662 

 (382) (944) Less: Progress billings (944)  (382)

280 407 407 280
Recognised and included in the financial statements:

Income statement

393 967 Contract revenue (refer note 2) 967 393
Statements of financial position

236 407

Amounts due from customers under construction 
contracts (refer note 18)                      407 236

11 23 Retention debtors (note 18) 23 11
Contract revenue is recognised when the completed 
stage has been signed off as proof of quality 
satisfaction by the external customer.

28. Trade payables and accruals
 1 856 2 203 Trade payables 2 207 1 861

 7 849  8 916 Accruals 8 944 7 872

 2 897  3 062 Accrued expenditure  3 089  2 926 

  55   58 Deposits received   58   55 

 1 379  1 390 Accrued interest  1 390  1 379 

  311   483 Personnel costs   483   311 

  544   662 Public creditors   663   539 

  247   216 Revenue received in advance   216   247 

  206   203 Other post-retirement and medical benefits (refer note 23)   203   206 

  885   836 Leave pay (refer note 23)   836   885 

 1 162  1 874 Incentive bonus (refer note 23)  1 874  1 162 

163   132 SARS – value added taxation   132   162 

9 705 11 119 11 151 9 733

29. Short-term borrowings

 8 546  3 764 

Current portion of long-term interest-bearing 
borrowings (refer note 24)  3 764  8 548 

 1 032  1 802 Other short-term borrowings  1 802  1 030 

 9 578  5 566  5 566  9 578 

Other short-term borrowings relate to the market making portfolio and comprises the Group’s position on bonds and other 
financial instruments.
The short-term borrowings bear interest at rates between 5,85% and 11,46%, is repayable between April 2012 and March 
2013 and are not guaranteed.
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30. Commitments
30.1 Capital commitments*

 22 790   567 Contracted for in US Dollars   567  22 790 
 1 184   607 Contracted for in Japanese Yen   607  1 184 

  20   42 Contracted for in Euros   42   20 
  3  12 342 Contracted for in SA Rands  12 342   3 

  101   85 Contracted for in various other currencies   85   101 
 24 098  13 643 Total capital commitments contracted for  13 643  24 098 
 86 497  286 484 Authorised by the Directors but not yet contracted for  286 484  86 497 

 110 595  300 127  300 127  110 595 
Total capital commitments are expected to be incurred 
as follows:

 25 859 31 183 Within one year  31 183  25 859 
 84 736  180 460 After one year, but not more than five years  180 460  84 736 

– 88 484 After five years, but not more than seven years 88 484 –
 110 595  300 127  300 127  110 595 

These capital commitments will be financed utilising net 
cash flow from operations, debt capital markets, 
through project finance and the use of operating leases.
*   Excludes capitalised borrowing costs of R15 297 million  

(2011: R5 894 million).

30.2 Operating lease commitments
Future minimum rentals under non-cancellable leases 
are as follows: 
Land, buildings and structures

  90   87 Within one year   87   93 
  313   327 After one year, but not more than five years   327   319 
  409   352 More than five years   352   409 
  812   766   766   821 

Aircraft, machinery, equipment, furniture  and  

motor vehicles

  380   539 Within one year   539   380 
  649   804 After one year, but not more than five years   804   649 

  19   19 More than five years   19   19 
 1 048  1 362  1 362  1 048 

Security and maintenance contracts

  152   265 Within one year   265   152 
  93   109 After one year, but not more than five years   109   93 

  245   374   374   245 
Other

  12   42 Within one year   42   20 

  14   23 After one year, but not more than five years   23   15 

  26   65   65   35 

The operating leases relate mainly to leases of vehicles from McCarthy, Bidvest and other companies. These leases have 
varying terms. On certain leases, contingent rent is payable for vehicles that exceed the fixed kilometres on a monthly basis.
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30. Commitments (continued)

30.3 Finance lease commitments
The finance leases relates to the Kimberley – De Aar 
transmission line, MTN Coal line Network, computer 
equipment and camera security equipment. These finance 
leases have a lease term ranging between 3 to 17 years. 
The interest rates vary from 11,25% to 16,93%.
Future minimum lease payments under finance leases 
together with the present value of the net minimum 
lease payments are as follows:
Machinery, equipment and furniture

  46   54 Within one year   54   46 

  44   63 After one year, but not more than five years   63   44 

  58   119 More than five years   119   58 

  148   236 Total minimum lease payments   236   148 

 (15)  (120) Amount representing finance charges  (120)  (15)

  133   116 Present value of minimum lease payments   116   133 

Included in the financial statements as:

  38   39  –  Current borrowings   39   38 

  95   77  –  Non-current borrowings   77   95 

  133   116   116   133 

30.4 Lease rentals receivable
Future minimum rentals under operating leases are  
as follows:
Property

 1 095  1 316 Within one year  1 316  1 095 

 3 079  3 301 After one year, but not more than five years  3 301  3 079 

 3 878  4 664 More than five years  4 664  3 878 

 8 052  9 281  9 281  8 052 

Other 

  90   102 Within one year   126   114 

  360   520 After one year, but not more than five years   520   360 

  540   504 More than five years   504   540 

  990  1 126  1 150  1 014 

The lease rentals relate mainly to land and buildings. These are mainly short-term rentals with an escalation varying from  
8% to 10%.
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31. Contingent liabilities and guarantees
Asbestos roofs and asbestos cladding

– –

Transnet owns buildings with asbestos roofs and 
asbestos cladding. In terms of the Asbestos Regulations 
of 2001, Transnet is responsible for taking reasonable 
steps to determine the location of asbestos in the 
workplace for the purposes of managing the potential 
risk associated with such materials. The assessment for 
the potential risk of exposure and the cost of removal is 
a complex scientific process which requires the 
expertise of an environmental specialist. In certain 
cases the asbestos cladding is of low friability ie dust 
fibres released is negligible/non-existent and therefore 
maintenance and inspection of the contamination is the 
preferred rehabilitation option, until the roofs and 
cladding is removed and replaced. – –

192 256

Various contingent liabilities where no material losses 

are expected to materialise 256 192

74 18

Various contingent assets where the inflow of economic 

benefits is probable, but not virtually certain 18 74

In addition to the items included above, Transnet entered into an alienation and a lease agreement with an external party in 
respect of property in the port of Port Elizabeth. Transnet wants to extricate itself from these agreements as it believes 
they were entered into in contravention of certain laws. The external party has threatened to take legal action to force 
Transnet to perform in terms of the agreements. The estimated value of settlement is not known at this stage.

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations

The Group offers pension benefits through two defined benefit pension funds and one defined contribution fund.  
The Group also offers post-retirement medical benefits to its employees. Specific retirement benefits are offered to 
top management under the Workmen’s Compensation Act. The following sections summarise the relevant components 
of the pension benefits and post-retirement medical benefits. (All amounts disclosed are equal for Company and Group 
unless otherwise stated).

32.1 Pension benefits
Transnet has three pension funds, namely the Transnet Retirement Fund; Transport Pension Fund: Transnet sub-fund 
and Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund. Except for the Transnet Retirement Fund, the IAS 19 Employee Benefits 
actuarial valuations for the funds are performed annually. The Transnet Pension Funds are governed by the Transnet 
Pension Fund Act, No 62 of 1990, as amended.

With regard to the defined benefit funds, the expected return on plan assets has been calculated based on market 
expectations at the beginning of the period for returns over the entire life of the related obligation, except where 
settlements have occurred during the year. In these instances the return on assets is adjusted immediately before 
settlement. The estimated return is determined in conjunction with actuaries and market analysts based on the 
underlying asset base within each fund.
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32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.1  Transnet Retirement Fund
The fund is structured as a defined contribution fund and all employees of the Group are eligible members of the fund. 
There were 62 326 members at 31 March 2012 (2011: 60 314). Actuarial valuations are done at intervals not 
exceeding three years to determine the financial position. An actuarial valuation was performed as at 31 March 2010. 
The actuaries were satisfied with the status of the member’s credit account then. The total contributions to this fund 
constitute member contributions of R814 million (2011: R725 million) and employer contributions of R814 million 
(2011: R735 million).
32.1.2  Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-Fund

The fund is a defined benefit pension fund. The fund has been closed to new members since 1 December 2000. 
Members are current employees of Transnet who elected to remain as members of the fund at 1 November 2000 and 
pensioner members who retired subsequent to that date. 

The Transnet Pension Fund Amendment Act, promulgated in the latter part of 2007, changed the name of the fund with 
effect from 11 November 2005 to the Transport Pension Fund. This Act restructured the Transport Pension Fund 
(formerly the Transnet Pension Fund) into a multi-employer pension fund. From the date this Act came into operation, all 
existing members, pensioners, dependant pensioners, liabilities, assets, rights and obligations, of the Transport Pension 
Fund, were attributable to a sub-fund, with Transnet as the principal employer. In terms of these Act amendments a sub-
fund in the name of South African Airways (Pty) Ltd was also established as at 1 April 2006, with South African Airways 
(Pty) Limited as the principal employer of that sub-fund, and a further sub-fund in the name of the South African Rail 
Commuter Corporation Ltd (now Passenger Rail Agency of South Africa) was established with effect from 1 May 2006, 
with the South African Rail Commuter Corporation Ltd as the principal employer of that sub-fund.

All active members and pensioner members relating to South African Airways (Pty) Ltd and the South African Rail 
Commuter Corporation Ltd were assigned to these new sub-funds. The Transport Pension Fund therefore comprises 
three independent and separate sub-funds, each with their own principal employer. An employer’s liability to the 
Transport Pension Fund is limited to those attributable to its members, pensioners and dependent pensioners assigned 
to its sub-fund.

There were 5 172 members and pensioners at 31 March 2012 (2011: 5 293). The fund gives members the option to 
transfer to the Transnet Retirement Fund twice a year. Altogether 16 members opted to transfer to the Transnet 
Retirement Fund in the current year (2011: 35). The effect of this transfer is noted below.

An actuarial valuation was done as at 31 March 2012 based on the projected unit credit method. The principal actuarial 
assumptions used are as follows:

Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

Discount rate (%)   8,43    9,08  
Salary increases
–  Inflation (%)   5,91    5,99  
–  Promotional (%)   1,00    0,25  
Expected return on plan assets (%)   9,21    10,23  
Pension increases (%)   2,00    2,00  
The results of the actuarial valuation are as follows:
Benefit liability

Present value of obligation  (3 146)  (2 784)
Fair value of plan assets  4 834  4 769 
Surplus  1 688  1 985 
Unrecognised asset  (1 688)  (1 985)
Net liability per the statement of financial position  –   –
The liability recognised for this fund relating to the Company amounts to R nil (2011: R nil).
The surplus was not recognised as the rules of the fund do not provide for the surpluses to be distributed.
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32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.2  Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-Fund (continued)

Credit to the income statement

Expected return on assets   480   436 

Current service cost  (28)  (26)

Interest cost  (248)  (238)

  204   172 

Actual return on plan assets 415 534

Total actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income for the year  (220)  (190)

–  Actuarial (loss)/gain  (428)   79 

–  Net asset not recognised   297  (269)

–  Bonus award to pensioners  (89)  – 

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income (1 567) (1 347)

Movements in the net asset recognised in the statement of financial position

Opening net asset  1 985  1 716 

Income statement credit per above   204   172 

Actuarial (loss)/gain  (428)   79 

Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (89)  – 

Contributions paid by employer   16   18 

Surplus  1 688  1 985 

Asset not recognised  (1 688)  (1 985)

Closing net asset  –  – 

Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (2 784)  (2 786)

Current service cost  (28)  (26)

Contributions by members  (11)  (13)

Interest cost  (248)  (238)

Actuarial loss  (363)  (19)

Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (89)  – 

Benefits paid   372   233 

 (3 151)  (2 849)

Transfer to the retirement fund   5   65 

Closing benefit liability  (3 146)  (2 784)
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Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.2  Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-Fund (continued)

Reconciliation of movement in fair value of plan assets

Opening fair value of plan assets  4 769  4 502 

Expected return   480   436 

Actuarial (loss)/gain  (65)   98 

Contributions by employer and members   27   31 

Benefits paid  (372)  (233)

 4 839  4 834 

Transfer to the retirement fund  (5)  (65)

Closing fair value of plan assets  4 834  4 769 

2012
R million

2011
R million

2010
R million

2009
R million

2008
R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods: 

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation  (3 146)  (2 784)  (2 786)  (2 957)  (3 192)

Fair value of plan assets  4 834  4 769  4 502  3 658  4 924 

Surplus  1 688  1 985  1 716   701  1 732 

Asset not recognised  (1 688)  (1 985)  (1 716)  (701)  (1 732)

Net liability – – – – –

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation  (452)  (19)   39  (63)   297 
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on  
plan assets  (65)   98   897  (1 176)  (73)
The estimated contributions by both employer and members for the year beginning 1 April 2012 amount to R27 million 
(2011: R31 million).

Group

2012
%

2011
%

The major categories of plan assets as a % of total plan assets are:

Equity – Local and international 56 69

Property 5 5

Bonds 38 20

Cash 1 6

Total 100 100



Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.3  Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund

The fund was established on 1 November 2000 for the benefit of existing retired 
members and qualifying beneficiaries. The fund includes the spouses of black 
pensioners who retired from Transnet between 16 December 1974 and 1 April 1986 
(previously reported under the Black Widows Pension Fund before 31 March 2010). 
There were 26 865 members  at 31 March 2012 (2011: 29 100). This excludes widows 
and children of pensioners, as well as the black widows. The all inclusive membership is 
68 727 at 31 March 2012 (2011: 71 865). The entire obligation relates to Transnet  
SOC Ltd.
The actuarial valuation was based on the projected unit credit method. The principal 
actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

Discount rate (%) 8,08 8,94

Expected return on assets (%) 7,31 8,13

Inflation (%) 6,23 6,21

Pension increases (%) 2,00 2,00

The results of the actuarial valuation are as follows:

Benefit liability

Present value of obligation  (15 658)  (15 666)

Fair value of plan assets  18 572  18 908 

Surplus  2 914  3 242 

Unrecognised asset  (2 914)  (3 242)

Net liability per the statement of financial position  –  – 

The surplus was not recognised as the rules of the fund do not provide for the surpluses 
to be distributed.

Credit to the income statement

Expected return on plan assets  1 436  1 319 

Interest cost  (1 289)  (1 312)

  147   7 

Actual return on plan assets  2 017 1 899

Total actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income for the year  (147)  (7)

–  Actuarial gain   63   384 

–  Net asset not recognised   328  (32)

–  Bonus award to pensioners  (538)  (359)

Cumulative actuarial gains recognised in other comprehensive income 4 401 4 548
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Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.3  Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund (continued)

Movements in the net asset recognised in the statement of financial position

Opening net asset  3 242  3 210 
Income statement credit per above   147   7 
Actuarial gain   63   384 
Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (538)  (359)
Surplus  2 914  3 242 
Asset not recognised  (2 914)  (3 242)
Net asset per statement of financial position  –  – 
Reconciliation of movement in  benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (15 666)  (16 469)
Interest cost  (1 289)  (1 312)
Actuarial loss  (518)   (196) 
Bonus award to pensioners (actuarial loss)  (538)  (359)
Benefits paid  2 353  2 670 
Closing benefit liability  (15 658)  (15 666)
Reconciliation of movement in fair value of plan assets

Opening fair value of plan assets  18 908  19 679 
Expected return  1 436  1 319 
Actuarial gain   581   580 
Benefits paid  (2 353)  (2 670)
Closing fair value of plan assets  18 572  18 908 

2012
R million

2011
R million

2010
R million

2009
R million

2008
R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods:

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation  (15 658)  (15 666)  (16 469)  (17 550)  (17 194)
Fair value of plan assets  18 572  18 908  19 679  20 316  19 966 
Surplus  2 914  3 242  3 210  2 766  2 772 
Asset not recognised  (2 914)  (3 242)  (3 210)  (2 766)  (2 772)
Net liability  –  –  –  –  – 
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation (1 056) (555) 256 (1 126) 1 513
Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised on plan 
assets   581 580 184 912 (1 308)
The estimated contributions by both employer and members for the year beginning 1 April 2012 amount to R nil  
(2011: R nil).



Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.3  Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund (continued)

The major categories of plan assets as a % of total plan assets are:

Equity (%) 22 21

Property (%) 2 2

Bonds (%) 29 27

Cash and net current assets (%) 47 50

Total assets at market value 100 100

32.1.4 Top Management Pensions and Workmen’s Compensation Act 
pensioners 
The Top Management Pensions are additional benefits to top up pensions received to 
eliminate the effects of any early retirement and resignation penalties applied under the 
Group’s existing pension fund schemes to management appointed prior to 1 April 1999. 
There were 397 members at 31 March 2012 (2011: 400). The entire obligation relates to 
Transnet SOC Ltd.

The Workmen’s Compensation Pension Fund Act benefit relates to the pension benefits 
that the Company pays to current and former employees who were disabled whilst in 
service prior to the corporatisation of Transnet in 1990. There were 1 364 members at  
31 March 2012 (2011: 1 419).

Actuarial valuations for both benefits were performed to determine the present value  
of the obligations. Similar valuations were done at the previous reporting date. The 
projected unit credit method was used to value the obligations. There are no plan  
assets held to fund these obligations.

The following summarises the components of expense and liability recognised in the 
financial statements together with the assumptions adopted.
Top Management Pension Fund

The principal assumptions in determining the benefits are as follows:

Discount rate (%)   7,76 8,94

Salary increases 

Inflation (%)   6,21 6,21

Promotional (%)   1,00 0,17

Pension increase (%)   2,00 2,00

Benefit liability

Present value of obligations (84) (77)

Liability recognised in the statement of financial position (84) (77)

Charge to the income statement

Interest cost (7) (7)

(7) (7)
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Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.4 Top Management Pensions and Workmen’s Compensation Act 
pensioners (continued)

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in other comprehensive income for the year  (9) 1

Cumulative actuarial gains recognised in other comprehensive income   29 38

Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (77)  (80)

Expense as above  (7)  (7)

Actuarial (loss)/gain  (9)   1 

Benefits paid   9   9 

Benefit liability at year-end  (84)  (77)

2012
R million

2011
R million

2010
R million

2009
R million

2008
R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods:

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation  (84) (77) (80) (84) (89)

Deficit  (84) (77) (80) (84) (89)
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation (9) 1 2 3 27
The estimated contributions (based on current year contribution) for the year beginning 1 April 2012 amount to  
R9 million (2011: R9 million).

Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

Workmen’s Compensation Act pensioners 

The principal assumptions in determining the benefits are as follows:

Discount rate (%)   8,33    9,08  

Pension increase (%)   5,86    5,99  

Inflation rate (%)   5,86    5,99 

Benefit liability

Present value of obligations (433) (373)

Liability recognised in the statement of financial position (433) (373)



Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.1 Pension benefits (continued)

32.1.4  Top Management Pensions and Workmen’s Compensation Act 
pensioners (continued)

Charge to the income statement

Interest cost  (32) (30)

 (32) (30)

Actuarial loss recognised in other comprehensive income for the year (72) (22)

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income (233) (161)

Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (373)  (354)

Interest cost  (32)  (30)

Actuarial loss  (72)  (22)

Benefits paid   44   33 

Benefit liability at year-end  (433)  (373)

2012
R million

2011
R million

2010
R million

2009
R million

2008
R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods: 

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation  (433)  (373)  (354)  (368)  (280)

Deficit  (433)  (373)  (354)  (368)  (280)

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation (72) (22) 16 (93) (43)
The estimated contributions (based on current year contribution) for the year beginning 1 April 2012 amount to  
R44 million (2011: R33 million).

32.1.5  HIV/Aids benefits

Transnet Group offers certain assistance to employees diagnosed with HIV/Aids. The related data is not sufficient to 
actuarially value any liability the Group may have in this regard. 
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Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.2 Post-retirement medical benefits
SATS Pensioners’ post-retirement medical benefits

The SATS pensioners are the retired employees of the former South African Transport 
Services (SATS)  and their dependants. The liability is in respect of pensioners and their 
dependants who have elected to belong to the Transnet in-house medical scheme, 
Transmed, whose membership is voluntary. Transnet subsidises the medical contribution 
costs at a flat contribution of R800 per principal member per month.

Transnet employees post-retirement medical benefits

This includes the current and past employees of Transnet who are members of 
Transnet’s in-house medical aid, Transmed Medical Fund. Membership is voluntary.
Transnet subsidises members at a flat contribution of R213 per month per member family.
To enable the Company to fully provide for such post-retirement medical liabilities, 
since April 2000 actuarial valuations are obtained annually. There are no assets held to 
fund the obligation.

Analysis of benefit expense

The following summarises the components of the net benefit expense recognised in 
both the statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position as at 
31 March 2012 for both SATS pensioners and Transnet employees. The projected unit 
credit method has been used for the purposes of determining the actuarial valuation for 
both the funds. 
32.2.1  SATS pensioners
Discount rate (%) 8,33 9,08
Benefit liability

Present value of obligations (881) (934)
Liability recognised in the statement of financial position (881) (934)
Charge to the income statement 
Interest cost (69) (79)

(69) (79)
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in other comprehensive income for the year (49) 4
Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income (132) (83)
Reconciliation of movement in benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (934)  (1 026)
Interest cost  (69)  (79)
Company contributions   171   167 
Actuarial (loss)/gain  (49)   4 
Closing benefit liability  (881)  (934)
The medical inflation has no impact on the aggregate current service cost and interest 
cost and the benefit liability. However, the assumed discount rate has an impact.  
The sensitivity of the obligation to a change in the assumed discount rate of 8,33% 
(2011: 9,08%) on the present value of the obligation is as follows:
Sensitivity analysis

Closing benefit liability based on changes in discount rate:

7,33% (2011: 8,08%) (926) (981)

9,33% (2011: 10,08%) (840) (892)



32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.2 Post-retirement medical benefits (continued)

32.2.1  SATS Pensioners (continued)

2012
R million

2011
R million

2010
R million

2009
R million

2008
R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods:

Benefit liability  (881)  (934)  (1 026)  (1 240)  (1 223)

Deficit  (881)  (934)  (1 026)  (1 240)  (1 223)

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation (49) 4 112 (117) 204
The estimated contribution (based on current year contribution) for the year beginning 1 April 2012 is R157 million 
(2011: R167 million).

Group

2012
R million

2011
R million

32.2.2  Transnet employees

Discount rate (%) 8,33 9,08

Benefit liability

Present value of obligations (605) (569)

Liability recognised in the statement of financial position (605) (569)
Charge to the income statement

Current service cost  (11)  (10)

Interest cost  (51)  (48)

 (62)  (58)

Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in other comprehensive income for the year (4) 10
Cumulative actuarial gain recognised in other comprehensive income 259 263

Reconciliation of movement in  benefit liability

Opening benefit liability  (569)  (562)

Expense as above  (62)  (58)

Member and Company contributions   30   41 

Actuarial (loss)/gain  (4)   10 

Closing benefit liability  (605)  (569)
Transnet subsidises members at a flat contribution of R213 per month per member 
family. The medical inflation has no impact on the aggregate current service cost and 
interest cost and the benefit liability. However, the assumed discount rate has an 
impact. The sensitivity of the obligation to a change in the assumed discount rate of 
8,33% (2011: 9,08%) on the present value of the obligation is as follows:
Sensitivity analysis

Closing benefit liability based on changes in discount rate:

7,33% (2011: 8,08%) (662) (625)

9,33% (2011: 10,08%) (550) (522)
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32. Post-retirement benefit obligations (continued)

32.2 Post-retirement medical benefits (continued)

32.2.2  Transnet employees (continued)

2012
R million

2011
R million

2010
R million

2009
R million

2008
R million

Summary of actuarial valuation results 

for past periods:

Benefit liability  (605)  (569)  (562)  (632)  (592)

Deficit  (605)  (569)  (562)  (632)  (592)
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised on 
defined benefit obligation (4) 10 88 (20) 145
The estimated contribution (based on current year contribution) for the year beginning 1 April 2012 is R30 million 
(2011: R41 million).

33. Related-party transactions 
Transnet is a Schedule 2 Public Entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA). It therefore has a significant 
number of related  parties including other state-owned entities, Government Departments and all other entities within the 
national sphere of Government. The Group has utilised the database maintained by the National Treasury to identify related 
parties. A list of all related parties is available at the National Treasury website at www.treasury.gov.za or at the Company’s 
registered office.
In addition, the Company has a related-party relationship with its subsidiaries (see annexure D). The Group and 
Company have related party relationships with its associates (see annexure D) and with its directors and senior 
executives (key management).
Unless otherwise disclosed, all transactions with the above related parties are concluded on an arm’s length basis. 
Furthermore, neither the Group nor any of its related parties is obligated to procure from or render services to their 
related parties.

Transactions with related entities

Services rendered to related parties comprise principally transportation services. Services purchased from related 
parties comprised principally energy, telecommunications, information technology and property related services.

The following is a summary of transactions with related parties during the year and balances due at year-end according to 
Transnet’s records:

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

Services rendered

 1 337   1601 Major public enterprises   1601  1 337 

 1 485 1 548 Other public enterprises 1 548  1 485 

 1 087   1 608 National Government business enterprises   1 608  1 087 

  36   42 Associates   42   36 

  7   6 Subsidiaries – –

 3 952  4 805  4 799  3 945 



Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

33. Related-party transactions (continued)

Services received

1 314  2 876 Major public enterprises 2 876  1 314 

 295   380 Other public enterprises   380   295 

871   1 249 National Government business enterprises   1 249   871 

  1  1 Associates and joint ventures 1   1 

  39  – Subsidiaries 

2 520   4 506  4 506  2 481 

Amount due (to)/from

 (3) 1 101 Major public enterprises  1 101  (3)

  27   64 Other public enterprises   64   27 

 (5 197)  (2 315) National Government business enterprises*  (2 315)  (5 197)

  2   3 Associates and joint ventures   3   2 

 (3)  – Subsidiaries   

 (5 174) (1 147)  (1 147)  (5 171)

During the year the Group expensed R525 million (2011: R468 million) in relation to provisions and write-offs of bad debts on 
related parties and at year-end the Group had a provision of R670 million (2011: R349 million) against debtors pertaining to 
related parties.

Transactions with key management personnel

Loans to key management are included in “Long-term loans and advances” (see note 15). 

Details of key management compensation are set out in the Report of Directors of the annual financial statements.

None of key management has or had significant influence in any entity with whom the Group had significant transactions 
during the year. 

*   Includes R nil relating to bonds issued to National Government business enterprises (2011: R5 068 million).
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Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

34. Cash flow information 
34.1 Cash generated from operations

 5 466  6 200 Profit before taxation  6 241  5 651 

 5 507  6 200 –  Continuing operations  6 241  5 692 

 (41)  – –  Discontinued operations  –  (41)

 3 428  4 233 Finance costs (refer note 34.3)  4 233  3 428 

 (536)  (462) Finance income  (488)  (561)

 (26)  (2) Dividend income  –  (1)

 7 818  10 644 Elimination of non-cash items  10 630  7 642 

 7 294  8 355 –  Depreciation, amortisation and derecognition  8 355  7 184 

 (5)  (141)

–   Increase in provision for post-retirement benefit 
obligation  (141)  (5)

 (4)   26 

–   Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of loss-making 
subsidiaries and associates   1  (3)

  249   257 

–   Impairment of trade and other receivables and loans 
and advances   257   249 

  291   150 –   Impairment of property, plant and equipment   150   291 

– (66) –  Impairment reversal of assets held-for-sale (66) –

  232  1 792 –  Movement in provisions  1 792   232 

 –  – –  Loss/(income) from associates and joint ventures   6  (58)

  618  (413) –  Fair value adjustments on derivatives  (413)   618 

 (158)  1 006 –  Unrealised foreign exchange losses/(gains)  1 006  (158)

 (33)  (39) –  Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (39)  (33)

  32   30 –  Discount on bonds amortised   30   32 

 (70)  – –  Provision for inventory obsolescence  –  (70)

  8   53 –  Release of firm commitments   53   8 

 (637)  (353) –  Fair value adjustment of investment property  (353)  (637)

  1  (13) –  Other non-cash items  (8)  (8)

16 150 20 613  20 616  16 159 

34.2 Changes in working capital

 (139)  (244) Increase in inventories  (244)  (139)

  159  (359) (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (359)   136 

  807  1 380 Increase in trade and other payables  1 384   795 

  827 777 781   792 



Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

34. Cash flow information (continued)

34.3 Finance costs (refer note 6)

 3 441  4 254 Finance costs  4 255  3 439 

  19   9 Net foreign exchange losses on translation 8   21 

 (32)  (30) Discounts on bonds amortised  (30)  (32)

 3 428  4 233  4 233  3 428 

34.4 Finance income (refer note 7)

  536   462 Finance income   488   561 

 (95)  (81) Interest received – Held-to-maturity  (81)  (95)

  441   381 407   466 

34.5 Taxation paid

Balance at the beginning of the year

 (157)   306 –  normal taxation (net)   303  (171)

Taxation as per income statements

 (900)  (177) –  normal taxation  (189)  (905)

Balance at the end of the year

 (306)  (214) –  normal taxation (net)  (209)  (303)

 (1 363)  (85)  (95)  (1 379)

34.6 Disposal of subsidiary

1 – Cash and cash equivalents – 1

1 – Net asset value – 1

1 – Selling price – 1

1 – Net Proceeds – 1

34.7 Cash and cash equivalents

 10 606   898 Cash and cash equivalents for continuing operations  1 189  10 876 

 10 606   898 Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  1 189  10 876 
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Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

35. Headline earnings
 3 923  4 090 Profit for the year attributable to equity holder  4 119  4 113 

  32  – Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxation  –   29 

  1  – 

Impairments – Lower of carrying value and fair value less 
costs to sell  –   1 

 3 956  4 090 

Profit for the year from continuing  and discontinued 
operations  4 119  4 143 

 (33)  (39)

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
(refer note 4.2)  (39)  (33)

 (637)  (353)

Fair value adjustments on investment properties  
(refer note 5)  (353)  (637)

  291   150 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  
(refer note 4.4)   150   291 

 (4)  26

Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of associates  
and subsidiaries 1  (3)

– (66) Impairment reversal of assets held-for-sale (66) –

 3 573  3 808 Headline earnings before taxation effects  3 812  3 761 

Taxation effects

  9   11 Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment   11   9 

  89   66 Fair value adjustments on investment properties   66   89 

 (81)  (42)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
(refer note 4.4)  (42)  (81)

– 18 Impairment reversal of assets held-for-sale 18 –

 3 590  3 861 Headline earnings  3 865  3 778 





Annexure A 
for the year ended 31 March 2012

124

Introduction
The Group has a centralised Treasury function which performs a supporting role to the Operating divisions and 
is tasked with the following three main objectives:
•  The Group is cost-effectively and timeously funded in support of the Group’s capital investment programme 

which is mainly executed by the Operating divisions;
•  Manage both financial and operational risks; and 
•  Lower the overall cost of doing business and add value to the overall business of Transnet.

All of these objectives should be performed in a professional and ethical manner in line with the Group’s 
governance framework.

Policies
The Financial Risk Management policies are contained in a Board approved Financial Risk Management 
Framework (FRMF). The objective of the FRMF is to provide clear guidelines to ensure effective risk 
management by ensuring that:
•  Risks are independently assessed and controlled regularly;
•  Risk exposures are formally reported; and 
•  There are clear responsibilities allocated to the relevant persons and accountability is defined.

The FRMF is approved by the Board and is aligned with the Group Enterprise-Wide Risk Management 
Framework (ERM), the Treasury Regulations, PFMA, King III, Charter of Best Practice of the Association of 
Corporate Treasurers of South Africa (ACTSA) and other applicable legislation and regulations. 

Apart from the requirements of the FRMF, Treasury must operate within the limits as contained in the Transnet 
Group Limits of Authority Framework (DOA) as approved by the Board. 

Risk philosophy
The overall risk management philosophy of Transnet, is to the extent possible, to avoid undue risks and manage 
business risks.  However, given the nature of Transnet’s business and MDS, it is not always possible to avoid 
risks all together. In pursuit of its business, the Group is exposed to a myriad of risks including but not limited 
to market, credit, liquidity and operational risks. The long-term viability, continued success and reputation of 
Transnet are critically dependent on the credibility of risk management, and commitment to applying leading 
practice in risk management. 

Risk profile and risk management
Financial risk assessment and analysis are disclosed on a monthly basis to the Group Treasurer, the Acting 
Chief Financial Offi cer, the Group Finance Committee (Finco) and the Group Executive Committee. The Group 
Executive Committee is responsible for reporting fi nancial risk exposures to the Board at scheduled Board 
meetings.

Transnet’s business operations expose it to liquidity, credit, and market risk (comprising foreign currency, 
commodity, interest rate and other price risk), which are discussed under the headings below. Given the level 
of volatility in the markets, Treasury will continuously manage all risks very closely so as to implement risk 
mitigating initiatives timeously, when required. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk exposures arise mainly as a result of the investment programme and operational expenditure 
programme, the redemption of loans and daily operational cash requirements. The Group has established a 
liquidity risk management policy with the following main objectives:
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•  To ensure adequate availability of funds in all currencies, to enable Transnet to meet all expected and 
unexpected financial commitments cost-effectively;

•  To manage the contractual maturity gap between assets and liabilities;
•  To manage current and projected cash flows;
•  To maintain an adequate level of cash holdings;
•   To diversify funding sources and have funding programmes available to reduce reliance on particular sources 

to support effective liquidity risk management;
•  To spread the maturity of debt issues to reduce refinancing risk; 
•  To do pre-funding of major capital redemptions to mitigate liquidity risk; and
•  Where needed, extend the debt portfolio to match the underlying assets.

During the past fi nancial year, Transnet has used the following funding programmes extensively to mitigate 
liquidity risk exposures; Domestic Medium-Term Note programme (DMTN, the issue size of the programme was 
extended from R30 billion to R55 billion), bond issues of R1,8 billion and commercial paper of R3,2 billion, bank 
loans of R5,6 billion and Development Finance Institutions of R500 million.

Certain thresholds, which are a combination of available cash, committed and uncommitted bank lines, minimum 
cash liquidity buffer and the pre-funding of major loan redemptions, are minimum requirements of the approved 
policy to further ensure effective liquidity risk management. Capital market investments are not allowed to 
avoid any capital losses before maturity. 

Transnet also produces a seven-year cash fl ow projection. These provide Treasury with a good estimate of the 
Group’s future funding requirements per fi nancial year. 

Counterparty risk

Counterparty risk exposures arise mainly as a result of the investment of operational cash on hand and surplus 
cash due to pre-funding strategies and positive fair market values of derivative hedging instruments. The 
Group’s main objectives of its counterparty risk policies are:
•  To mitigate counterparty risk exposures;
•  To diversify counterparty risk exposures;
•  To set limits for the different types of counterparty risk exposures; and 
•  To ensure that financial transactions are done with approved high credit quality counterparties.

The counterparty risk policy of the Group is fully aligned with the detailed requirements of the Treasury 
Regulations as referred to in the PFMA:
•  Selection of counterparties through credit risk analysis;
•  Establishment of investment limits per institution;
•  Establishment of investment limits per investment instrument;
•  Monitoring of investments against limits;
•  Reassessment of investment policies on a regular basis;
•  Reassessment of counterparty credit risk based on credit ratings; and
•  Assessment of investment instruments based on liquidity requirements.

Financial assets that potentially subject the Group to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of 
operational cash balances, call investments, short-term deposits, money market fund investments and positive 
fair market values of derivatives and trade receivables.  The Group’s exposures to counterparty risks in respect 
of all Treasury related transactions are confi ned to credible counterparties and are managed within Board 
approved credit limits. Limits are reviewed and approved by the Board on an annual basis. Trade receivables 
are presented net of impairments. It is Treasury’s policy to perform ongoing credit evaluations of the fi nancial 
position of its counterparties. Guarantees are issued under specifi c powers granted in terms of the PFMA, and 
in accordance with an approved DOA.



Annexure A (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

126

Investments are only allowed with international counterparties that are local authorised dealers with a 
minimum international long-term default issuer credit rating of A– (Fitch Ratings or equivalent) and domestic 
counterparties with a minimum national long-term credit rating of A- (zaf) (Fitch Ratings or equivalent) as rated 
by a recognised rating agency and approved by the Board as an approved counterparty. In addition to this the 
counterparty must have a minimum short-term credit rating of (F1 zaf) (Fitch Ratings or equivalent) to qualify for 
cash type of investments. No more than 40% of overall cash available may be invested with counterparties in the 
A rating category and is limited to 33% per investment type per counterparty. Money market funds are utilised 
as the major investment vehicle for surplus cash due to its diversifi ed risk profi le and enhanced return.

Market risk 

Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk arises mainly as a result of the capital investment programme and operational expenditure 
programmes, where goods are imported from foreign countries and are exposed to currency fl uctuations as 
well as the raising of funding in a foreign currency. Transnet’s main objectives regarding its foreign currency risk 
policies are:
•  To mitigate foreign currency risk exposures;
•  To bring certainty about future Rand cash flows where foreign exchange (FX) is involved; and
•  To insulate the Group’s income statement against exchange rate fluctuations.

Transnet does not take any foreign currency risk and all foreign currency risk exposures are hedged within the 
guidelines of the Board approved FRMF and DOA as soon as the supplier and funding agreements are signed. 
It is the Group’s preference to enter into Rand-based supplier and funding agreements, if this can be achieved 
at an acceptable cost, with no FX risk recourse to Transnet. If this approach is not cost-effective, Transnet 
will then hedge on its own fi nancial position. No pooling of hedging across different exposure types is allowed 
and hedging is done per project exposure. The foreign currency position is monitored on a monthly basis, by 
obtaining the net foreign currency position in all the major currencies, ie US Dollar (USD), Euro, Pound Sterling 
(GBP) and Japanese Yen (JPY) and other foreign currencies. Foreign currency risk exposures are fully hedged 
until maturity with vanilla hedging instruments after careful consideration and analysis of the taxation, fi nancial 
risk, accounting, operational and system implications. Hedge accounting is applied to all major contracts to 
minimise income statement volatility and the performance is monitored monthly by a sub-committee of Finco 
to ensure proper implementation and adherence to guidelines.   

Commodity risk 
Commodity risk refers to the potential variability in Transnet’s fi nancial condition owing to the changes in 
commodity prices such as Brent crude oil, steel, iron ore and others. Only fuel risk exposures are actively 
monitored on a regular basis and are hedged in terms of the Board approved FRMF and DOA. At the reporting 
date, no hedges have been entered into to hedge fuel risk exposures. Major customer agreements in respect 
of the general freight business (GFB) of the Group are structured in such a way that tariffs can be adjusted to 
compensate for changes in fuel prices (Brent and exchange rates), steel prices and electricity and do provide a 
good natural risk offset. Only the unhedged portion on fuel will be considered for hedging purposes in terms of 
approved policies. The Board approved FRMF requires the utilisation of vanilla type hedging instruments that 
are highly liquid with a maximum tenure of 12 months and the underlying used in a hedging strategy must have a 
very high correlation with the actual product consumed. 

Interest rate risk

This refers to the potential variability in Transnet’s fi nancial condition owing to changes in interest rate levels. 
The Group’s borrowings, investments in interest-bearing instruments and derivative fi nancial instruments create 
an exposure to this risk. The Group’s main objectives in managing interest rate risk are as follows: 
•  Manage the ratio of floating rate exposures versus fixed rate exposures;
•  Reduce the weighted average cost of debt (WACD) to ensure the gap to prevailing market rates is reduced;
•  Take advantage of interest rate cycles;
•  Support the business strategy in so far as interest rates are concerned;
•   Minimise the negative impact of adverse interest rate movements on the Group’s net income, cash flows and 

external finance cost budget within an acceptable risk profile; 
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•  Minimise the market-making cost of the Group’s repo bond portfolio; 
•  Manage the basis risk exposure where interest rate risk is netted between investments and borrowings; and
•   Manage the duration of the debt portfolio (including derivatives) to try and achieve alignment with the 

duration of the average payback periods of assets.

The Group measures interest rate risk by calculating the impact of fair value movements on derivatives and 
fl oating rate loans and running cash fl ow at risk scenarios and extreme sensitivities to determine the impact 
against the annually approved external fi nance cost budget in respect of current liabilities and new funding 
requirements per fi nancial year. All foreign currency interest rate risk exposures are hedged to Rand as soon as 
agreements are concluded. The Group’s Treasury is allowed to manage the fi x/fl oat interest rate risk exposure 
within Board approved ranges.   

Other price risk
The only other market risks the Company and Group is exposed to, is equity price risk. Equity price risk is the 
risk of fair value changes in future cash fl ows of a fi nancial instrument as a result of changes in the underlying 
share price. Transnet does not trade in equities and the only exposure of this nature at reporting date was an 
exposure in Brazil which is listed on the Brazilian Stock Exchange.

Liquidity risk 

Bonds at carrying and nominal values:

Transnet issues domestic bonds listed on the Johannesburg Securities Exchange (JSE), and the International 
Market. The following bonds were in issue at 31 March 2012 for Company and Group.

2012 2011

Bond
Redemption 

date

Coupon 
rate

%

Carrying 
value

R million

Nominal 
value

R million

Carrying 
value

R million

Nominal 
value

R million

Domestic Rand bonds T018* 15-Jul-14 10,75 Redeemed Redeemed 6 058 6 000
TN17 14-Nov-17 9,25 6 734 7 000 6 702 7 000
TN20 17-Sept-20 10,50 6 503 6 278 4 734 4 646
TN23 06-Nov-23 10,80 6 490 6 211 4 689 4 578
TN25 19-Aug-25 9,50 3 808 3 779 2 586 2 571
TN27 14-Nov-27 8,90 6 330 7 000 6 315 7 000

Total domestic bonds 29 865 30 268 31 084 31 795

Euro-rand bonds
Euro 13,5% 

2028* 18-Apr-28 13,50 1 955 2 000 1 953 2 000
Euro 10% 

2029* 30-Mar-29 10,00 1 040 1 500 1 034 1 500
Total Euro-rand bonds 2 995 3 500 2 987 3 500  
USD bonds TNUS16 10-Feb-16 4,5 5 736 5 762 5 121 5 149
Total foreign currency bonds 5 736 5 762 5 121 5 149
Total bonds in issue as at 

31 March 2012 38 596 39 530 39 192 40 444
*  These bonds are guaranteed by the Government of the Republic of South Africa, and the Company paid R19,2 million in guarantee fees 

(2011: R19,2 million). The amounts in the above table are all in respect of bonds held at amortised cost.

The T018 bonds were redeemed during the year. Of the R6 billion redeemed, R3 billion were redeemed using 
cash on hand and the remaining R3 billion via a bond swap using TN20, TN23 and TN25 bonds.
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Concentration of liquidity risk
The sources of funding are tabled below. Altogether 69% of the borrowings are widely held (2011: 66%):

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

– 102 Sanlam Capital Markets Ltd 102 –
– 48 Sanlam Investment Management (Pty) Ltd 48 –

2 682 635 Standard Bank London 635 2 682
693 1 749 Standard Bank Corporate Investment Bank 1 749 693

6 078 5 893 RMB/Division of FirstRand Bank Ltd 5 893 6 078
2 468 2 454 The Bank of Tokyo Mitsubishi Ltd 2 454 2 468
2 204 3 300 ABSA Bank Ltd 3 300 2 204
1 265 1 398 American Family Life Assurance Co. (AFLAC) 1 398 1 265

500 1 000 French Development Bank 1 000 500
150 – Investec Bank Ltd – 150
640 – China Construction Bank - JHB Branch – 640
250 – Citibank N.A. - South Africa – 250

2 189 2 095 Nedbank Ltd 2 095 2 189
100 – Momentum – 100
650 – Omsfi n – 650

39 883 39 331

Various holders of Transnet bonds and commercial paper, 
widely held, and traded* 39 331 39 883

276 125 Other 127 278
60 028 58 130 58 132 60 030

*  Includes bonds held at amortised cost of R38 596 million and commercial paper of R735 million (2011: Includes bonds held at amortised cost of 
R39 192 million and commercial paper of R691 million).

Funding plan

The funding requirements, including loan redemptions of R24,7 billion, over the next seven years is anticipated 
to amount to R86,5 billion and is reflected below. 

Target Projections

Funding option
2013

R million
2014

R million
2015

R million
2016

R million
2017

R million
2018

R million
2019

R million
Total

R million

Total funding 
(requirement)/excess (14 148)   (15 602)  (15 353) (20 515) (16 502) (11 507) 7 115 (86 512)
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The following schedule depicts the probable sources of funding to be used by Transnet over the next four 
fi nancial years, which will be driven by the Group’s business strategy, liquidity, investor/lender appetite as well 
as pricing.

2013
R million

2014
R million

2015
R million

2016
R million

Commercial paper 2 210 2 500 3 188 4 100
Domestic bonds 4 000 5 000 5 000 7 000
DFIs/ECAs/GMTN 5 800 5 100 5 000 6 000
Bank loans/other 2 100 3 000 2 165 3 400
Total funding 14 110 15 600 15 353 20 500

Contractual maturity analysis

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding 
the impact of netting arrangements for the Company and the Group:

 

Carrying 
value 
2012

R million

Contractual 
cash fl ows

 2012
R million

0 to 12 
months

R million

1 to 2 
years

R million

2 to 3 
years

R million

3 to 4 
years

R million

4 to 5 
years

R million

More
 than

 5 years
R million

Non-derivative fi nancial 
liabilities

 

Bonds (Company and Group) (38 596) (79 275) (2 704) (3 639) (3 639) (9 401) (3 379) (56 513)

Secured bank loans (Company) (3 900) (5 861) (899) (527) (811) (525) (523) (2 576)

Secured bank loans (Group) (3 902) (5 864) (902) (527) (811) (525) (523) (2 576)

Unsecured bank loans 
(Company and Group) (14 774) (17 945) (5 120) (1 008) (4 929) (960) (929) (4 999)

Commercial paper (Company 
and Group) (735) (735) (735) – – – – –

Other short-term borrowings 
(Company and Group) (125) (244) (62) (14) (26) (11) (11) (120)

Total borrowings (Company) (58 130) (104 060) (9 520) (5 188) (9 405) (10 897) (4 842) (64 208)

Total borrowings (Group) (58 132) (104 063) (9 523) (5 188) (9 405) (10 897) (4 842) (64 208)

Trade payables and accruals 
(Company)* (7 591) (7 591) (7 591) – – – – –

Trade payables and accruals 
(Group)* (7 623) (7 623) (7 623) – – – – –

Derivative fi nancial liabilities 
(Company and Group)

Cross-currency swaps – – – – – – – –

Forward exchange contracts 
used for hedging (139) (231) (85) (29) (38) (46) (33) –

– outfl ow (1 402) (1 501) (1 072) (102) (118) (126) (83) –

– infl ow 1 263 1 270 987 73 80 80 50 –

Other forward exchange 
contracts (5) 12 (2) 3 3 8 – –

– outfl ow (246) (249) (135) (41) (34) (39) – –

– infl ow 241 261 133 44 37 47 – –

Total derivative fi nancial 
liabilities (144) (219) (87) (26) (35) (38) (33) –

* Trade payables and accruals exclude employee benefits and VAT related accruals.
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Contractual maturity analysis (continued)

 

Carrying 
value 
2011

R million

Contractual 
cash fl ows

 2011
R million

0 to 12 
months

R million

1 to 2 
years

R million

2 to 3 
years

R million

3 to 4 
years

R million

4 to 5 
years

R million

More
 than

 5 years
R million

Non-derivative fi nancial 

liabilities

 

Bonds (Company and Group) (39 192) (81 297) (3 794) (3 794) (3 794) (9 471) (8 298) (52 146)
Secured bank loans (Company) (4 020) (6 402) (647) (798) ( 810) (526) (525) (3 096)
Secured bank loans (Group) (4 022) (6 404) (647) (798) ( 810) (526) (525) (3 098)
Unsecured bank loans (Company 
and Group) (15 848) (19 364) (9 595) (997) (1 991) (886) (842) (5 053)
Commercial paper (Company 
and Group) (691) (715) (715) – – – – –
Other short-term borrowings 
(Company and Group) (277) (277) (277) – – – – –
Total borrowings (Company) (60 028) (108 055) (15 028) (5 589) (6 595) (10 883) (9 665) (60 295)
Total borrowings (Group) (60 030) (108 057) (15 028) (5 589) (6 595) (10 883) (9 665) (60 297)
Trade payables and accruals 
(Company)* (6 978) (6 978) (6 978) – – – – –
Trade payables and accruals 
(Group)* (7 007) (7 007) (7 007) – – – – –
Derivative fi nancial liabilities 

(Company and Group)

Cross currency swaps (458) (14 773) (1 224) (1 204) (1 171) (1 146) (6 586) (3 442)
Forward exchange contracts 
used for hedging (180) (15) (15) – – – – –
– outfl ow (180) (346) (299) (40) ( 5) ( 2) – –
– infl ow – 331 284 40 5 2 – –
Other forward exchange 
contracts (12) ( 308) (108) (39) (32) (43) (50) (36)
– outfl ow (12) (2 052) (1 427) (195) (102) (119) (126) (83)
– infl ow – 1 744 1 319 156 70 76 76 47

Total derivative fi nancial 

liabilities (650) (15 096) (1 347) (1 243) (1 203) (1 189) (6 636) (3 478)

* Trade payables and accruals exclude employee benefits and VAT related accruals.
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Credit risk

Maximum exposure and analysis of exposures to credit risk
The following maximum exposures to credit risk existed at 31 March 2012 in respect of financial assets:

2012 2011

Carrying
 value

R million

Neither 
past 

due nor 
impaired
R million

Past due 
but not

 impaired
R million

Impaired
R million

Carrying 
value

R million

Neither
 past 

due nor 
impaired
R million

Past due 
but not

impaired
R million

Impaired
R million

Company
Trade receivables:****

– Low risk 3 552 3 077 475 (595) 3 224 2 476 748 (352)
– Medium risk    783    664 119 (32) 852 788 64 (107)
– High risk  306   281  25 (295) 252 212 40 (201)

4 641 4 098 543 (922) 4 328 3 476 852 (660)
0ther amounts  receivable** 713 638 75 (41) 994 393 551 (55)
Investments – current 2 755 2 755 – – 1 566 1 566 – –
Long- and short-term loans and 
advances* 4 4 – – 14 14 – –
Loans to subsidiaries and 
associates 3 3 – (394) 222 222 – (392)
Guarantees issued 1 940 – – – 2 153 – – –
Investment and price risk*** 1 354 – – – 12 966 – – –
Group
Trade receivables:****

– Low risk 3 554 3 079 475 (595) 3 226 2 476 750 (352)
– Medium risk    783   664 119 (32) 852 788 64 (107)
– High risk 306 281  25 (312) 252 212 40 (201)

4 643 4 024 619 (939) 4 330 3 476 854 (660)
0ther amounts receivable** 713 638 75 (41) 944 393 551 (55)
Investments – current 2 755 2 755 – – 1 566 1 566 – –
Long- and short–term loans and 
advances* 4 4 – – 14 14 – –
Guarantees issued 1 940 – – – 2 153 – – –
Investment and price risk*** 1 645 – – – 12 966 – – –

***  Investment and price risk includes call and fixed deposits as well as money market funds. The high investment risk exposure for 2012 and 2011 
is as a result of pre-funding done to minimise liquidity risk to fund the capital expenditure programme.

* Long-term advances (Company and Group) R2 million (2011: R11 million)
 Short-term advances (Company and Group) R2 million (2011: R3 million) 
Reconciliation to note 18 Company  Group 

** Other amounts receivable R713 million (2011: R944 million)  R713 million (2011: R 944 million) 
Prepayments R257 million (2011: R226 million)  R257 million (2011: R226 million) 
Prepayments and other amounts receivable R970 million (2011: R1 170 million)  R970 million (2011: R1 170 million) 

**** Trade receivables as per above R4 641 million (2011: R4 328 million)  R4 643 million (2011: R4 330 million) 
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Credit risk (continued)

Low risk: No guarantee is required from the customer.
Medium risk: 50% – 75% guarantee required by the customer.
High risk: In such instances, customers are required either to provide 100% guarantee or transact on a cash basis only. The balances for other 
receivables and loans and advances are not disaggregated for internal reporting purposes.
Price risk: The risk that financial derivatives and bond transactions have to be closed-out at a market value loss as a result of the unfavourable 
movements in market rates.
Bond issuer risk: The risk that an issuer of bonds will not be able to fulfil its financial obligations on maturity date in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the bond issues.
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure, defines credit risk as the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. As such Transnet will suffer financial losses on guarantees issued as the Group would be required 
to make good the failure by a third party to discharge an obligation. 
Credit enhancements in the form of title deeds and pension fund cessions for loans and advances and deposits and guarantees in respect of 
amounts included in trade and other receivables and loans and advances, are held by the Group. The Group took possession of some collateral 
during the current financial year amounting to R nil (2011: R1,2 million).

The following represents the ageing of the carrying value of financial assets past due but not impaired at 
31 March 2012 for the Company and Group:

1 – 30 days 31 – 60 days Greater than 60 days

Past 
due

  Low  
risk

Medium 
risk

High 
risk

Past 
due

  Low 
risk

Medium 
risk

High 
risk

Past 
due

  Low 
risk

Medium 
risk

High 
risk

2012

Trade receivables 430 400 22 8 23 14 6 3 166 61 91 14

Other receivables 26 26 – – 2 2 – – 47 47 – –

2011
Trade receivables (Company) 189 164 15 10 67 59 4 4 596 525 45 26
Trade receivables (Group) 189 164 15 10 67 59 4 4 598 527 45 26
Other receivables (Company 
and Group) 19 19 – – 7 7 – – 525 525 – –

Guarantees and deposits to the value of R279 million were held as collateral (2011: R55 million).

The following financial assets have been specifically impaired for the Company and Group at 31 March 2012: 

2012 2011

R million
Trade 

receivables
Other 

receivables
Trade 

receivables
Other 

receivables

Company

Low risk 543 8 444 4

Medium risk 74 – 338 –

High risk 210 – 143 –

Group

Low risk 543 8 444 4

Medium risk 74 – 338 –

High risk 210 – 143 –

Financial assets have been impaired based on the age of the debt and the inability to recover these specified 
assets.  Guarantees and deposits amounting to R175 million (2011: R30 million) are held with respect to these. 
Payment terms were renegotiated with certain counterparties in respect of trade receivables during 
the year.



A
n

n
u

a
l fi

 n
a

n
c

ia
l s

ta
te

m
e

n
ts

1332012 Annual fi nancial statements

Concentration of credit risk
Transnet’s 12 most significant customers (South African industrial enterprises) comprise 44,0% of the trade 
receivables carrying amount at 31 March 2012 (2011: 53,0%). 

The following diagram reflects the distribution of credit risk, expressed in terms of long-term credit ratings, 
excluding guarantees and trade receivables. The exposures below include cash investments (call, fixed deposits 
and money market funds), price risk exposures and operational bank balances. 

During the previous financial year cash balances were generally higher due to a pre-funding strategy which was 
not the case during the current financial year and hence the reason for the lower investment risk. 

Bond exposures are guaranteed by the Johannesburg Securities Exchange.

Risk per long-term rating (R million)

Money market 0,0

JSE 0,1

AA+ 230,1

A+ 90,5

A 130,0

AA 752,6

AA-  442,0

Risk per long-term rating (R million)

Money market 5 920,7

JSE 0,1

A+ 1 675,3

A 818,6

AA 1 447,6

AA- 2 135,4

AAA  1 062,9

March 2011March 2012
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The graph below reflects the distribution of credit risk per financial instrument per long-term credit rating 
category, excluding guarantees and receivables.

A+ 90,0

A 130,0

AA 720,8

AA- 135,4

Money market funds 0,0

AA+ 112,7

Risk per instrument per long-term rating 

(Investments) 2012 (R million)

Risk per instrument per long-term rating 

(Derivatives) 2012 (R million)

A+ 0,5

A 0,0

AA 31,8

AA- 306,6

Money market funds 0,0

AA+ 117,4

A+ 1 675,3

A 818,6

AA 1 447,6

AA- 2 135,4

AAA 1 062,9

Money market funds 5 920,7

Bond exchange 0,0

Risk per instrument per long-term rating 

(Investments) 2011 (R million)

Risk per instrument per long-term rating 

(Derivatives) 2011 (R million)

A+ 0,0

A 0,0

AA 0,0

AA- 0,0

AAA 0,0

Money market funds 0,0

Bond exchange 0,1
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Market risk

Foreign currency risk
The Company’s and Group’s net long/(short) foreign currency risk exposures as at 31 March 2012 are refl ected below 
(expressed in notional amounts):

2012 2011

USD
US$/m

JPY
¥/m

EUR
€m

AUD 
AU$/m

Other 
currencies 
exp in USD 

US$/m
USD 

US$/m
JPY
¥/m

EUR
€m

AUD 
AU$/m

Other 
currencies 
exp in USD 

US$/m

Foreign currency 
bonds (750) – – – – (750) – – – –
Secured bank loans – – – – – – – – – –
Unsecured bank 
loans – (41 334) – – – – (44 260) – – –
Brazil equity 
investment* 13 – – – – 21 – – – –
Gross balance 

sheet exposure (737) (41 334) – – – (729) (44 260) – – –
Exposures for 
future expenditure (128) (8 494) (47) (3) (11) (13) (17 046) (94) (9) (17)
Gross foreign 

currency exposure (865) (49 828) (47) (3) (11) (742) (61 306) (94) (9) (17)
Forward exchange 
contracts 110 8 494 30 – 11 5 17 046 41 4 –
Cross-currency 
swaps 750 41 334 – – – 750 44 260 – – –
Net uncovered 

exposure (5) – (17) (3) – 13 – (53) (5) (17)

* The USD13 million (2011: USD21 million) Brazil equity investment is only applicable at Group level.

Sensitivity analysis
The table below shows the impact on profi t and loss (non-hedge accounted for transactions) of a stronger and weaker Rand 
for the Company and Group, as a result of fair value movements of cross-currency interest rate swaps and forward exchange 
contracts. 

2012 2011

Currency

Currency 
exposure in 

millions of 
currency
R million

Fair value 
R million

Impact 
of Rand 

strengthening
R million

Impact 
of Rand 

weakening
R million

Currency 
exposure in 

millions of 
currency
R million

Fair value 
R million

Impact 
of Rand 

strengthening
R million

Impact 
of Rand 

weakening
R million

AUD – – – – (2) (0,2) (2) 2
EUR (33) 2 (23) 23 (13) (0,5) (10) 10
JPY (90) 0,3 (1) 1 343 (2) 3 (3)
USD (3) 2 (7) 7           (2) (4) (1) 1
Totals 4,3 (31) 31 (6,7) (10) 10
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Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Hedge accounting is applied to 96% of currency hedges where structures are designated either as fair value 
hedges or cash flow hedges as detailed in note 14. The sensitivity analysis above includes the impact of fair 
value movements on derivatives that are part of effective hedge accounting, hence the analysis is on a net 
balance, after the offsetting effect of the hedged item and hedging instruments. The sensitivity analysis was 
calculated using a 95% confidence interval over a 90-day horizon, and assumes all other variables remain 
unchanged. Basis swap adjustments have been added to the curves when doing the sensitivities to ensure that 
a more accurate market value is reflected that also takes market liquidity into account.

Value at risk (VaR)
The VaR for direct committed and uncommitted capital and operational exposures and the Brazilian equity 
investment is R23 million (2011: R61 million). VaR calculates the maximum pre-taxation loss expected (or 
worst case scenario) on a position held, over a 90-day horizon given a 95% confidence level. The VaR 
methodology is a statistically defined, probability-based approach that takes into account, inter alia, market 
volatilities relative to a position held. The Group uses historical simulation and the model assumes that 
historical patterns will repeat into the future and does not take extreme market conditions into account.     

Foreign exchange rates
The mid rates of exchange against Rand used for conversion purposes were:

2012 2011

US Dollar 7,6827 6,8655
Pound Sterling 12,1917 11,0033
Japanese Yen 10,7319 11,8549
Euro 10,1896 9,6653
Australian Dollar 8,0338 7,0385

Interest rate risk

The Company’s and Group’s exposure to fi xed and fl oating interest rates on domestic fi nancial liabilities 
refl ected at nominal values is as follows:

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

(42 861) (43 186) Fixed rate liabilities (43 188) (42 861)
(14 711) (15 866) Floating rate liabilities (15 884) (14 711)
(57 572) (59 070) (59 072) (57 572)

The exposure to fl oating interest rates on foreign fi nancial liabilities before swaps is R2 454 million 
(2011: R2 468 million) for the Company and Group, but the full foreign currency loan portfolio has been
swapped to a fi xed Rand interest rate risk exposure by means of cross-currency interest rate swaps and is 
included above under fi xed rate liabilities. The Board approved a targeted range of fi xed interest rates that may 
be managed to enable management to utilise interest rate yields. 
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Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below refl ect the interest rate impact on the fi nance cost budget for the 2013 fi nancial 
year in respect of existing liabilities and new funding requirements. 

2012 2011

Impact

Shift 
+100bp

R million

Shift 
-200bp

R million

Shift 
+250bp

R million

Shift 
-500bp

R million

Shift 
+500bp

R million

Shift 
+100bp

R million

Shift 
-200bp

R million

Shift 
+250bp

R million

Shift 
-500bp

R million

Shift 
+500bp

R million

Finance 
cost 
impact 
(increase) 
(Company 
and Group) 84 673 (210) 1 261 (700) (229) 220 (453) 668 (827)

The impact on profi t and loss of higher foreign interest rates on the Company and Group is insignifi cant, as all 
foreign debt has been swapped to a fi xed Rand interest rate risk.

The following table provides an analysis of fi nancial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.
•  Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities. This category of instruments consists mainly of Transnet bonds designated for 
market-marking activities and the repo instruments, which derive their prices through the Bond Exchange (JSE).

•  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (ie as prices) or indirectly (ie derived from 
prices). This category of instrument consists mainly of derivatives concluded for risk management purposes.

•  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 
asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

2012
Level 1

R million
Level 2

R million
Level 3

R million
Total

R million

Financial assets at FVTPL* 

Derivative fi nancial assets (Company and Group) – 502 – 502

Financial liabilities at FVTPL*

Derivative fi nancial liabilities (Company and Group) – 144 – 144

2011
Financial assets at FVTPL* 

Derivative fi nancial assets (Company and Group) – 45 – 45
Financial liabilities at FVTPL*

Derivative fi nancial liabilities (Company and Group) – 650 – 650

* FVTPL – Fair value through profit and loss.
Note: There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the period under review.
   There were no Level 3 fair value movements to disclose at 31 March 2012 as all fair value calculations are done by using market 

observable data.

Repurchase transactions (repos) concluded are classifi ed as held-to-maturity instruments, since April 2010 
when the market-making bonds matured.
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Other price risk

The Group has an exposure to equity price risk on the Brazilian Stock Exchange. At year-end, the quoted value 
of the Group’s investment in Brazil was R99 million (2011: R142 million). Management believes that the foreign 
exchange exposure on this investment is signifi cantly greater than that of equity price risk and as such the 
sensitivity for this investment has been included in the foreign currency risk net position and VaR calculations.

Commodity price risk

The table below shows the cash fl ow at risk scenarios against the approved budget for the 2013 fi nancial year 
at various levels of Brent crude and USD/ZAR ($/R) exchange rates as at 31 March 2012 (excluding energy 
levies):

31 March 2012 Performance to budget

$/R5,54 $/R6,00 $/R7,68 $/R9,82 $/R10,00

Brent @ $86,89 489 430 213 (62) (84)

Brent @ $123,26 191 107 (200) (590) (622)

Brent @ $145 12 (86) (447) (906) (943)

Brent @ $159,63 (107) (216) (613) (1 118) (1 160)

The table below shows the cash fl ow at risk scenarios against the approved budget for the 2012 fi nancial year at 
various levels of Brent crude and USD/ZAR ($/R) exchange rates as at 31 March 2011 (excluding energy levies):

31 March 2011 Performance to budget

$/R5,50 $/R5,93 $/R6,87 $/R7,80 $/R9,00
Brent @ $75 295 244 132 20 (124)
Brent @ $89,69 166 105 (29) (162) (334)
Brent @ $115,61 (61) (141) (313) (485) (707)
Brent @ $141,54 (289) (386) (597) (808) (1 079)
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Analysis, classification and fair values of financial instruments

Categories of financial instruments

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

Financial assets

17 684 9 579

Loans and receivables (including bank and cash, trade and 
other receivables) 9 872 17 956
Fair value through profi t and loss

45 502 – Held-for-trading 502 45
Financial liabilities

66 873 66 733

Liabilities measured at amortised cost (including trade and 
other payables) 66 767 66 904
Fair value through profi t and loss

650 144 – Held-for-trading 144 650
133 116 Finance lease liabilities 116 133

Except as detailed in the following table, the Directors consider that the carrying amounts of fi nancial assets 
and fi nancial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the fi nancial statements approximate their fair values:

Company Group

2011 2012 2012 2011

Fair 
value

R million

Carrying
 value

R million

Fair 
value

R million

Carrying
 value

R million

Fair 
value

R million

Carrying 
value

R million

Fair 
value

R million

Carrying 
value

R million

64 294  59 895 55 949 58 014 Borrowings 55 951 58 016 64 296 59 897
89 133 155 116 Finance lease obligations 155 116 89 133
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The net gains and losses on financial instruments are detailed below:

Company

Net (loss)/
gain

R million

2012

Liabilities held-for-trading* –

Liabilities measured at amortised cost*** (5 761)

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments 392

Assets held-for-trading 27

2011
Liabilities held-for-trading* (100)
Liabilities measured at amortised cost*** (5 205)
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments 479

Group

Net (loss)/
gain

R million

Less: 
Discontinued 

operations
R million

Continuing 
operations

R million

2012

Liabilities held-for-trading* –                            – –

Liabilities measured at amortised cost*** (5 761)                            – (5 761)

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments 392                            – 392

Assets held-for-trading*  27                            – 27

2011
Liabilities held-for-trading* (100) ** (100)
Liabilities measured at amortised cost*** (5 205) – (5 205)
Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments 479 – 479
Assets held-for-trading* – ** –

*  The net (loss)/gain on Company and Group financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading is R27 million gain (2011: R100 million loss). 
These are held for hedging purposes.

** The net gain on financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading pertinent to discontinued operations is R nil (2011: R nil).
***   The net loss on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost consists mainly of interest expense after offsetting against effective cash 

flow hedges.
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Transnet’s credit rating

Moody’s Investor Service 
On 10 November 2011, the following credit rating actions were taken:
•  Rating Outlook changed to negative from stable after similar action on the Republic of South Africa; and
•  the A3/Aa3.za/prime-2 ratings remain unchanged.

Standard and Poors
On 3 April 2012, the following credit rating actions were taken:
•   The Rating outlook changed to negative from stable after similar action on the Republic of South Africa in line 

with the Government related entity (GRE) criteria; and 
•   at the same time affi rmed foreign and local currency ratings at ‘BBB+’ and ‘A-’ respectively. The South African 

national scale rating has also been affi rmed at ‘ZaAA+’.
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Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million Notes

2012
R million

2011
R million

Continuing operations

 35 593  37 924 Revenue 2  37 952  35 610 

 (21 160)  (22 178)

Net operating expenses excluding depreciation  
and amortisation 3  (22 189)  (21 201)

 14 433  15 746 

Profit from operations before depreciation, 

amortisation and items listed below  15 763  14 409 
 (6 089)  (7 294) Depreciation and amortisation 4.1  (7 184)  (6 089)
 8 344  8 452 Profit from operations before the items listed below 4.2  8 579  8 320 

 (774)  (536) Impairment of assets 4.4  (537)  (778)
  8   26 Dividends received 4.5 – –

 (180)  (155) Post-retirement benefit obligation costs 4.6  (155)  (180)
 (18)   625 Fair value adjustments 5   625  (18)

Income from associates and joint ventures 13   58   5 
 7 380  8 412 Profit from operations before net finance costs  8 570  7 349 

 (3 018)  (3 441) Finance costs 6  (3 439)  (3 014)
  556   536 Finance income 7   561   578 

 4 918  5 507 Profit before taxation 5 692  4 913 
 (1 745)  (1 510) Taxation 8  (1 508)  (1 763)
 3 173  3 997 Profit for the year from continuing operations 4 184  3 150 

Discontinued operations

 (128)  (74) Loss from discontinued operations 1  (71)  (128)
 3 045 3 923 Profit for the year 4 113  3 022 

Property, plant and equipment reconciliation 

 Aircraft  
 R million 

 Floating
 craft 

 R million 

 Land, 
buildings 

  and 
structures 

 R million 

 Machinery, 
 equipment 

and 
 furniture 
 R million 

Company 
Balance at the beginning of the year 

Historical cost and revaluation   153 –  15 965  5 874 
Accumulated depreciation  (67) –  (2 985)  (3 028)
Accumulated impairment – –  (190)  (53)
Opening net carrying value at 1 April   86 –  12 790  2 793 
Current year movements 

Replacements –   12   9 181
Expansions – – 259  47
Acquisition through lease – – –   17 
Decommissioning liability – – – –
Disposals – – –  (3)
Depreciation  (22)  (108)  (602)  (505)
Derecognition – – – –
Revaluation – –   71 –
Impairment – historical cost and revaluation – –   41  (62)
Transferred to intangibles assets – – –  (88)
Transfers (to)/from non-current assets classified as  
held-for-sale – – –  (2)
Transfer to investment property – –  (92) –
Transfers within categories – 1 575 – (22)
Borrowing cost capitalised –   3   62   6 
Release of firm commitment to income statement – – – –
Transfer to inventories – – – –
Transfer from capital work-in-progress to assets** –   258  2 493 730 

 (22) 1 740 2 241 299 
Closing carrying value   64   1 740  15 031 3 092
Made up as follows: 
Historical cost and revaluation   153   2 127  18 746  6 683 

Accumulated depreciation  (89)  (387)  (3 556)  (3 414)

Accumulated impairment – –  (159)  (177)

Closing carrying value at 31 March   64   1 740  15 031 3 092 

*   Includes advance payments made to suppliers for the construction of General Electric locomotives and Eskom infrastructure of R543 million 
and R148 million respectively.

**  Includes a reclassification of Transtel assets amounting to R241 million. These assets were previously classified as permanent way and works 
and are now classified as machinery, equipment and furniture.

Annexure B 
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 Permanent 
 way and

 works 
 R million 

 Pipeline 
 networks 
 R million 

 Port 
 facilities 
 R million 

 Rolling
 stock and 

containers 
 R million 

 Vehicles 
 R million 

 Capital
 work-in-
 progress* 
 R million 

31 March
2012

 Total 
 R million 

31 March
2011
Total

 R million 

 18 930  13 867  74 314  39 106   809  23 202  192 220  158 501 
 (3 726)  (9 037)  (21 107)  (12 522)  (489) –  (52 961)  (43 574)

 (22)  (217)  (589)  (274)  (1)  (77)  (1 423)  (1 238)
 15 182  4 613  52 618  26 310   319  23 125  137 836  113 689 

  764 – 20   743   1 8 584  10 314  10 101 
– –  185 –   3 11 091  11 585  11 292 
– – – – – –   17   27 
–   8   335 – – –   343   84 

 (4)  (11)  (6)  (7)  (1)  (19)  (51)  (213)
 (690)  (355)  (1 628)  (3 593)  (30) –  (7 533)  (6 544)
 (120) – –  (502) – –  (622)  (590)

–   166  2 730 – – –  2 967  8 784 
 (222)   12  (18)  (111) –   210  (150)  (291)

– – – – –  (131)  (219)  (182)

  1 –  (2)   86 –  (26)   57   70 
– – – – – –  (92)  (143)
– – (1 575) 20 2 – – –
–  1 981 – – –  (408)  1 644  1 760 
– – – – –  (53)  (53)  (8)
– – –  (89) –  (1)  (90) –

 3 532  11 900   802  9 767   21  (29 503) – –
3 261 13 701 843  6 314  (4)  (10 256)  18 117  24 147 

 18 443  18 314 53 461  32 624 315  12 869 155 953  137 836 

 23 075  27 846 77 169  48 136   816  13 096 217 847  192 220 

 (4 386)  (9 328)  (23 101)  (15 035)  (500) –  (59 796)  (52 961)

 (246)  (204)  (607)  (477)  (1)  (227)  (2 098)  (1 423)

 18 443  18 314 53 461  32 624   315  12 869 155 953  137 836
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Property, plant and equipment reconciliation (continued)

 Aircraft  
 R million 

 Floating
 craft 

 R million 

 Land, 
buildings 

  and 
structures 

 R million 

 Machinery, 
 equipment 

and 
 furniture 
 R million 

Group 
Historical cost and revaluation   153 –  15 965  5 874 
Accumulated depreciation  (67) –  (2 985)  (3 028)
Accumulated impairment – –  (190)  (53)
Opening net carrying value at 1 April   86 –  12 790  2 793 
Current year movements 

Replacements –   12   9   181 
Expansions – –   259   47 
Acquisition through lease – – –   17 
Decommissioning liability – – – –
Disposals – – –  (3)
Depreciation  (22)  (108)  (602)  (505)
Derecognition – – – –
Revaluation – –   71 –
Impairment – historical cost and revaluation – –   41  (62)
Transferred to intangibles assets – – –  (88)
Transfers (to)/from non-current assets classified as  
held-for-sale – – –  (2)
Transfer to investment property – –  (92) –
Transfers within categories – 1 575 – (22)
Borrowing cost capitalised –   3   62   6 
Release of firm commitment to income statement – – – –
Transfer to inventories – – – –
Transfer from capital work-in-progress to assets** –   258  2 493   730 

 (22)   1 740  2 241 299
Closing carrying value   64   1740  15 031 3 092 
Made up as follows: 
Historical cost and revaluation   153   2 127  18 746  6 683 

Accumulated depreciation  (89)  (387)  (3 556)  (3 414)

Accumulated impairment – –  (159)  (177)

Closing carrying value at 31 March   64   1 740  15 031  3 092 

*   Includes advance payments made to suppliers for the construction of General Electric locomotives and Eskom infrastructure of R543 million 
and R148 million respectively.

**  Includes a reclassification of Transtel assets amounting to R241 million. These assets were previously classified as permanent way and works 
and are now classified as machinery, equipment and furniture.



 Permanent 
 way and 

 works 
 R million 

 Pipeline 
 networks 
 R million 

 Port 
 facilities 
 R million 

 Rolling
 stock and 

containers 
 R million 

 Vehicles 
 R million 

 Capital
 work-in-
 progress* 
 R million 

31 March
2012

 Total 
 R million 

31 March
Total
2011

 R million 

 18 930  13 867  74 314  39 106   809  23 202  192 220  158 407 
 (3 726)  (9 037)  (21 107)  (12 522)  (489) –  (52 961)  (43 579)

 (22)  (217)  (589)  (274)  (1)  (77)  (1 423)  (1 249)
 15 182  4 613  52 618  26 310   319  23 125  137 836  113 579 

  764 –   20   743   1  8 584  10 314  10 101 
– – 185 –   3  11 091  11 585  11 292 
– – – – – –   17   27 
–   8   335 – – –   343   84 

 (4)  (11)  (6)  (7)  (1)  (19)  (51)  (213)
 (690)  (355)  (1 628)  (3 593)  (30) –  (7 533)  (6 544)
 (120) – –  (502) – –  (622)  (480)

–   166  2 730 – – –  2 967  8 784 
 (222)   12  (18)  (111) –   210  (150)  (291)

– – – – –  (131)  (219)  (182)

  1 –  (2)   86 –  (26)   57   70 
– – – – – –  (92)  (143)
– – ( 1575) 20 2 – – –
–  1 981 – – –  (408)  1 644  1 760 
– – – – –  (53)  (53)  (8)
– – –  (89) –  (1)  (90) –

 3 532  11 900   802  9 767   21  (29 503) – –
 3 261 13 701 843  6 314  (4)  (10 256)  18 117  24 257 

 18 443  18 314 53 461  32 624   315  12 869 155 953  137 836 

 23 075  27 846 77 169  48 136   816  13 096 217 847  192 220 

 (4 386)  (9 328)  (23 101)  (15 035)  (500) –  (59 796)  (52 961)

 (246)  (204)  (607)  (477)  (1)  (227)  (2 098)  (1 423)

 18 443  18 314 53 461  32 624   315  12 869 155 953  137 836



Disposal groups classified as held-for-sale

Company Group

Notes
Total

R million
Total

R million

Assets classified as held-for-sale

Property, plant and equipment a   126   126 
Investment properties b   6   6 
Other investments c –   99 
Trade and other receivables d – –
Total   132   231 
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held-for-sale

Provisions e – –
Trade payables and accruals f – –
Total – –

Annexure C 
for the year ended 31 March 2012



Notes to disposal groups classified as held-for-sale

Company Group

2011
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

2011
R million

a. Property, plant and equipment
  257   132 Net carrying value at the beginning of the year   132   257 

 (54)  (15) Disposals  (15)  (54)
 (1)   66 Impairment   66  (1)

 (70)  (57)

Transferred to continuing operations  
(refer annexure B)  (57)  (70)

  132   126   126   132 

b. Investment properties
  8   17 Fair value at the beginning of the year 17   8 
 (8)  (87) Disposals  (87)  (8)

  17   76 Transferred from continuing operations 76   17 
  17   6   6   17 

c. Other investments
– – Balance at the beginning of the year 142 224
– – Fair value movement during the year  (43)  (82)
– –   99   142 

  1 – d. Trade and other receivables –   1 

e. Provisions 
  3   2 Total provisions at the beginning of the year   2   3 
 (1)  (2) Utilised during the year  (2)  (1)

  2 – –   2 

  7 – f. Trade payables and accruals –   7 
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Subsidiaries

Shares 
issued Effective holding

Voting 
power held

 2012  2011  2012 
 Million  %  %  % 

Local subsidiaries

Transport logistics

KN Viamax Logistics (Pty) Ltd†   100   100   100 

HSA Management Systems (Pty) Ltd*   100   100   100 

Viamax Logistics (Pty) Ltd*   100   100   100 

Viaren (Pty) Ltd†   100   100   100 

Marine Data Systems (Pty) Ltd*   80   80   80 

Owner Driver Management (Pty) Ltd® –   100 –

Property holdings

Transhold Properties (Pty) Ltd#   100   100   100 

Esselen Park Developments (Pty) Ltd® –   100 –

Point Waterfront (Pty) Ltd*   51   51   51 

Proptrade (Pty) Ltd#   100   100   100 

IT Procurement

B2B Africa Holdings (Pty) Ltd*   100   100   100 

Rolling stock and traction

Transwerk Foundries (Pty) Ltd†   100   100   100 

Insurance captive cells

Spoornet Guard Risk   100   100   100 

Social responsibility

Transnet Foundation Trust‡   100   100   100 

Investment holdings

Newshelf 697 (Pty) Ltd#   100   100   100 

Foreign subsidiaries

Transport logistics

African Joint Air Services Ltd (Uganda)#   57   57   57 

Freight Logistics International (British Virgin Islands)#   23   100   100   100 

Spoornet do Brasil Ltda (Brazil)**   100   100   100 

*    Dormant and in the process of deregistration.
®    Deregistered.
#   Dormant.
 †   In liquidation.
 ‡   In dissolution.
**  Holds an investment in America Latina Logistica SA (ALL Group Ltd).



Shares at cost
Interest of holding  company 

net profit/(loss)

Interest of holding 
 company 

indebtedness 
Accumulated impairment 

 and losses

 2012  2011  2012  2011  2012  2011  2012  2011 
 R million  R million  R million  R million  R million  R million  R million  R million 

– – – – – – – –
  16   16 –  (22) – –   16   16 

  1   1 –  (1) – –   1   1 
– – – – – – – –
– – –   5 – – – –
– – – – – – – –

– – – – – – – –
– – – – – – – –

– – – – – – – –
– – – – – – – –

– – –   1 – – – –

– – – – – – – –

  3   3   6   32 – – – –

– – – – – – – –

– – – – – – – –

– –  (2) –   386   384   386   384 
  23   23   13   18 –   219   23 –

  219 – – – – – – –
  262   43   17   33   386   603   426   401 
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 Associates and joint ventures^

Effective holding  Shares at cost

 2012  2011  2012  2011 
Principal activity  %  %  R million  R million 

Associates

Commercial Cold Storage (Ports)  
(Pty) Ltd Storage and bondage   30   30 – –
Comazar (Pty) Ltd# Transport logistics   32   32   13   13 
Mossel Bay Waterfront Development 
(Pty) Ltd#

Property development 
and management   15   15   2   2 

Cape Town Bulk Storage (Pty) Ltd Port operations   50   50   1   1 
Experience Delivery Company (Pty) Ltd Managing agent   11   11 – –
RainProp (Pty) Ltd Property development 

and management   20   20   3   3 
Joint ventures

Gaborone Container Terminal Container terminal   36   36   6   6 
  25   25 

^   Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa, unless stated otherwise.
#   Dormant.

Summarised financial information of significant associates

Commercial
 Cold Storage 

(Ports) 
(Pty) Ltd

 Cape Town 
 Bulk Storage 

 (Pty) Ltd
RainProp
 (Pty) Ltd

2012
R million

2012
R million

2012
R million

Financial position

Total assets   50   3   905 

Total liabilities   9   3   589 

Results of operations

Revenue   45   3   149 

Net (loss)/profit   (1)  (1)   62 



 Interest of holding  
 company

indebtedness

Accumulated 
impairment 

and losses

Share of post- 
 acquisition 

 reserves Total

 2012  2011  2012  2011  2012  2011  2012  2011 
 R million  R million  R million  R million R million  R million  R million  R million 

  1   1 – –   11   11   12   12 
  8   8   21   21 – – – –

– –   2   2 – – – –
  2   2   1 –  (2) – –   3 

– – – – – – – –

– – – –   51   57   54   60 

– – – – – –   6   6 
  11   11   24   23   60   68   72   81
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New financial reporting standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

The following new or revised international financial reporting standards, amendments and interpretations of those standards 
which are applicable to the Group are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2012 and were not applied in preparing 
these financial statements:

Standard or 
interpretation Detail Effective date

IAS 1  
(amendment)

Presentation of Financial Statements

Presentation of other comprehensive income
The amendments require items of other comprehensive income, 
and the related taxation effect, to be grouped into those that will 
subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss and those that will not. 

The amendments will be applied retrospectively and will not have a 
material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Annual periods beginning on or 
after  1 July 2012.

IAS 19 

(revised)
Employee Benefits

The amendments require all actuarial gains or losses to be 
recognised immediately in other comprehensive income while all 
past-service cost, whether vested or not, are recognised in full in 
profit or loss in the period of the plan amendment.

Interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and the expected 
return on plan assets are both replaced with a net interest cost 
based on the net defined benefit asset or liability at a discount rate 
determined at the beginning of the year.

In addition, benefits may only be classified as short-term employee 
benefits if they are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees 
render the related service.

The revised standard will be applied retrospectively and is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

Annual periods beginning on or 
after  1 January 2013.

IAS 27  

(revised)
Separate Financial Statements

The amended standard now only deals with the requirements for 
separate financial statements. The Standard requires that when 
an entity prepares separate financial statements, investments in 
subsidiaries, associates, and jointly controlled entities are accounted 
for either at cost, or in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
The revised standard will be applied retrospectively and is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

Annual periods beginning on or 
after  1 January 2013.

IAS 28  
(revised)

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

This standard supersedes IAS 28 Investments in Associates and 
applies to all entities that are investors with joint control of, or 
significant influence over, an investee (associate or joint venture). 
The revised standard sets out the requirements for the application 
of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates 
and joint ventures. It also prescribes how investments in associates 
and joint ventures should be tested for impairment.

The revised standard will be applied retrospectively and is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.



Standard or 
interpretation Detail Effective date

IAS 32  
(amendment)

Financial Instruments: Presentation

The standard has been amended to clarify certain aspects relating to 
four main areas:

 
set-off’;

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2014.

IFRS 7 
(amendment)

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

Enhanced derecognition disclosure requirements
The IASB introduced enhanced disclosure requirements to IFRS 7 to 
ensure that users of financial statements are able to more readily 
understand transactions involving the transfer of financial assets 
(for example, securitisations), including the possible effects of 
any risks that remain with the entity that transfers the assets. The 
amendments also require additional disclosures if a disproportionate 
amount of transfer transactions are undertaken around the end of 
the reporting period.

The amendments also require information about all recognised 
financial instruments that are set off in accordance with paragraph 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and disclosure of 
information about recognised financial instruments subject to 
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements 
even if they are not set off under IAS 32. 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the 
Group’s financial statements. 

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2011.

IFRS 9  
(new)

Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 requires all recognised financial assets to be measured either 
at amortised cost or fair value depending on the business model 
under which they are held and the cash flow characteristics of the 
instrument. Debt instruments held with the principal objective to 
collect contractual cash flows (principal and interest) are generally 
measured at amortised cost while all other debt instruments and all 
equity instruments are measured at fair value. 

Derivatives embedded in host contracts that are financial assets are 
no longer required to be bifurcated if they are not closely related 
to the host contract. Instead, the entire contract is assessed for 
measurement either at amortised cost or at fair value depending on 
the business model and cash flow characteristics as stated above. 
Derivatives embedded in contracts that are not financial assets, 
including financial liabilities still need to be assessed to determine 
whether they should be accounted for separately.

The new standard removes the cost exemption for unquoted equity 
instruments and contains additional disclosure requirements for 
financial liabilities as well as derecognition of financial instruments.

The standard will be applied retrospectively subject to the 
standard’s transitional provisions. The impact on the Group’s 
financial statements has not yet been estimated.

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2015.



Annexure E (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Standard or 
interpretation Detail Effective date

IFRS 10 
(new)

Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 establishes revised principles for the presentation and 
preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity 
controls one or more other entities. The IFRS supersedes IAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 

IFRS 10 changes the definition of control and eliminates the risk and 
rewards approach previously included in SIC-12. The existing IAS 27 
is renamed IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements, and now deals 
solely with separate financial statements. The existing guidance for 
separate financial statements is unchanged.

The new standard will be applied retrospectively and is not expected 
to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.

IFRS 11  
(new)

Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11 establishes revised principles for financial reporting 
by parties to a joint arrangement.  The IFRS supersedes IAS 31 
Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities – 
Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. 

The new standard reduces the types of joint arrangements to two; 
namely joint operations and joint ventures. The policy choice in IAS 
31 of proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities has 
been eliminated. Equity accounting is mandatory for participants in 
joint ventures. Entities that participate in joint operations will apply 
accounting similar to that for joint assets or joint operations under 
the old IAS 31.

The new standard will be applied retrospectively and earlier 
application is permitted. The standard is not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.

IFRS 12  
(new)

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

The IFRS sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting 
under the two new standards; IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. It also replaces the 
disclosure requirements currently found in IAS 27 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, IAS 28 Investments in Associates 
and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

The new standard will be applied retrospectively and is not expected 
to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.

IFRS 13  
(new)

Fair Value Measurement

IFRS 13 aims to provide clearer and more consistent guidance 
on measuring fair value and enhance fair value disclosures. The 
requirements do not extend the use of fair value accounting, but 
provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already 
required or permitted by other standards within IFRS.

The new standard will be applied prospectively and earlier 
application is permitted. The standard is not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.



The financial reporting standards, amendments or interpretations listed below are currently not applicable to the Group and will 
have no impact on the Group’s financial statements: 

Standard or 
interpretation Detail Effective date

IFRS 1

(amendment)
First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 

Standards

Removal of fixed dates for first-time adopter
The amendment replaces specific dates incorporated in 
some of the requirements of the IFRS (e.g. requirements 
relating to derecognition of financial assets and day one 
gains or losses). 

Hyperinflation
The IASB amended IFRS 1 to provide guidance on how 
entities emerging from hyperinflation should measure 
the assets and liabilities they held prior to the functional 
currency normalisation date.

Government loans
The amendment addresses the accounting treatment 
of government loans at below-market interest rates on 
initial transition to IFRSs. These amendments mirror the 
requirements for existing IFRS preparers in relation to 
the application of amendments to IAS 20 Accounting 
for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance.

1 July 2011.

1 January 2013.

International financial 

reporting standards 

interpretation committee 

20 (new)

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface 

Mine

International financial reporting standards 
interpretation committee 20 addresses the recognition 
of production stripping costs as an asset, the initial 
measurement of stripping activity asset at cost and the 
subsequent measurement of the stripping activity asset.

1 January 2013.



Corporate governance
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Corporate governance
An extract from King III, which puts into perspective the link between governance principles and law, is 
important to take note of:

“As far as the body of legislation that applies to a company is concerned, corporate governance mainly involves 
the establishment of structures and processes, with appropriate checks and balances that enable directors to 
discharge their legal responsibilities, and oversee compliance with legislation. In addition to compliance with 
legislation, the criteria of good governance, governance codes and guidelines will be relevant to determine 
what is regarded as an appropriate standard of conduct for directors. The more established certain governance 
practices become, the more likely a court would regard conduct that conforms with these practices as meeting 
the required standard of care. Corporate governance practices, codes and guidelines therefore lift the bar 
of what are regarded as appropriate standards of conduct. Consequently, any failure to meet a recognised 
standard of governance, albeit not legislated, may render a board or individual director liable at law”. 

Sound corporate governance principles define and direct the responsibilities of the Board, the Group Executive 
Committee, prescribed officers, managers and other internal stakeholders. Through effective corporate 
governance, the Company sets objectives, develops plans for achieving them and establishes procedures 
for monitoring performance. Transnet’s Policy Framework specifies ethical practices and provides for the 
protection of stakeholder interests. Effective corporate governance requires ongoing commitment from all 
stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company attempts to apply the letter and spirit of sound corporate governance 
to all corporate decisions by actively driving a sustained governance culture throughout the Company via 
associated norms and standards. This culture is informed by an understanding that governance, strategy, 
performance, compliance, risk and sustainability are intrinsically linked.

Areas identified in need of further improvement by Transnet Internal Audit in the 2010/11 Corporate 
Governance review, have been addressed. These included, inter alia, an increased focus on compliance and 
a refinement of the manner in which the Board discharges its responsibility for maintaining a Governance 
Framework. The Company aims to be ‘leading’ in these areas by the end of 2013.

Introduction
The Board acts as the focal point for and custodian of corporate governance. King III, the PFMA  
and the Companies Act, 2008 are priority legislation for Transnet.

During the year, the Company demonstrated its continued commitment to the letter and spirit of good 
corporate governance as outlined in King III and the Companies Act.

The PFMA requires that the Board act with fidelity, honesty, integrity and in the best interests of the Company 
in managing its financial affairs.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that appropriate internal control systems are maintained to ensure that 
Company assets are safeguarded and managed, and losses arising from fraud and/or other illegal acts are 
minimised. Control systems are continually monitored and improved in accordance with generally accepted  
best practice.

The Company continues to strive towards a governance maturity level that will position Transnet as a leader in 
corporate governance.

Refer to the Report of the Directors on page 22 for specific statutory requirements impacting the governance 
environment of Transnet.



During December 2010, Transnet Internal Audit developed a Governance Control Framework (GCF), which was 
aligned to specific requirements of King III and the PFMA. The GCF creates the minimum standard of corporate 
governance controls that are to be embedded across Transnet. It is acknowledged that the GCF will mature with 
the changing environment and new and amended legislation.

Following the commencement of the Companies Act, 2008 on 1 May 2011, Group Compliance undertook a 
further review of the GCF. The objective of this review was to assess the adequacy (by design) of the existing 
controls, within the GCF, which will ensure compliance to the Companies Act and the PFMA. There were gaps 
identified, and the GCF is presently being further enhanced in relation to the gaps identified.

The GCF continues to ensure that Transnet meets its regulatory requirements and that business decisions 
are taken within acceptable governance practices. A continued focus remains on ensuring that the GCF and 
adherence to governance legislation is reviewed on a continual basis. 

Code of Ethics
The Company promotes a culture of principled and ethical behaviour in all aspects of the business. Values are 
entrenched through an approved and published Code of Ethics (Code) which guides employee behaviour in all 
internal and external stakeholder relations. The Code is reviewed every two years and commits the Company’s 
non-executive directors, executive directors and employees to the highest standards of ethical behaviour. All 
Company employment contracts make reference to this Code. Transnet’s service providers, suppliers and trade 
partners are also subject to the Code.

The Code was reviewed in January 2012 for appropriateness and further aligned to the Transnet  
Culture Charter.

Compliance
Transnet has an established formal Compliance Function, Policy and Framework. As is the case with all Company 
policies, the Group Compliance Policy is reviewed annually and updated when necessary. This Policy forms the 
foundation of the Transnet Compliance Framework.

The Company considers non-compliance with legislative requirements as a key risk, as it not only exposes 
Transnet to fines and civil claims, but can also result in loss of operational authorisations and reputational harm.

Section 51(1)(h) of the PFMA requires the Board to ensure that Transnet and all its personnel comply with the 
provisions of the PFMA and any other legislation that is applicable to the Company. The compliance function 
therefore identifies, assesses and monitors critical controls associated with regulatory requirements, statutory 
licences, codes and standards applicable to the Company. Compliance issues are reviewed both centrally at the 
Group’s Corporate Centre as well as within the Operating divisions and Specialist Units.

The Audit Committee is charged with drafting and reviewing the Company’s Compliance Plan, which details 
procedures for identifying regulatory risks and monitoring compliance with applicable regulatory requirements. 
With the approval of the MDS the Compliance Plan has been aligned to its objectives to ensure compliance 
exposures emerging from the execution of the MDS are appropriately mitigated.



Fraud Risk Management Plan
Transnet manages fraud risk exposure through its Fraud Risk Management Plan (FRMP) as required by Regulation 
29.1.1 of the Treasury Regulations prescribed under the PFMA. The FRMP has been effective since 2009.

With the approval of the MDS, the FRMP has been aligned to the MDS objectives to ensure potential emerging 
fraud risks resulting from its execution are adequately mitigated.

The continuous enhancement of the FRMP in accordance with the Company’s strategic direction ensures that good 
corporate governance is upheld, employees are kept informed, and effective mechanisms are in place to prevent, 
detect and report instances of fraud, corruption and other economic crimes. The MDS places strong emphasis on 
the areas of procurement, human capital, and enterprise information and management systems (EIMS).  
The importance attributed to these areas within the MDS, together with the evolving nature of fraud, corruption 
and other economic crimes, requires that the FRMP be more robust in addressing corruption and cybercrime. 
As more business transactions move online, there is a visible shift from traditional crimes to crimes involving 
electronic information.

Transnet places a strong emphasis on an effective anti-fraud programme, which identifies fraud risk exposures 
and enhances controls, processes and procedures to reduce opportunities for employees and third parties to 
commit fraud.

Fraud Risk Management Plan 2013

The FRMP provides mechanisms for the prevention, early detection and investigation of irregularities. It further 
provides corrective measures to address control breakdowns and to identify root causes of fraud and other 
statutory common law crimes. 

Previous iniatives and activities which supported the Quantum Leap Strategy have been enhanced to  
support the MDS. The 2013 plan introduces additional initiatives, depicted alongside, thereby aligning with the  
MDS execution plan.

The initiatives and activities aim to prevent or minimise the negative impact of fraud, corruption and other 
economic crimes in the execution of the MDS. Whilst enhancing initiatives to manage fraud risk in previous 
years, these themes emphasise the related root causes of fraud emanating from the areas of governance, 
people, methods and practices.  

Corporate governance (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012



Fraud Risk Management Plan
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Corporate governance (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Tip-Offs Anonymous hotline statistics 

Details

1 April 2011 
to 31 March 

2012

1 April 2010 
to 31 March 

2011

Total allegations 1 023 969
Founded 159 183
Unfounded 398 492
Total in progress 466 294

Details

1 April 2011 
to 31 March 

2012

1 April 2010 
to 31 March 

2011

Total disciplinaries 166 290
Finalised 91 165
  No person implicated 27 70
  Demoted 1 –
  Dismissed 6 27
  Final warning 46 38
  Resigned 7 18
  Verbal warning 4 12
In progress 69 121
Total criminal/civil 6 4
The increase in the allegations can be attributed to the fraud awareness education campaign ie Industrial 
Theatre awareness programme which covered in excess of 10 000 employees at all levels. This was also 
performed to the Board and the Group Executive Committee to ensure that the correct tone at the top  
is maintained. 

The increase in the number of ‘in progress’ allegations is a result of the decision to insource all non-fraud 
allegations, while all allegations of a serious and complex nature are investigated by the outsource service 
provider.

The Operating divisions and Specialised Units are in the process of increasing their capacity to address the  
‘in progress’ allegations. 



Conflicts of interests
The Companies Act codifies the fiduciary duties of directors. It prescribes the use of position and the approach 
to privileges, and guards against the use of confidential information to further personal gain or to improperly 
benefit another person.

The Declaration of Interests and Related Party Policy for Employees, initially approved by the Group Executive 
Committee on 23 September 2009, has been amended in accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act in January 2012. A similar policy for non-executive directors has been drafted and is currently proceeding 
through the governance process for approval.

In instances where a non-executive director has any direct or indirect personal or private business interest,  
he/she must withdraw from the proceedings when the matter is considered by the Board or any of its 
Committees, unless the Board or any of its Committees determines that a member’s interest in the matter is 
trivial or irrelevant.

Formal registers for ’declarations of interest’ and ‘related party disclosures’ by the Board and its Committees 
are maintained by the Group Company Secretary.

In addition, the Company requires all employees to sign confidentiality and ‘declaration of interest’ forms when 
adjudicating on procurement contracts. On an annual basis prior to the commencement of the financial year, 
the Company requires the Board and Management to declare all conflicts of interest. The annual declaration of 
interests register for the Board and the Group Executive Committee are noted within the respective governance 
structures at the beginning of the financial year or as and when a revised declaration of interest is submitted to 
the Group Company Secretary.

Group Company Secretariat function
The Group Company Secretary is responsible for developing systems and processes to enable the Board to 
discharge its functions efficiently and effectively. The Group Company Secretary prepares the annual work plan 
for the Board and its Committees in conjunction with the Chairman and this annual work plan is approved by the 
respective committees of the Board. The Group Company Secretary advises the Board on corporate governance 
issues, the requirements of the Companies Act and other relevant legislation. The Board has access to the 
services and advice of the Group Company Secretary.

In addition to various statutory functions, the Group Company Secretary provides individual non-executive 
directors and the Board with guidance on duties, responsibilities and powers, and the impact of regulatory 
developments. The Board has empowered the Group Company Secretary with the responsibility for advising the 
Board, through the Chairman, on all governance matters.

In consultation with the Chairman, the Group Company Secretary ensures that the contents of the agenda are 
relevant to Board decision-making and the outcome of the Board’s deliberations is communicated throughout 
the Company appropriately. The Group Company Secretary acts as the primary point of contact between the 
Board and the Company.

The Group Company Secretary is qualified to perform the duties in accordance with the applicable legislation 
and is considered by the Board to be fit and proper for the position.



Corporate governance (continued)
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Board of Directors
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The Board’s primary mandate is to ensure the sustainable and successful continuation of business activities 
by providing strategic direction to Transnet. Non-executive directors are appointed to the Board by the 
Shareholder Representative, on a three-year term. The appointments are confirmed annually at the annual 
general meeting. The Chairman of the Board engages continuously with the Shareholder Representative, who 
is the final arbiter on Board succession plans and approval of transaction applications in accordance with the 
provisions of section 54 of the PFMA.

King III imposes specific responsibilities on the Board. The non-executive directors embrace these and 
acknowledge that the Board is primarily responsible for ensuring that the Group’s non-executive strategy, risk 
compliance, performance and sustainability are inseparable. It provides effective leadership based on an ethical 
foundation of responsibility, accountability, fairness and transparency.



Board composition

The Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation provides that there shall not be less than 10 and not more than  
18 directors, of whom not less than eight shall be non-executive directors and two executive directors. As  
at 31 March 2012, the Board comprised 18 directors of whom the majority (16), are non-executive, including  
the Chairman.

The non-executive directors are independent and have diverse skills, experience and backgrounds. They are 
principally free from any business relationship that could hamper their objectivity or judgement in terms of the 
business and activities of the Company. All the non-executive directors have unrestricted access to information, 
documents, records and property of the Company in the interest of fulfilling their responsibilities as non-
executive directors. The non-executive directors contribute a variety of skills, business acumen, independent 
judgement and experience on various issues, including strategy, corporate governance, performance and general 
leadership, whilst the executive directors provide an operational understanding of the Company.

The non-executive directors have direct, unfettered access to the Company’s external auditors, professional 
advisors and internal auditors. 
The Company is committed to the continued development of non-executive directors in order to build on their 
expertise and develop an even more detailed understanding of the business and the markets in which the 
Operating divisions operate. On an annual basis, non-executive directors undergo training either individually or 
as a group so as to effectively discharge their duties.
The Chairman and the Group Chief Executive’s roles and responsibilities are separate. The Chairman,  
Mr Mkwanazi, is an independent non-executive director.
In addition to the Corporate Governance Framework, the Company is committed to complying with the letter 
and spirit of all regulatory requirements relevant to the Company.

The following two non-executive directors were appointed to the Board on 24 June 2011:

Mr MP Malungani resigned from the Board with effect from 1 April 2012.
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Board of Directors Other boards or trusts

Mr ME Mkwanazi
(Chairman)

Directorship/Trusteeship:
Before the Wind Investments 53
Marble Gold 237 (Pty) Ltd
MLZZ Family Trust
Mkwanazi Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Ukhamba Bricks and Quarry (Pty) Ltd
Born Free Investments 402
Hulamin Ltd
Stefanutti & Stocks Holdings
South African Bureau of Standards
Eskom SOC Ltd

Mr NK Choubey None

Mr MA Fanucchi None

Ms Y Forbes Directorship/Trusteeship:
Mobacomm (Pty) Ltd

Mr HD Gazendam Directorship/Trusteeship:
Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund
Toyota SA

Ms NBP Gcaba Directorship/Trusteeship/Partnership:
Transnet Retirement Fund Property Trust
Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund
Partnership: Spoor & Fisher Attorneys



Board of Directors Other boards or trusts

Mr MP Malungani Chairmanship:
Peu Group (Pty) Ltd 
Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Ltd 
Directorship/Trusteeship:
Asili Investments (Pty) Ltd
Coral Lagoon Investments 225 (Pty) Ltd
Ematini  Game Lodges (Pty) Ltd
Dipcivils (Pty) Ltd
Dipcivils Properties (Pty) Ltd
Dip Plant (Pty) Ltd
Dip Developments (Pty) Ltd
Great North Building Supplies
Intsika Enablement Trust
Intsika Investment Trust
Investec Ltd
Investec Bank Ltd
Investec Asset Management  Holdings (Pty) Ltd 
Investec Plc
Investec Security Purchase Share Scheme 2003
Jim Khazamula Investments (Pty) Ltd
Jim Khazamula Trust
Klaprops 80 (Pty) Ltd
Klaprops 81 (Pty) Ltd
Klaprops 82 (Pty) Ltd
Klaprops 83 (Pty) Ltd
Klaprops 140 (Pty) Ltd
Klatrade 452 (Pty) Ltd
Klatrade 200022 (Pty) Ltd
Lazarus Car Hire (Pty) Ltd
Lazarus Motor Company (Pty) Ltd
Malazvis Property Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Malungani  Building Supplies CC
Malungani Family Trust
Malungani Sanitary & Hardware Supplies CC
Mangeke Estate (Pty) Ltd
Masana Networking (Pty) Ltd
Masana Technologies (Pty) Ltd
Masana Telecommunications (Pty) Ltd
Matini Game Lodge (Pty) Ltd
Mpindo (Pty) Ltd
Ndzhakeni Investments (Pty) Ltd
New Adventure Shelf 165 (Pty) Ltd
Nkanyi Game Lodge (Pty) Ltd
Nkanyi Private Game Reserve (Pty) Ltd
Northern Diamond News Group (Pty) Ltd
Nungu Game Lodge (Pty) Ltd
Nungu Private Game Reserve (Pty) Ltd
Phumelela Gaming and Leisure Ltd
Plot 93 Roodekrans (Pty) Ltd
Portfolio Business Television Productions (Pty) Ltd
PPC SBP Consortium Funding SPV (Pty) Ltd
Pretoria Portland Cement  Company Limited
Pytprops 180 (Pty) Ltd
Stabilid Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Southern Lights Investments 2709 (Pty) Ltd
Suddaby Investments (Pty) Ltd
Tiyani Property Consortium (Pty) Ltd
Umlimi Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Vista Group Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Vista Mineral & Energy (Pty) Ltd
Vista Resources (Pty) Ltd
WP Malungani and Sons Management Services (Pty) Ltd
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Board of Directors Other boards or trusts

Mr BD Mkhwanazi Chairmanship
Southern African Shipyards (Pty) Ltd
Hlahlindlela Investments (Pty) Ltd
Directorship/Trusteeship:
Unigas (Pty) Ltd
Oceanmasters (Pty) Ltd
Acetowise (Pty) Ltd
Rodcol (Pty) Ltd
Moses Kotane Institute
Royal Household Trust Board
Presidential Advisory Council on BBBEE
KZN Advisory Council on BBBEE
Unizul Board of Governors

Ms T Mnyaka Directorship/Trusteeship:
Black Management Forum National 
BMF Investment
Business Unity South Africa
Durban Chamber of Commerce & Industry
KZN BEE Advisory Commission
South African Chamber of Commerce and Industry

Mr B Molefe Directorship/Trusteeship:
B & PPJ Trust
Karibu Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Karibu Capital (Pty) Ltd
Karibu Real Estate Investments (Pty) Ltd
Lion of Africa Fund Managers

Ms N Moola Directorship/Trusteeship:
Mercedes-Benz South Africa

Mr MP Moyo Chairmanship:
Vodacom Group Limited
Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund
Directorship/Trusteeship:
Amabubesi Capital (Pty) Ltd
Amabubesi Capital Technologies (Pty) Ltd
Amabubesi Consulting Services (Pty) Ltd
Amabubesi Financial Services Group (Pty) Ltd
Amabubesi Financial Services Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Amabubesi Health Care (Pty) Ltd
Amabubesi Health Services (Pty) Ltd
Amabubesi Investments (Pty) Ltd
Amabubesi Property Holdings (Pty) Ltd
Bulawayo Electrical Supplies (Pty) Ltd
Clorpique 149 (Pty) Ltd
Corridor Infrastructure Development Holdings (Pty) Ltd
CSC (Pty) Ltd
Dartingo Trading 161 (Pty) Ltd
Liberty Group Limited
Liberty Holdings Limited
Mtha-We-Mpumelelo Investments (Pty) Ltd
Right to Care
Right to Care Health Services
RZT Zelpy 4972 (Pty) Ltd
STS Trust
Utafutaji Trading 36 (Pty) Ltd
Willis South Africa (Pty) Ltd



Board of Directors Other boards or trusts

Ms NR Ntshingila Directorship/Trusteeship:
Kantar South Africa (Pty) Ltd
Ntinta Investment
Ogilvy & Mather
Ogilvy South Africa

Mr IM Sharma Directorship/Trusteeship:
GMT Concepts 
Issar Investment Holdings
Issar Capital 
Nulane Investments 204

Mr A Singh Directorship/Trusteeship:
Comazar (Pty) Ltd
Crosskeys Security Services (Pty) Ltd
Owner-Driver Management (Pty) Ltd
Protekon (Pty) Ltd
Freight Logistics International
Transhold Properties (Pty) Ltd
Transnet Retirement Fund

Mr IB Skosana Chairmanship:
Kapela Investments Holdings (Pty)Ltd 
Kapela Holdings (Pty)Ltd
Directorship/Trusteeship:
ATC South Africa Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd
BDO Risk Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd
BDO South Africa Advisory Services (Pty) Ltd
CQS Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd
CQS Performance Solutions (Pty) Ltd
CQS Technology Holdings (Pty) Ltd
FDB Eiendomsbeleggings cc
Leaf International Communication (Pty) Ltd
Ntumi Telecommunications CC
Old Mutual Life Assurance Company (South Africa) Ltd
Old Mutual Life Holdings (South Africa) Ltd
Pelta (Pty) Ltd
University of Pretoria
XON Systems (Pty) Ltd

Ms E Tshabalala Chairmanship:
Port Shepstone Harbour Development Company 
Directorship/Trusteeship:
African Academy for CADD training 
Moral Regeneration Movement
Presidential Advisory Council on BEE 

Ms DLJ Tshepe Directorship/Trusteeship:
Cheadle Thompson & Haysom Inc 
Cheadle Thompson & Haysom Legal Administration Trust 
Boardroom Alliance (Pty) Ltd 
Boardroom Alliance Black Equity Trust
National Children’s Rights Committee



Corporate governance (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Board induction and information

The Group Company Secretary is tasked with assisting the Board with the induction of new non-executive 
directors and directors’ orientation.  During induction, directors receive copies of prior Board papers and the 
most recent Corporate Plan which articulates the strategy. The Board performs site visits to the Operating 
divisions and meets with executives, if deemed necessary.

The Company is committed to the continued development of directors so that they may build on their expertise 
and cultivate  a deeper understanding of the business and its markets. Non-executive directors undergo annual 
training, either individually or as a group, to effectively discharge their duties. 

A formal induction programme introduces non-executive directors to the Company’s business environment, 
risk management procedures, regulatory environment strategy, governance framework, sustainability issues 
and fiduciary duties as contained in the PFMA and the Companies Act. Non-executive directors are regularly 
kept abreast of relevant Company matters and regulatory developments. The Company conducted two Board 
induction sessions for newly appointed non-executive directors on 25 October 2011 and 1 February 2012, 
respectively. Further Committee induction sessions were scheduled for the respective Committees.

When the Board and Committee meetings are convened at different operating sites, non-executive directors 
have an opportunity to engage more actively with personnel from the Operating divisions/Specialist Units.

Concise management reports are provided to the Board as pre-reading material prior to meetings. 

Succession planning

To further capacitate the Board, the Shareholder Representative appointed two independent non-executive 

specialist. There are continuous engagements with the DPE on the Company’s needs and requirements as far  
as the Board matters are concerned.

Performance evaluation of Board and Committees

The Board, through an independent service provider, conducted an annual Board Evaluation exercise. The Board 
Evaluation Report for 2011 was presented to the Board on 10 and 24 June 2011, respectively. While there was 
general agreement with the findings, the Board was of the view that it was too early in the tenure of the Board, 
in its current composition, to introduce a board evaluation exercise. Boards normally take up to 18 months to 
mature, and the current board evaluation exercise was performed five months into its tenure. The Chairman 
convened one-on-one sessions with the Board members and filtered the contents of the report, and on  
31 August 2011, a Board workshop was convened to address some of the findings from the Board Evaluation 
Report.



Board Committees

In accordance with the established principles of delegation of authority, the Board has delegated specific duties 
to Board Committees, which are responsible for assisting the Board in discharging its responsibilities and 
providing in-depth knowledge in specific areas. Each Committee acts within the ambit of clearly defined terms 
of reference approved by the Board. These mandates are periodically reviewed and updated to address the 
recommendations of King III and the requirements of the Companies Act.

The Board has six Committees to assist it in discharging its role and responsibilities, namely:

Appropriate Committee structures have been established in line with legislative requirements and business 
imperatives. These Committees continue to operate appropriately and assist the Company with comprehensive 
control improvement and sound governance.

Remuneration
Remuneration for non-executive directors is approved in advance by the Shareholder Representative and 
confirmed annually at the annual general meeting.

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee receives independent remuneration guidance regarding 
the appropriate remuneration for non-executive directors. During the year, a benchmark study was performed 
for non-executive directors’ remuneration. The study concluded that the Board compensation is comparable to 
the benchmarks. It was, therefore, recommended that fees would not be increased in 2012. The matter will be 
considered once again when the Company is in receipt of the Masekela Commission Report.

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee recommends annual remuneration for both executive 
and non-executive directors and considers associated performance measures and benefits when assessing 
remuneration. Refer to the Report of the Directors as set out on page 32 for further information.

Responsibilities of the Board
The responsibilities of the Board as well as the key resolutions and approvals taken during the year are set  
out overleaf.
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Overview of responsibilities Key resolutions and approvals

The roles and responsibilities of the Board include:
Providing effective leadership based on an ethical 
foundation.
Ensuring the Company is and is viewed as a responsible 
corporate citizen.
Ensuring that the Group’s ethics are managed effectively.
Reporting on the effectiveness of the Company’s system  
of internal controls.
Ensuring the Company complies with applicable laws,  
rules, codes and standards.
Being responsible for the governance of risk and 
information technology.
Ensuring that there is an effective risk-based  
internal audit.
Ensuring the integrity of the Group’s integrated report.

Group Chief Executive’s performance contract for the  
2012 year.
Transnet’s key risks.
Group Risk Appetite.
Freight Rail: Treatment of infrastructure-copex and 
maintenance copex.
2012/13 Corporate Plan including the Market Demand 
Strategy.
2012/13 Shareholder’s Compact.
Vision and mission statements.
PFMA reportable items.
Concessioning of the Branch Lines.
Fleet management contract.
Africa conceptualisation strategy.
Acquisition of the former DIA site. 
Acquisition of a tug and the tug fleet sourcing strategy.
Proposed transparent capacity allocation process for iron 
ore and manganese.
Fuel sourcing strategy.
Delegation of Authority Framework.
Ngqura Container Terminal from a two-berth super 
structure to a three-berth super structure terminal.
Amendments to the Transnet Retirement Fund rules.
Enhanced pensioner benefits for the Transnet Second 
Defined Benefit Funds and the Transnet Pension Fund.



Schedule of attendance at Board of Directors’ meetings from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

The Company’s corporate calendar is approved by the Board. However, there are certain instances when  
’special meetings’ are convened for either the Board or its Committees. These ’special meetings’ are normally 
convened when unforeseen circumstances arise. The table below details the Board’s schedule of attendance 
from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012.

Date

Director 20/4 10/6
(SM) 

24/6 31/8 24/10 24/11
(SM) 

31/1 15/2

Mr ME Mkwanazi (Chairman) � � � � � � � �

Mr B Molefe � � � � � � � �

Mr NK Choubey# – – – � � � � A
Mr MA Fanucchi � � � � � � � �

– – – � � � � �

Mr HD Gazendam � � � � � � � �

Ms NBP Gcaba† � A† A† � � A � �

Mr MP Malungani* � � � � � � A �

Mr BD Mkhwanazi � � � � � � � �

Ms T Mnyaka � � � � � � � �

Ms N Moola† A � A† � � � � �

Mr MP Moyo � � � � � � � �

Ms NR Ntshingila ‡ ‡ � � � � � �

Mr IM Sharma � � � � � � A �

Mr A Singh � � � � � � � �

Mr IB Skosana � � � � � � � A
Ms E Tshabalala � � � � � � � �

Ms DLJ Tshepe � � � � � A � A

�  Present.
A  Apologies.
‡ Apologies – medical leave.
#  Appointed to the Board on 24 June 2011.
†  Maternity leave.
SM  Special meeting.
* Resigned from the Board with effect from 1 April 2012.
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Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee
This Committee had to convene a number of ‘special meetings’ to attend to, amongst others, the investigation of 
the Public Protector Complaint lodged with the Chairman in December 2010 and the appointment of a service 
provider to offer services for the Board Evaluation exercise.

Schedule of attendance at the meetings from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Date

Directors 11/4 9/6
(SM) 

23/6 11/8
(SM) 

1/11 24/11
(SM) 

9/12
(SM) 

29/1 7/2
(SM) 

23/3

Mr ME Mkwanazi (Chairman) � � � � � � � � A �

Mr NK Choubey†2 – – – – – – A � A �
1 – – – – � � � � � �

Mr B Molefe# A � � � – – – – – –
Ms T Mnyaka � � � � � � � � � �

Mr IM Sharma � A � � A � A A � A
Ms DLJ Tshepe � � � � � � � � A �

Mr IB Skosana# � A � � – – – – – –

�  Present.
A  Apology.
#  Retired from the Committee with effect from 31 August 2011.
† Appointed to the Committee with effect from: 
 1 31 August 2011.
 2  24 November 2011.
SM  Special meeting.

Audit Committee
This Committee had to convene a number of ‘special meetings’ to attend to, amongst others, the appointment of 
a service provider to offer external audit services to the Company.

Schedule of attendance at meetings from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Date

Directors 1/6 12/8
(SM) 

29/8
(SM) 

3/10 19/10
(SM) 

4/11
(SM)

 8/11 6/2
Mr MP Moyo (Chairman) � � � � � � � �

Mr MA Fanucchi � � � � � � � A
– – – � � � � �

Ms T Mnyaka � � � � � � � �

Mr IB Skosana A � � � � � � A
Ms E Tshabalala# � � � – – – – –
� Present. 
A Apologies. 
#  Retired from the Committee with effect from 31 August 2011. 
† Appointed to the Committee with effect from 31 August 2011. 
SM  Special meeting.



Human Resources and Remuneration Committee
This Committee had to convene a number of ‘special meetings’ to attend to, amongst others, the appointment of 
the Chief Financial Officer and the wage negotiations.

Schedule of attendance at meetings from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Date

Directors 11/4
(SM) 

20/4 7/6 1/11
(SM)

22/11 6/2

Ms NR Ntshingila (Chairman) � � � � � �

Mr HD Gazendam � � � A � �

Ms NBP Gcaba � � A† � � A
Mr MP Malungani � � � � � �

Mr IB Skosana � � � A � �

�  Present. 
A  Apology. 
†  Maternity leave. 
SM  Special meeting.

Board Risk Committee
Schedule of attendance at meetings from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Date

Directors 11/4 9/6 15/8 23/11 7/2
(SM) 

15/2

Ms T Mnyaka (Chairman) � � � � � �

Mr MP Malungani � � A � � �

Mr BD Mkhwanazi A � � A � �

Ms N Moola A† A† A† � � �

Mr MP Moyo � � � � � �

� Present. 
A  Apologies. 
† Maternity leave. 
SM  Special meeting.



Corporate governance (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Social and Ethics Committee
Schedule of attendance at the meetings from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Date

Directors 7/6 23/8 23/11 29/3

Ms NBP Gcaba (Chairman) A† � � �

Mr MA Fannuchi � � A �

Mr HD Gazendam � � � �

Ms N Moola A† A† � �

Ms E Tshabalala � � � �

�  Present.
A Apologies.
† Maternity leave.

Board Acquisitions and Disposals Committee
This Committee had to convene a number of ’special meetings’ to attend to, amongst others, the introduction  
of the MDS and the revision of the Procurement Policy Framework.

Schedule of attendance at the meetings from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Date

Directors 31/5 3/8
(SM) 

16/9 4/10
(SM) 

1/11 26/1
(SM) 

31/1 29/2 28/3

Mr BD Mkhwanazi (Chairman) � � � � � � � � �

Mr ME Mkwanazi � � � � � � � � �

Mr B Molefe# � � – – – – – – –
Mr IM Sharma � � � � A � A � A
Mr A Singh# � � – – – – – – –
Ms E Tshabalala � � � � � � � � A
Ms DLJ Tshepe � � � � � � � A �

�  Present.
A  Apologies.
#  Retired from the Committee with effect from 31 August 2011.
SM  Special meetings.



Delegation of Authority
A revised Delegation of Authority Framework was approved during the year. The Board has delegated to the 
Group Chief Executive, who in turn delegates to the Group Executive Committee and other authorities. The 
Group Chief Executive strives to achieve financial and operating goals and objectives and ensure that the day-
to-day business is properly managed within the approved Delegation of Authority Framework. The Delegation 
of Authority Framework records the nature and extent of the authorities delegated by the Board to the Group 
Chief Executive and subsequently to the Group Executive Committee members and other authorities, in order to 
implement certain actions on behalf of the Company.

The Delegation of Authority Framework applies to all employees of the Company, including its Operating 
divisions and Specialist Units. It does not apply to any of the Company’s subsidiaries. The Boards of the 
subsidiaries will prepare the requisite ‘delegations of authority’ for those subsidiaries. 

Processes have been implemented to ensure that the exercising of the ‘delegation of authority’ shall not be in 
conflict with the following:

issue a guarantee, indemnity or security, or enter into any other transaction that binds or may bind the 
Company to any future financial commitment in terms of section 66 of the PFMA.

Matters reserved for Board decision
Whilst the management of the Company is delegated to the Group Chief Executive by the Board of Directors 
through a detailed documented delegations process, the following matters, amongst others, are expressly 
reserved for decision-making by the Board:

Financial



Corporate governance (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Statutory and administrative

Regulatory

 
the Shareholder.

Human resources

 
amendment to such rules as recommended by the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee. 



Group Executive Committee

Governance structure

Delegation of Authority

Extended Executive and Senior Management

* Chairperson of the respective Committees
# Acting

GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Mr B Molefe

Public Policy 
and Regulation 
Committee

Finance
Committee

Capital
Investment
Committee

NMPP Governance 
Steering 
Committee

Risk
Management
Committee

Human
Resources
Committee

Business 
Information 
Management 
Committee

Mr KC Phihlela* Mr A Singh*# Mr B Molefe* Mr B Molefe* Ms V Dunjwa* Ms EAN Sishi* Mr A Singh*#

DIVISIONAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Port Terminals

Mr SI Gama Mr R Vallihu Mr T Morwe Mr KXT Socikwa

PipelinesNational Ports  
Authority

Rail  
Engineering

Freight Rail

Mr CA Möller

Responsibilities of the Group Executive Committee

Overview of responsibilities Key resolutions

To provide strategic direction to the business, and to 
provide sufficient direction to the operations to ensure the 
strategy is successfully implemented. 
Group Executive Committee provides oversight for financial 
and operational risk management, including EIMS risks, 
across the Group. 

 Migration of the technical fleet planning assurance/
inspectorate and in-service functions from Rail Engineering 
to Freight Rail.
Long service awards and long service policy costing 
proposals.
Contracting guidelines/principles.
Environmental system control framework.
Code of Ethics.
Hurdles rates policy.
EIMS Improvement Programme.
Group Executive Committee mandates.
Pipelines tariff application.
National Ports Authority tariff application.
Electronic Communication Policy.
Transnet taxation policy.
Acquisition of a tug for the Port of Saldanha.
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Schedule of attendance at meetings from 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012

Date

Executive 14/4 25/5 23/6 26/7 24/8 28/9 17/10 18/11 9/12 19/1 27/2

Mr B Molefe (Chairman) A � � � � � A � � � �

Ms CV Dunjwa � � � � � � � � � � �

Mr SI Gama � � � � � � � � � A �

Mr M Gregg-Macdonald � � � � � � � � � � �

Mr CA Möller � � � � � � � � � � �

Ms MA Moses � � � � � � � � � A �

Mr T Morwe � A � � � A A � � � �

Mr KC Phihlela � � � A � � � � � � �

Mr A Singh � � � � � � � � � � �

Ms EAN Sishi# – – – – – – – – – � �

Mr KBX Socikwa � � � � � A � � � � �

Ms Z Stephen* � � � � � � � � � � –
Mr R Vallihu � � A � A � � � � � �

Mr R Wolfenden � � � � � � � A � � �

� Present.
A Apologies.
# Appointed to the Committee with effect from 1 January 2012.
* Resigned from the Company with effect from 1 April 2012.

Information and communication technology governance

The Business Information Management Committee (BIMCO) was formed to provide oversight of ICT 
implementation and monitoring given the inherent risks in information technology systems. BIMCO meets 
monthly to review technology plans developed for the Company as well as the use of information systems and 
infrastructure. BIMCO is a Committee of the Group Executive Committee and is chaired by the Acting Chief 
Financial Officer.

Appointments and resignations

The only Group executive member currently in an acting position is the Chief Financial Officer. The Corporate 
Governance and Nominations Committee is tasked with managing the process of selecting the Chief Financial 
Officer in accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (previously Transnet’s Memorandum 
and Articles of Association). The matter will be concluded in due course.

The following executive appointments and resignations came into effect from 1 April 2011:



Abbreviations and acronyms

$/R USD/ZAR

AFD  Agence Française de Development – French 
Development Bank

AfDB African Development Bank

Aids Acquired immune deficiency syndrome

AUS Australian dollar

bp basis point

CGT capital gains taxation

COPEX capitalised operating expenditure

DCT Durban Container Terminal

DEA  Department of Environmental Affairs

DIFR disabling injury frequency rate

DMTN Domestic Medium-Term Note

DOT Department of Transport

DPE Department of Public Enterprises

EBIT earnings before interest and taxation

EBITDA  earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation 
and amortisation

ECA Export Credit Agency

EIMS Enterprise Information Management Services

FINCO Group Finance Committee

GBP Pound Sterling

GCH gross crane moves per hour

GMTN Global Medium-Term Note

HR human resources

IAS International Accounting Standards

IASB International Accounting Standards Board

ICM Act  Integrated Coastal Management Act,  
No 24 of 2008

IFRIC  International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee

IFRS  International Financial Reporting Standards

JBIC Japan Bank for International Cooperation

King III  King III Report on Governance for  
South Africa – 2009

LTI long-term incentive scheme

MDS Market Demand Strategy

ml/km million litres per kilometre

mt million tons

Nersa National energy regulator of South Africa

NGP New Growth Path

Ports Act National Ports Act, No 12 of 2005

PRASA Passenger Rail Agency of South Africa

PSP Private Sector Participation

RFD Reasons for decision

ROTA return on total average assets

SADC Southern African Development Community

SATS South African Transport Services

SOC state-owned company

STAT ship turnaround time

STI short-term incentive scheme

STS ship-to-shore

TEU twenty-foot equivalent unit

TSDBF Transnet Second Defined Benefit Fund

TTPF Transport Pension Fund: Transnet Sub-Fund

USA United States of America

USD US Dollar

WACC weighted average cost of capital

WACD weighted average cost of debt

ZAR South African Rand



Glossary of terms

Asset turnover (times)

Revenue divided by total assets (total assets 
excluding capital work-in-progress).

Average total assets

Total assets, where ‘average’ is equal to the total 
assets at the beginning of the reporting period 
plus total assets at the end of the reporting period, 
divided by two.

Cash interest cover (times)

Cash generated from operations after working 
capital changes, divided by net finance costs (net 
finance costs includes finance costs, finance income 
and capitalised borrowing costs from the cash flow 
statement).

Debt

Interest-bearing borrowings (short- and long-term), 
post-retirement benefit obligations, derivative 
financial liabilities plus overdraft, less short-term 
investments and net cash and cash equivalents.

EBITDA

Profit/(loss) from operations before depreciation, 
amortisation, profit on sale of interest in businesses, 
impairment of assets, dividend received, post-
retirement benefit obligation income/(costs), fair 
value adjustments, (loss)/income from associates 
and net finance costs.

EBITDA margin 

Profit/(loss) from operations before depreciation, 
amortisation, profit on sale of interest in businesses, 
impairment of assets, dividend received, post-
retirement benefit obligation income/(costs), fair 
value adjustments, (loss)/income from associates 
and net finance costs expressed as a percentage of 
revenue.

Equity

Issued capital, reserves and minority interests.

Debt (for gearing calculation)

Long-term borrowings, short-term borrowings, 
employee benefits, derivative financial liabilities plus 
overdraft less other short-term investments, less 
derivative financial assets and less cash and cash 
equivalents.

Gearing

Debt expressed as a % of the sum of debt and 
Shareholder’s equity.

Headline earnings

As defined in Circular 3/2009, issued by the 
South African Institute of Chartered Accountants, 
separates from earnings all items of a capital 
nature. It is not necessarily a measure of sustainable 
earnings.

Operating profit

Profit or loss from operations after depreciation and 
amortisation but before profit on sale of interest in 
businesses, impairment of assets, dividends received, 
post-retirement benefit obligation income/(costs), 
fair value adjustments, (loss)/income from associates 
and net finance costs.

Operating profit margin

Operating profit expressed as a percentage of 
revenue.

Profit/(loss)

Profit or loss after taxation and minority interests.

Return on average total assets 

Operating profit expressed as a percentage of 
average total assets (average total assets exclude 
capital work-in-progress).

Return on net assets

Profit before taxation expressed as a percentage of 
net assets.

Shareholder value add

EBITA less the cost of capital. Cost of capital is the 
average total assets, excluding capital work-in-
progress, multiplied by WACC.

Total assets

Non-current and current assets.

Total debt

Non-current and current liabilities.

Total debt-to-equity ratio

Total debt expressed as a ratio to equity.



Executive Directors

B Molefe (Group Chief Executive), A Singh (Acting Chief Financial Officer).

Non-executive Directors

ME Mkwanazi (Chairman), NK Choubey#, MA Fanucchi, Y Forbes, HD Gazendam, NBP Gcaba, 
BD Mkhwanazi, T Mnyaka, N Moola, MP Moyo, NR Ntshingila, IM Sharma, IB Skosana,  
E Tshabalala, DLJ Tshepe.

# Indian.

Mr MP Malungani resigned from the Board of Directors with effect from 1 April 2012.

Group Company Secretary

Ms ANC Ceba
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150 Commissioner Street, Johannesburg, 2001.

PO Box 72501, Parkview, 2122, South Africa.

Auditors

Deloitte & Touche, Deloitte Place, The Woodlands Office Park, Woodlands Drive, Sandton.

Transnet SOC Ltd

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa.

Registration number 1990/000900/30.

www.transnet.net

Corporate information




